UC Davis UC Davis Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Title

Exploring Alternative Methods for Extracting Bioactive Phenolics from Winemaking Byproducts

Permalink https://escholarship.org/uc/item/0ts130mc

Author Pinton, Sophia

Publication Date 2022

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

Exploring Alternative Methods for Extracting Bioactive Phenolics from Winemaking Byproducts

By

SOPHIA PINTON THESIS

Submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

in

Food Science and Technology

in the

OFFICE OF GRADUATE STUDIES

of the

UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA

DAVIS

Approved:

Juliana Leite Nobrega de Moura Bell, Chair

Daniela Barile

Selina Wang

Committee in Charge

Abstract

Wine grape pomace, composed of skins, seeds, stems, and pulp, is the major byproduct of the winemaking industry. While this byproduct can be diverted towards other agricultural uses, such as compost or animal feed, the environmental burden and poor animal digestibility of the material hinders the sustainability and effectiveness of these low-value mitigation strategies. Since wine grape pomace contains valuable bioactive compounds, especially phenolics, there remains an opportunity to valorize this material to benefit human health with the development of innovative food, beverage, cosmetic, and supplement applications. The extraction of wine grape pomace phenolics typically relies on the use of hazardous solvents like ethanol or methanol, which requires subsequent downstream processing steps for use in food-grade products. To present an eco-friendly alternative, this thesis focuses on the design of green extraction methods that improve phenolic extractability and support the *in vitro* antioxidant activity of grape pomace extracts while using water as the only solvent under optimized extraction conditions.

In Chapter 1, an overview of the recent advances and research gaps in green extraction technologies is discussed with a focus on the large-scale feasibility of these methods to support the potential for commercial adoption. In addition, the compositions of various winemaking byproduct fractions (pomace, leaves, lees, vinasse, and wastewater) are highlighted to showcase the diversity of components available for the development of value-added products.

In Chapter 2, the aqueous extraction process (AEP) is explored as an environmentally-friendly strategy for enabling the release of phenolics from the grape cell-matrix without the use of conventional solvents. A series of experiments, using a central composite rotatable design paired

ii

with a kinetic study, was used to identify the concurrent effects of pH, solids-to-liquid ratio, temperature, and time on the total phenolic content (TPC) of the grape pomace extracts. To reduce water consumption without compromising phenolic extractability, a two-stage countercurrent method was employed, which recirculates the extraction processing fractions and increases the concentration gradient to drive phenolic diffusion. This technique provides an economically-viable and environmentally-friendly alternative to conventional solvent extraction methods.

The findings from Chapter 2 (i.e., the role of alkaline conditions in phenolic extraction) guided the design of enzyme- and microwave-assisted extractions as outlined in Chapter 3. Enzyme specificity and alkaline conditions enable the degradation of ester- and ether-linkages between phenolics, structural proteins, and cell-wall carbohydrates within the grape cell-matrix, while microwave radiation causes rapid temperature and pressure changes that can rupture the cell. Multiple stepwise screening experiments were performed to select the optimal conditions for maximizing TPC while reducing total enzyme concentration, water usage, and extraction time. The structural changes to the grape cell-matrix, as illustrated by scanning electron microscopy, represent the successful cellular disintegration caused by the synergistic effects of enzymatic hydrolysis, microwave heating, and intracellular pressure on promoting phenolic extractability.

The series of studies herein provides new approaches to extracting phenolics from wine grape pomace. Notably, the starting material used in these studies represents a non-conventional winemaking process using red wine grapes (*Vitis vinifera* L. cv. Cabernet Sauvignon) to produce white wine. The use of red wine grape pomace collected prior to fermentation ultimately affected the phenolic composition of the grape pomace extracts, as detailed in Chapters 2 and 3 with the abundance of flavonol glycosides, which represent high residual sugars in the matrix. This finding emphasizes the influence of upstream winemaking conditions on the downstream phenolic profiles and potential biological properties of the extracts. In addition, this study offers support for the use of alkaline treatments for the extraction of phenolics from wine grape pomace, which is not yet widely reported due to the use of acidic conditions in conventional ethanol and methanol extractions. These insights, along with further work on scaling-up the microwave and enzyme-assisted extraction process, illuminate the possibilities for green extraction methods to revitalize agricultural byproducts while boosting human health, supporting a circular economy, and promoting environmental sustainability.

Acknowledgements

I am immensely grateful for the guidance and support from my family, friends, and mentors during this journey in grad school. First: Thank you to my parents, Ronda and Phil, for their unconditional love and confidence in "girl power". Thank you to my brother and sister-in-law, Luke and Erika, for being constant sources of humor and genuine curiosity (or confusion) about what I've been doing in California for the last few years. I am so fortunate to receive such love, support, and generosity from my grandparents. Thank you Mommom for your enormous heart, Poppop for your check-in calls, Nonna for your wit and wisdom, and Nonno for everything that was said in your expressions. Thank you to my aunts, uncles, and cousins for celebrating with me each time we reunited. To my cohort: I am so proud of you all for battling through grad school during the pandemic, the wildfires, and everything else we experienced together since 2019. Thank you all for being there for me when I needed to relax and have fun. Everyone I met in Davis, from my housemates to my hiking buddies, is truly one-of-a-kind, and I thank you for making those lifelong memories with me. To my longtime friends from home, and especially to my boyfriend Jimmy, thank you for putting up with me during my hectic rants and for always reminding me to keep my chin up. Finally, I am so thankful for my mentors at UC Davis. I could not have succeeded without the guidance, knowledge, positivity, and friendship from Fernanda Furlan Gonçalves Dias. Thank you to my fellow labmates, too, for their companionship, advice, and humor every day in lab. I am so appreciative of my committee members, Daniela Barile and Selina Wang, for dedicating their time to asking thoughtful questions about my research during this final sprint. Lastly, a massive thank you to my advisor and mentor Juliana de Moura Bell for her encouragement, guidance, creative mind, and mutual respect throughout this program, which has shaped me into a more curious and passionate scientist.

V

Table of Contents

Abstract	ii
Acknowledgements	v
Research Communication	ix
Glossary	X
Chapter 1: Green extraction technologies for the valorization of polyphenols from grape pomace: Recent advances and next steps for validating large-scale feasibilit	. wine y 1
1.1. Introduction	1
1.2. Winemaking byproduct fractions and their compositions	5
1.2.1. Grape pomace or marc: a combination of skins, seeds, stems, and pulp	5
1.2.2. Leaves	
1.2.3. Lees	9
1.2.4. Vinasse	9
1.2.5. Wastewater	
1.3. Free, esterified, and bound forms of polyphenols in the grape cell matrix	
1.4. Techniques for extracting polyphenols from wine grape pomace	
1.4.1. Conventional solvent methods for phenolic extraction	
1.4.2. Alternative green extraction methods	
1.4.2.1 Enzyme-extraction process (EAE)	17
1.4.2.3. Integrated green extraction methods	
1.5. Scaling up green extraction of grape pomace phenolics to produce value-ad	ded
1.6. Conclusions	
1.7. Acknowledgments	
1.8. References	
Chapter 2: Revitalizing unfermented Cabernet Sauvignon pomace using an eco-fr two-stage countercurrent process: Role of pH on extractability of bioactive pheno	iendly, lics 37
Graphical abstract	
Abstract	
Highlights	
Keywords	
2.1. Introduction	

2.2. Materials and methods	42
2.2.1. Chemicals and reagents	42
2.2.2. Raw material	43
2.2.3. Initial evaluation of the effects of the extraction pH on the aqueous extraction p	rocess
(AEP) of grape pomace	44
2.2.4. Effect of conventional solvent extraction on TPC	44
2.2.5. Understanding the simultaneous effect of extraction parameters in the single-sta	ge
AEP of grape pomace	45
2.2.6. Two-stage countercurrent AEP of grape pomace	46
2.2.7. Chemical analysis of extracts	48
2.2.7.1. Total phenolic content (TPC)	48
2.2.7.2. ABTS and ORAC assays for antioxidant capacity of the extracts	49
2.2.7.3. Untargeted phenolic profiling of the grape pomace extracts	50
2.2.8. Statistical analysis	51
2.3. Results and discussion	51
2.3.1. Effect of extraction pH on TPC of AEP grape pomace extracts	51
2.3.2. Effect of ethanol concentration on TPC of conventional solvent extracts	53
2.3.3. Simultaneous effect of extraction parameters on TPC of single-stage AEP	54
2.3.4. Selecting the SLR for the development of the multistage countercurrent AEP	59
2.3.5. Two-stage countercurrent extraction of phenolics from grape pomace	60
2.3.6. Antioxidant activity of single-stage and two-stage countercurrent AEP grape po	mace
extracts	62
2.3.7. Phenolic composition of Cabernet Sauvignon grape pomace extracts	63
2.4. Conclusions	68
2.5. Acknowledgments	69
2.6. Supplementary Materials	70
2.7. References	75
Chapter 3: Synergistic effects of proteolysis and microwave-assisted extraction on the	•
recovery of bioactive phenolics from unfermented Cabernet Sauvignon pomace	81
	01
Graphical abstract	81
Abstract	81
Highlights	82
Keywords	82
3.1. Introduction	83
3.2. Materials and Methods	87
3.2.1. Chemicals and reagents	87
3.2.2. Grape pomace preparation and composition	87

3.2.3. Extraction methods	88
3.2.3.1. Screening of enzyme type and combination for enzyme-assisted extraction ((EAE)
	88
3.2.3.2. Selection of enzyme-assisted extraction (EAE) parameters	90
3.2.3.3. Selection of microwave-assisted extraction (MAE) parameters	91
3.2.3.4. Integrated microwave enzyme-assisted extraction (MEAE)	93
3.2.3.5. Conventional and microwave-assisted solvent extractions using ethanol	94
3.2.4. Analysis of grape pomace extracts from EAE, MAE, and MEAE	94
3.2.5. Statistical analysis	97
3.3. Results and Discussion	97
3.3.1. Effect of different enzymes and their combinations on phenolic extractability fro	om
grape pomace	97
3.3.2. Effect of reaction time, SLR, and pH on the phenolic extractability of alkaline	
protease-assisted extraction	102
3.3.3. Effect of microwave-assisted extraction parameters on phenolic extraction	104
3.3.4. Integrated microwave enzyme-assisted extraction (MEAE)	108
3.3.5. Antioxidant activities of grape pomace extracts	112
3.3.6. Phenolic profiling by untargeted metabolomics approach	114
3.3.7. Effects of extraction treatments on the microstructure of grape cell matrix	117
3.4. Conclusion	120
3.5. Acknowledgements	122
3.6. Supplementary Materials	123
3.7. References	125

Research Communication

Oral Presentation

Pinton, S. (2021) Green extraction techniques for revitalizing wine grape pomace. UC Davis Department of Food Science and Technology, 7th Annual Research Symposium. December 9, 2021. Davis, CA, USA.

Glossary

AAPH: 2,2'-Azobis(2-methylpropionamidine) dihydrochloride **ABTS:** 2,2'-Azino-bis(3-ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulfonic acid) **AEP:** Aqueous extraction process BOD: Biological oxygen demand CCRD: Central composite rotatable design COD: Chemical oxygen demand **CSE:** Conventional solvent extraction **EAE:** Enzyme-assisted extraction GAE: Gallic acid equivalent HCl: Hydrochloric acid **ORAC:** Oxygen radical absorbance capacity MAE: Microwave-assisted extraction MEAE: Microwave enzyme-assisted extraction **MSE:** Microwave solvent extraction NaOH: Sodium hydroxide SLR: Solids-to-liquid ratio **TE**: Trolox equivalent **TPC:** Total phenolic content

<u>Chapter 1</u>: Green extraction technologies for the valorization of polyphenols from wine grape pomace: Recent advances and next steps for validating large-scale feasibility

1.1. Introduction

The valorization of agricultural byproducts plays a critical role in reducing the environmental impact of global food production. To manage the escalating climate crisis, the industrial production system must cooperate to design timely, affordable, and effective solutions for the agri-food supply chain by designing processes that limit water, energy, and land inputs while preventing, reducing, or reusing waste streams. In general, since all steps of the food supply chain have the potential for producing loss or waste, there is a need to establish mitigation strategies at all levels of production, with all varieties of crops, to transition to a more circular system where byproduct utilization is enhanced.

In 2020, the global vineyard surface area was estimated at 18 million acres with approximately 75% of the land dedicated to growing wine grapes (OIV, 2021), making this one of the world's most cultivated specialty crops. During grape processing for the production of wine, grape pomace is produced as a byproduct composed of seeds, skins, stems, and pulp remaining after the grape crush. Also known as marc, grape pomace residues represent approximately 20–30% of the total mass of pressed grapes (Dwyer et al., 2014). While this byproduct is typically diverted towards other agricultural uses such as compost, animal feed, or fertilizer, the high chemical oxygen demand (COD) of grape pomace presents environmental toxicity risks, and its poor digestibility limits the effectiveness of this waste stream as livestock feed. In some cases, grape pomace may even be sent to landfills or incinerated when the supply

outweighs the demand for these low-value diversion strategies, which further exacerbates the associated issues of air, land, and ground water pollution (Christ & Burritt, 2013).

Therefore, the underutilization of nutrients and valuable compounds from winemaking waste streams provides a multitude of opportunities for re-envisioning these byproducts for value-added applications. Winemaking waste streams can be valorized individually for niche applications requiring isolated components, such as grapeseed oil, or the material can be upcycled as a combination of multiple fractions to utilize as much of the byproduct as possible through the biorefinery process. A techno-economic analysis by Jin et al. (2021) determined that a full biorefinery scenario (i.e., production of grape seed oil, polyphenols, and biochar) provided an economically viable solution for addressing grape pomace with a 34.3% rate of return over a payback period of 2.5 years. Since multiple stable markets already exist for value-added products stemming from agricultural processes (e.g., ingredient markets in food, beverage, cosmetic, supplement, and packaging industries), further exploration of grape pomace valorization is warranted.

Grape pomace is rich in a wide variety of fatty acids, amino acids, and minerals as well as indigestible fiber, oligosaccharides, and phytonutrients, which have been associated with synergistic health benefits for the cardiovascular and gastrointestinal systems due to their antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, and antimicrobial properties (Bordiga et al., 2019; Saura-Calixto, 2011). The specific phytochemical profile of wine grape pomace can vary due to differences in wine grape cultivar, grape growing region and climate, soil type, winery scale, winemaking methods, drying and storage conditions, composition of pomace material (individual or mixed components: skins, seeds, stems, pulp), and extraction methods. For these reasons, it is challenging to directly compare data across studies analyzing grape pomace, but the support for

continued research efforts on sustainable and innovative processing approaches will help to broaden the understanding of the bioactive potential of the feedstock.

Conventional extraction technologies for obtaining valuable bioactive compounds from natural products typically rely on the heavy use of flammable or hazardous solvents that require costly and laborious clean-up operations for the development of food-grade products. To circumvent the human and environmental health concerns associated with toxic solvent use, greener extraction technologies have started to become more widely integrated into downstream processing systems with the growing support from global legislative authorities (United Nations, 2019).

Green extraction technologies that use benign solvents are therefore imperative for ensuring the environmental and economic sustainability of the agri-food chain while promoting substantial yields of phytochemicals, which often provide improved biological or functional properties (Ilyas et al., 2021; Moro et al., 2021; Pedras et al., 2020; Romulo, 2020). Examples of green techniques used to extract valuable compounds from winemaking byproducts include enzyme-assisted extraction, microwave-assisted extraction, ultrasound-assisted extraction, pulsed electric field extraction, pressurized hot water/subcritical water extraction, and supercritical fluid extraction. Each of these methods provides a unique chemical and physical mechanism for promoting the extraction of polyphenolics and other valuable components from the wine grape cell matrix while eliminating the dependence on harsh solvents (Figure 1.1).



Figure 1.1. Pathways for the valorization of wine grape pomace. Winemaking byproducts can be converted into products for traditional agricultural applications or explored as a valuable bioactive feedstock using green extraction methods. Graphics created with BioRender.com, Freepik, and Flaticon.

The main objective of this review is to explore the recent accomplishments in state-ofthe-art technologies for the extraction of phenolics from wine grape pomace. The latest bioprocessing strategies for revitalizing wine grape byproducts are highlighted, and the fundamental need to understand how the structural composition of these byproducts can be altered by the processing conditions is discussed. These insights aim to further guide the development of structure-function based processes for enhancing the extraction of compounds with the desired composition and functional/biological properties. The ample diversity of the many byproducts associated with winemaking will be explored to highlight the diversity of bioactive compounds available for potential food, beverage, biomedical, cosmetic, packaging, and nutraceutical applications. In addition, the various forms of phenolics (free, esterified, and insoluble-bound) will then be discussed to provide a mechanistic understanding of how phenolics are extracted from the grape cell matrix. In this review, conventional solvent extraction methods will be compared to alternative green techniques (specifically enzyme-assisted extraction, microwave-assisted extraction, and the integration of these methods) to illuminate the potential of eco-friendly strategies to replace or complement traditional techniques for phenolic recovery. Recent advances and challenges in scaling these extractions to promote feasible, large-scale commercialization efforts for green extraction of winemaking waste streams will also be discussed.

1.2. Winemaking byproduct fractions and their compositions

Although the largest solid mass fraction of winemaking waste streams comes from the skins, seeds, stems, and pulp (collectively known as pomace or marc), a multitude of other byproducts are generated during processing that should also be considered for their valuable biological and functional properties. For example, leaves are removed during grape harvesting, lees remain after fermentation as a sediment of yeast cells, vinasse is generated as a liquid fraction after the distillation process, and wastewater is produced as an effluent throughout production and cleaning (Gómez-Brandón et al., 2019). Each of these fractions provides an opportunity to recover valuable components that can be further manipulated for its bioactivity through targeted downstream processing and formulation. Continued research on developing cost-effective and eco-friendly methods for managing winery waste streams is needed to expand the portfolio of valuable products associated with these effluents and will ultimately establish feasible, closed-loop industrial systems.

1.2.1. Grape pomace or marc: a combination of skins, seeds, stems, and pulp

It is estimated that a typical winery using 9–13 tons of freshly crushed wine grapes will produce about one ton of grape pomace, which is composed of approximately 50% skins with low amounts of residual pulp, 25% seeds, and 25% stems (Spinei & Oroian, 2021). While grape pomace can contain about 50–70% water (Kyzas et al., 2014), the solid residues provide valuable

compounds including polyphenols, fiber, fatty acids, vitamin C, iron, and pectin (Castro Sousa et al., 2014).

Grape skins contain approximately 5–12% protein, 1–6% fat, and 3–8% ash depending on the variety, climate, and growing conditions of the grapes (Deng et al., 2011). In red grape varieties, anthocyanins like malvidin, cyanidin, petunidin, delphinidin, and peonidin glycosides provide a deep color to finished red wine products. These compounds also provide health benefits including quenching of free radicals and inhibiting oxidation of low-density lipoprotein (LDL) (Yildirim et al., 2005). White wine grapes, like Chardonnay, are reported to contain higher contents of catechin (60 mg/100 g dry matter) and epicatechin (44 mg/100 g dry matter) compared to Merlot grapes (16 and 13 mg/g100 g dry matter, respectively) (Yilmaz & Toledo, 2003). Since white wine grape skins are obtained after pressing and thus separated from fermentation, they also contain higher soluble sugar contents with reports of 55.8% soluble sugars in Muller Thurgau skins and 77.55 in Morio Muscat skins (Deng et al., 2011). Conversely, red wine grape skins from Cabernet Sauvignon, Merlot, and Pinot Noir varieties remain in contact with the juice during fermentation and thus have low soluble sugars (1.34– 1.71%) and high total dietary fiber (51.1–56.3%) (Deng et al., 2011).

Grape seeds compose 3–6% of the total weight of the grape and provide the main source of monomeric tannins in the grape pomace, which are typically associated with bitter and astringent notes in wines. Wine grape seeds are rich in other flavan-3-ols such as catechin (approximately 50% of the total polyphenolic content), epicatechin (26%), epicatechin gallate (9%), and procyanidins B1 and B2 (11%) with lower levels of epigallocatechin and gallic acid (Guendez et al., 2005). Grape seeds are valuable for their radical scavenging activity provided by procyanidin B1, but they are also exploited for their high content of unsaturated fatty acids that

are beneficial for the high smoke-point (268 °C) of grapeseed oil (Alzaa, 2018). Linoleic acid (omega-6), linolenic acid (omega-3), oleic acid, and palmitic acid are most prevalent in grape seeds, providing health benefits towards preventing cardiovascular disease, hypertension, and autoimmune disorders as well as offering wound-healing properties (Gupta et al., 2020). Additionally, grapeseed oil contains vitamin E and phytosterols like stigmasterol and β-sitosterol (Shinagawa et al., 2015). Grape seeds also contain approximately 35% fiber, providing an even richer dietary fiber source than the skins.

Depending on the grape variety, vintage, and maturity, grape stems are composed of 12– 38% cellulose, 10-21% hemicellulose, 13-47% lignin, 5-11% protein, and low amounts of ash, sugars, and organic acids (Blackford et al., 2021). The incorporation of grape stems in the winemaking process depends on the style of wine produced and the desired sensory properties of the finished wine. In white wines, stems sometimes remain attached to the grape to aid in juice extraction, while in red wines, stems are typically removed before maceration and pressing to prevent excessive astringency and "green" notes from the presence of hexanal in the stems (Hashizume & Samuta, 1997). The total polyphenol concentration in stems from red wine grapes ranges between 400 to 22,900 mg GAE/g dry matter and from 348 to 38,400 mg GAE/g dry matter in white wine grape varieties (Blackford et al., 2021). The major phenolic acids in red and white grapes are caftaric, coutaric, and gallic acid with reportedly high contents in Malvasia Fina (Leal et al., 2020) and Cabernet Sauvignon stems (Kosińska-Cagnazzo et al., 2020). Other polyphenols like quercetin-3-O-rutinoside, astilbin, engeletin, catechin, epicatechin, transresveratrol, and ε -viniferin have also been identified in stems, which carry potent antioxidant activities.

Residual grape pulp attached to the grape skins contains low levels of phenolics since the pulp is mainly composed of pectic polysaccharides. In the grape cell wall, the middle lamella layer contains the major fraction of pectic substances in the form of homogalacturonan and rhamnogalacturonan I and II (Gao et al., 2019). Other polysaccharides like arabinogalactoproteins, arabinans, and homorhamnogalacturonans also exist in grape cell walls (Barnavon et al., 2000). Pectin can be recovered from grape pomace using acidic ultrasound-assisted extraction (Minjares-Fuentes et al., 2014) and provides functional properties as gelling and thickening agents in food and beverage, cosmetic, pharmaceutical, and supplement applications.

1.2.2. Leaves

Grape leaves are a byproduct of pruning and harvesting. Traditionally, grape leaves can be preserved in brine and are used in a variety of cuisines, but they also have associated health benefits for the treatment of hypertension, high blood sugar levels, and inflammation. Dani et al. (2010) reported that *Vitis labrusca* (Bordo) grape leaf extracts from both conventional and organic grapevines contained high contents of rutin (45–55 mg/g extract) as well as lower levels of quercetin, catechin, kaempferol, and resveratrol. These extracts were successful in reducing protein and lipid damages induced by hydrogen peroxide to mediate oxidative stress conditions in animal models (Dani et al., 2010). Phenolic compounds that were unique to wine grape leaves compared to the finished wine, grape stems, pulp, and skins include chlorogenic acid hexoside, dihydroxybenzoic acid hexosyl pentoside isomers, and ellagic acid pentoside (Šuković et al., 2020).

1.2.3. Lees

Wine lees is the acidic sediment of yeast cells and other precipitates (e.g., tartaric acid) remaining after the alcoholic fermentation and filtration stages of the winemaking process. This fraction is rich in residual polyphenols like other winemaking fractions, including phenolic acids, flavonols, and anthocyanins, but it also provides unique attributes from mannoproteins (i.e., mannose residues linked to polypeptide chains) and β -glucans from the yeast cell wall (Pérez-Serradilla & de Castro, 2008). Mannoproteins can interact with polyphenols through adsorption, which has been shown to improve color stability and reduce the astringency of wines (Vidal et al., 2004). Wine lees mannoproteins also function as wine stabilizers to prevent protein and tartrate precipitation (Ribeiro et al., 2014).

1.2.4. Vinasse

Vinasse is the acidic effluent remaining after grape pomace has been distilled for the extraction of ethanol and tartaric acid. It is estimated that 1 L of ethanol produced through distillation generates 10–15 times the volume of vinasse (Tena et al., 2020). The biological and chemical oxygen demand (BOD and COD, respectively) of vinasse has measured 10,440 mg/L and 23,304 mg/L with high values of total organic carbon (9710 mg/L) and nitrogen (231 mg/L) (Barbanera et al., 2021). Innovative treatment efforts of winery vinasse include the conversion of the high-moisture waste stream to hydrochar by hydrothermal carbonization, which is a novel process that converts vinasse into a solid coal-like renewable energy source and an enriched aqueous co-product without the need for dewatering unit operations (Barbanera et al., 2021).

1.2.5. Wastewater

Winery wastewater is mainly a byproduct of cleaning operations and therefore primarily contains cleaning agents like caustic solutions, organic residues, and salts. Like vinasse, winery

wastewater has been reported to generate high COD (> 15,000 mg/L on average) due to the presence of suspended solids, organic acids, fatty acids, polyphenols, and low amounts of chemical fertilizers, pesticides, and herbicides that are commonly applied to grapes in the vineyard (Kyzas et al., 2014; Mosse et al., 2011). Inorganic components including moderate concentrations of sodium, potassium, calcium, magnesium copper, zinc, and lead also contribute to the ecological impact of winery effluents. The high COD of this waste stream, therefore, necessitates robust water treatment efforts to reduce the concentration of pollutants in the water system. Standard methods and emerging techniques for recovering chemical components from winery effluents like electrodialysis or ion exchange (Bharathiraja et al., 2020). Recovered components, like sugars and organic matter, from the waste streams have been used as starting materials for biofuels and bio-oils (Ganeshkumar et al., 2018) and as substrates for enzyme production (especially Aspergillus sp.) (Salgado et al., 2016).

1.3. Free, esterified, and bound forms of polyphenols in the grape cell matrix

While numerous valuable components are available for recovery from byproducts produced throughout the entire winemaking process, as outlined in Section 1.2, the pomace fraction is most notable due to the sheer volume produced with each harvest and the potential for phenolic recovery. To better understand the types of methods, and the respective challenges, for extracting phenolics from wine grape pomace, the forms by which phenolics are present in the cell wall must be first elucidated to establish the mechanism of action associated with their recoveries.

Polyphenols are present in free, esterified, and insoluble-bound forms within plant cells (Figure 1.2). Free phenolics are readily solubilized in solvents such as water, ethanol, methanol,

and acetone, and esterified phenolics linked to low-molecular-weight compounds like shortchain fatty acids or soluble sugars are also recoverable by organic solvents (Yu et al., 2019). These soluble phenolics (both free and esterified forms) exist within the plant cell cytoplasm or inside the cell vacuole, which become available for extraction after the cell is ruptured by chemical, enzymatic, or physical degradation. Most reports on polyphenolic contents in natural products target free or readily extractable phenolics with the use of aqueous organic solvents. Examples of free and esterified phenolics that have been identified in wine grape byproducts include isoquercitrin, resveratrol, rutin, ellagic acid, ferulic acid, caftaric acid, kaempferol hexoside, quercetin hexoside, myricetin hexoside, and procyanidin trimers (de Camargo et al., 2014; Spinei & Oroian, 2021).



Figure 1.2. Schematic of soluble free phenolics within a plant cell vacuole and insoluble-bound phenolics within a plant cell wall. Conventional or alternative green extraction methods are used to rupture the plant cell wall for phenolic recovery. Graphics created with BioRender.com.

On the other hand, insoluble-bound phenolics require more intense processing for their extraction from plant cell matrices due to covalent linkages that bind these compounds to structural material and form protein-polyphenol and polysaccharide-polyphenol conjugates. "Non-extractable" or bound phenolics can be chemically linked to cell wall components like cellulose, hemicellulose, lignin, pectin, or soluble proteins (Figure 1.2) through ester and ether linkages, hydrophobic interactions, and hydrogen bonds. Common strategies that can enable the release of insoluble-bound phenolics from the plant cell matrix include acid and alkaline hydrolysis, enzymatic hydrolysis, fermentation, and thermal treatments like roasting, boiling, and extrusion cooking (Shahidi & Yeo, 2016). It is important to consider incorporating these extraction strategies that impart additional pressure, temperature, and/or pH changes in the cell matrix because it is estimated that insoluble-bound phenolics represent a larger portion of the total phenolic profile in plant foods than free or esterified compounds (Arranz et al., 2009). In a previous study, de Camargo et al. (2014) reported that insoluble-bound phenolics composed approximately 80% of Syrah and Tempranillo byproducts while the esterified and soluble phenolics composed only 20% of the profile. In the same study, procyanidin dimer A was found only in the insoluble-bound form in the winemaking byproducts, while substantial contents of procyanidin dimer B, protocatechuic acid, p-coumaric acid, gallic acid, caffeic acid, ellagic acid, catechin, and prodelphinin A and B were also reported in the bound phenolic fraction (de Camargo et al., 2014).

Bound polyphenols provide additional health benefits beyond the commonly associated antioxidant properties due to their unique structure-function characteristics. Since these phenolics are linked to insoluble compounds like cellulose, hemicellulose, structural proteins, and pectin, they reach the colon largely still intact without being absorbed by the small intestine

(Andreasen et al., 2001). In fact, only about 5–10% of ingested phenolics are absorbed in the small intestine while the remaining 90–95% enter the colon. It is evident that designing extraction strategies to recover all three forms of phenolics (free, esterified, and insoluble-bound) in tandem would help address the current knowledge gaps associated with understanding the abundance, diversity, and functionality of grape pomace bioactives.

1.4. Techniques for extracting polyphenols from wine grape pomace

As discussed in previous sections, polyphenols from wine grape pomace have traditionally been extracted using aqueous organic solvents with polar affinities. Although effective, the use of hazardous or flammable solvents in these strategies increases human health and safety risks as well as environmental concerns associated with their disposal. In this section, an overview of both conventional solvent extraction methods and recent advances in green technologies for extracting polyphenols from grape pomace will be discussed. Specifically, the mechanisms of action associated with the extraction of phenolics using alternative strategies such as enzyme-assisted, microwave-assisted, and integrated methods will be discussed.

1.4.1. Conventional solvent methods for phenolic extraction

Solid-liquid extraction of polyphenols from wine grape pomace typically relies on sample fractionation using a range of solvents with varying degrees of polarities. Table 1.1 highlights a variety of solid-liquid extraction methods using both red and white grape materials extracted with a variety of solvents, extraction times (5–1440 min), and temperatures (20–60 °C). Extractions using ethanol, ethyl acetate, butanol, dichloromethane, and n-hexane were used to fractionate Cabernet Sauvignon grape pomace based on the descending polarity of the solvents (de Campos et al., 2008), but this traditional Soxhlet method (the "gold standard" for bioactive extraction from plant material) required 6 h of extraction under continuous reflux. While the

extended period of contact between grape material and solvent should increase the mass transfer of solutes, the extensive extraction time requires excessive volumes of flammable or otherwise hazardous solvents. In another study, Pintać et al. (2018) concluded that 80% methanol is the best solvent for maximizing phenolic extraction efficiency at large scale, regardless of its purity, but suggested using ethyl acetate for increasing polyphenolic richness, acidified 50% methanol for anthocyanin isolation, and acetone for triterpenoid (e.g., ursolic acid) extraction. However, there is a risk of thermal degradation of phenolics when using these solvents at temperatures at their boiling points (as low as 56 °C for acetone) for long periods of time.

Table 1.1. Conventional solvent extraction methods and phenolic yields from wine grape pomace

			Total				
Grape variety	Sample preparation	Solvent	Solids-to-liquid ratio (SLR)	Time (min)	Temp. (°C)	phenolic content (TPC)	Reference
White and red Garnacha skins, stems, and seeds	Grapes were pressed or distilled. Dried and stored at room temperature	Methanol, 96% ethanol, and water	1:1-1:5	30-90	25-50	16-163 mg GAE/g dry residue	Pinelo et al., 2005
Albariño white pomace collected after distillation	Frozen at -50 °C. Air-dried and crushed to particle size 0.6-1 mm	Ethanol	27 g pomace with flow rate of 2-4 mL solvent/min	100	40-50	0.032-0.065 mg GAE/100 g dry pomace	Guerrero et al., 2008
Red grape pomace	Dried at 60 °C for 24 h. Skins ground to particle size of 270.8 ± 26.4 µm	Ethanol (8-92%)	1:3-1:17	60	30	5.7-48.6 mg GAE/g dry grape skin	Caldas et al., 2018
Cabernet Sauvignon, Italian Riesling, and Merlot pomaces	Fresh samples	80% methanol, 80% ethanol, acetone, ethyl acetate, and methanol:distilled water:formic acid as 50:48.5:1.5 and 80:19:1	1:10	360	ambient	16.9-110 mg GAE/g dry extract or 0.28-7.77 mg GAE/g fresh weight	Pintać et al., 2018
Isabel (Vitis labrusca) processing residue	Oven-dried at 40 °C for 18 h. Ground in a cooled knife mill to a particle size of 355-180 µm. Vacuum packed and stored at -18 °C	Ethanol acidified with 1.5 mol/L citric acid solution (80:20 v/v)	1:15-1:25	20-80	20-60	6.23-8.80 mg GAE/g dry sample	Chañi- Paucar et al., 2020
Corvina and Corvinone red wine pomace collected after pressing, maceration, and fermentation	Dried at 40 °C for 24 h. Ground to particle size < 500 µm. Treated with nitrogen at 90 °C for 90 min. Stored at room temperature for 0, 4, 9 months	Methanol or ethanol at 25, 50, and 75%	1:10	45	50	15-36 mg GAE/g dry sample	Cisneros- Yupanqui et al., 2020
Cabernet Sauvignon pomace	Dried at 40 °C for 24 h up to 9.8 ± 0.1% moisture. Ground to a particle size of 0.91 mm	Ethanol, ethyl acetate, butanol, dichloromethane, <i>n-</i> hexane	l, ethyl 5 g sample with butanol, continuous reflux tathane, (Soxhlet)		ambient	1.3-3.4 g GAE/mg extract	de Campos et al., 2008
Barbera pomace	Oven-dried at 60 °C to 2-4% moisture content. Milled to particle size ≤ 2 mm	Ethanol:water (60:40 v/v)	Ethanol:water 1:4 (60:40 v/v)		60	6.0-8.5 g GAE/L extract	Amendola et al., 2010
Red grape marc	Dried to 14.3% moisture and ground to a particle size of 0.83 mm	Ethanol:water (40:60, 65:35, and 90:10 v/v)	1:10, 1:30, 1:50	360, 900, 1440	ambient	7.89-23.36 mg GAE/g dry matter	da Porto and Natolino, 2018

1.4.2. Alternative green extraction methods

Compared to traditional solid-liquid extractions, enzyme-assisted (EAE) and microwaveassisted (MAE) extractions provide opportunities for reduced solvent consumption, reduced extraction time, and improved biological or functional activity of the extracts (Figure 1.3). While the chemical behavior of ethanol or methanol can be advantageous for polyphenolic extractions, the high polarity and dielectric constant of water are especially important factors in green techniques because these characteristics offer excellent solvent specificity, allowing for the use of milder conditions, and providing efficient absorption of microwave radiation. Additionally, EAE can be optimized alongside other extraction parameters to reduce total enzyme loading for optimal economic feasibility, and MAE can shorten overall extraction times for the development of high throughput processing systems.



Figure 1.3. Comparison of conventional and alternative green techniques for phenolic extraction

1.4.2.1 Enzyme-extraction process (EAE)

The addition of enzymes to aqueous extractions aids in catalyzing the hydrolysis of plant cell-wall proteins and polysaccharides, which can help release insoluble-bound phenolics from the cell matrix. Enzyme preparations commonly used in extracting phenolics from wine grape pomace include cellulase, hemicellulose, glucanase, pectinase, xylanase, tannase, and protease (Table 1.2). Since enzymes are easily degraded in harsh environments, the control of extraction parameters like pH and temperature is especially critical for promoting optimum enzymatic activity. Additionally, the extraction time, solvent type and concentration, and enzyme type and dosage also impact enzyme extraction kinetics, extraction efficiency, and economic viability of the process.

Many studies in Table 1.2 reported that the use of multiple enzymes at various dosages best induced polyphenolic extraction from wine grape pomace samples (Chamorro et al., 2012; Martins et al., 2016; Wang et al., 2019). The addition of 3% (w/w) Viscozyme® L, an enzyme complex including arabinase, cellulase, β -glucanase, hemicellulase and xylanase activities, increased the total phenolic content of Croatina red grape skin powders by 56% compared to solvent extraction using 60% (v/v) ethanol (Binaschi et al., 2018). While the high enzyme loading and extraction time of this study (120 min) could be improved through further optimization experiments, this example provides insight into the potential for EAE to improve phenolic yields without reliance on flammable solvents.

Notably, nearly all the studies listed in Table 1.2 used a sodium acetate buffer solution to mediate pH fluctuations during the enzymatic extractions, emphasizing the role of pH in enhancing biochemical activity and phenolic recovery. The pH of the extracting solvent in these

studies ranged from 2.0 to 6.0, but further research evaluating alkaline conditions to release insoluble-bound phenolics is warranted and will be explored in Chapter 2.

Grape variety	Sample preparation	Solvent	Solids-to- Solvent liquid ratio Enzyme(s) and pH Time (min (SLR) (SLR)		Time (min)	Temp. (°C)	Total phenolic content (TPC)	Reference	
Red wine grape pomace	Dried at 60 °C and milled to 1 mm	0.1 M sodium acetate buffer	1:10	Pectinase (6.75-13.5 U/g pomace), cellulase (157.5- 315 U/g pomace), and tannase (500-1000 U/g pomace)	5.5	1440	35	1.0-1.4 mg/g dry pomace	Chamorro et al., 2012
Merlot, Cabernet Sauvignon, and Cabernet Franc pomace	Dried to moisture content of 10–11%. Milled to pass a 40- mesh screen	0.1 M sodium acetate buffer	1:6	Pectinase (20 U/g pomace) and cellulase (315 U/g pomace)	4.5	1440	50	2.93-8.40 mg GAE/g dry matter	Wang et al., 2019
Syrah and Seibel hybrid, Moscato branco, and mixed red and white grape pomace	Dried, ground, and stored at - 80 °C	0.02 M sodium acetate buffer	1:100	Tannase, pectinase, cellulase at 5% w/w of tannase; 2.5% of pectinase and cellulose each; and 1.66% of tannase, pectinase, and cellulase each	5.0	300	40	19.3-82.1 mg GAE/g dry matter	Martins et al., 2016
Syrah, Cabernet Sauvignon, Malbec, Pinot- Noir, and Marselan pomace	Dried to < 6% moisture and ground to 0.25- 2.38 mm	50 mM acetate buffer	1:10	Pectinase (0-100 U/g pomace), cellulase (0-100 U/g pomace), and tannase (0-200 U/g pomace)	4.0-5.5	120-360	25-45	3.9-8.6 mg GAE/g pomace	Meini et al., 2019
Cabernet Sauvignon and Merlot	Skins removed, lypophilized, and ground to 125–250 µm	0.2 M acetate buffer	1:10	Cellulase, pectinase, and polygalacturonase at 1-10% enzyme/substrate loading	3.6	120-360	25-55	18-55 mg GAE/g dry grape skin	Arnous & Meyer 2010
Wine grape solid waste	Dried at 60 °C for 24 h, then ground to 30 mesh particle size	0.2 M acetate buffer	1:1.4	Cellulase, pectinase, and β - glucosidase diluted 1:10	3.5	60-2880	40	0.27-0.40 mg GAE/g dried grape waste	Gomez- Garcia et al., 2012
Alicante Bouschet pomace	n.a.	0.02 M sodium acetate buffer at pH 5.0	1:8	Enzyme preparation with polygalacturonase, carboxymethylcellulase, and β-glucosidase activities	5.0	5-30	32	4-9 mg GAE/g dry poamce	Cascaes Teles et al., 2021
Regent seeds	Dried and ground to fine powder	Water with 0.015 M calcium ions	1:80	Enzyme preparations with polygalacturonase, pectinase, cellulase, and hemicellulase activities	2.0-4.0	60-180	40-50	0.11-0.24 mg GAE/g dry weight	Štambuk et al., 2016
Sangiovese and Merlot skins	Dried at 60 °C for 24 h. Milled to particle size 0.25-2 mm	Water	1:7, 1:24	Enzyme preparation with arabinase, cellulase, β- glucanase, hemicellulase and xylanase activity (3% w/w)	6.0	120	24	15.27-31.60 mg GAE/g dry weight grape	Binaschi et al., 2018

Table 1.2. Enzyme-assisted extraction methods and phenolic yields from grape pomace

1.4.2.2. Microwave-assisted extraction (MAE)

In MAE, absorption of the microwave electromagnetic field (300 MHz to 300 GHz) by polar solvents ultimately induces degradation of the plant cell structure to aid in phenolic extraction (Žlabur et al., 2018). Dipole rotation of the polar solvent molecules produces heat as the water molecules oscillate to align with the field and generate friction. While the temperature of the intracellular matrix increases, the pressure also builds within the cell and weakens the cell wall, which eventually allows the solvent to penetrate the cell for recovery of secondary metabolites.

MAE is an advantageous green extraction method due to its simplicity of use. Interestingly, since the extraction mechanism of MAE relies on producing heat by oscillating polar molecules, the in-situ water content within plant cells can act as its own extraction solvent, thus eliminating or reducing the need for additional solvent consumption. Using only pressed dark-skinned grapes in a microwave system, Bittar et al. (2013) successfully produced grape extracts with a total phenolic content of 21.41 mg GAE/g dry weight. Microwave radiation therefore reduces the reliance on hazardous solvents while improving solvent permeation with increased temperature and reducing processing time. The extraction parameters of MAE can also be controlled for a more targeted reaction; variables include solvent type, solids-to-liquids ratio, sample particle size, moisture content and type of drying of sample, microwave power, extraction time, number of radiation cycles, vessel shape and size, vessel pressure, and extraction temperature (Kala et al., 2016). The design of the microwave vessel in an enclosed cavity aids in protecting light-sensitive compounds from oxidation, even though the short processing time (often less than 20 min, Table 1.3) can also help prevent sample degradation.

Extraction parameters								
Grape variety	Sample preparation	Solvent	Solids-to-liquid ratio (SLR)	Time (min)	Temp. (°C)	Power (W)	Total phenolic content (TPC)*	Reference
Alphonse Lavallée grapes	Pressed at 200 bar	Solvent free (relying on water within grape cells)	n.a.	20	100	1 W/g press cake in 10 W increments up to 900 W	21.41 mg GAE/g dry weight	Bittar et al., 2013
Bordo and Isabel grapes	Crushed and heated 85 ± 1°C for 10 s, then stored at 4 °C	Hexane, ethanol, chloroform, ethyl acetate, ultra-pure water	1:5	20	110	850	0.13-1.07 mg GAE/g sample	Pezzini et al., 2019
Napoleon skins and seeds	Freeze-dried and ground	Methanol, ethanol, acetone, water	1:10-1:50	5-20	100	100-500	22.37 mg caffeic acid equivalents/kg	Azaroual et al., 2021
Tintilla de Rota grape skins	Ground and stored at -20 °C	50-80% methanol in water	1:12.5-1:25	5-20	50-100	100-500	0.0277-0.953 mg/g anthocyanins	Liazid et al., 2011
Tempranillo marc	n.r.	50:50 v/v ethanol:acidified water (pH 1 with sulfuric acid)	n.r.	1	80	300	45.9 mg GAE/g extract	Matos et al., 2019
South African Ribier seeds	Freeze-dried to 46% moisture and ground, then defatted	Methanol:water (90:10 v/v)	1:15	1-3.33	60-68	30-300	369-407 mg tannic acid equivalent/g extract	Hong et al., 2001
Chardonnay, Sauvignon Blanc, Cabernet Sauvignon, Shiraz seeds	Milled to fine powder	Ethanol (10, 30, 50, 70, 90%) in water	1:10-1:30	540-1740	25	100-200	47.2-86.6 mg GA/g grape seed	Li et al., 2011
Riesling marc seeds	Dried to a moisture content of 10-11% and milled to 80-300 µm	24-34% (w/w) acetone and 14- 22% (w/w) ammonium citrate	n.r.	0.25-1.5	56	650	49.9-82.7 mg GAE/g marc (dry weight)	Dang et al., 2014
Red and white grape marcs	Air-dried and stored at room temperature	Water/acetone/aceti c acid (29.5/70/0.5); addition of sodium carbonate (0 - 2.5%)	1:8	8	100	n.r.	1-16 mg GAE/g dry matter	Brahim et al., 2014
Bangalore blue seeds	Lyophilized, ground, and defatted	Ethanol (30-60%)	1:100	2-6	n.r.	100-200	9.138-15.241 mg GAE/g dry weight	Krishnaswamy et al., 2013
Agiorgitiko pomace	Stored at -30°C. Air dried or accelerated solar dried. Milled.	Water or water/ethanol (1:1 v/v)	1:50	60	50	200	24.05-231.61 mg GAE/g dry extract	Drosou et al., 2015
Chardonnay pomace	Dried 60 °C for 24h. Skins separated and milled to < 2mm	60% ethanol	1:04	0.825-1.83	46.5-74	100-900	6.68-9.96 mg GAE/g dry pomace	Pedroza et al., 2015
Tempranillo pomace	Stored at -18 °C and thawed at 4 °C overnight before extraction	50% ethanol and acid water (sulfuric acid, pH 1)	1:1.33	0.5-3	60-120	300	115.5-241.6 mg GAE/g dry extract	Álvarez et al., 2017
Chardonnay pomace	Stored at -18 °C. Defrosted at room temperature. Blended 1 min	30, 45, and 60% ethanol	1:5-1:10	5-15	24	93	0.322-1.315 mg GAE/mL extract	Garrido et al., 2019

Table 1.3. Microwave-assisted extraction methods and phenolic yields from grape pomace

*reported as gallic acid equivalents unless otherwise noted. n.r.: not reported

1.4.2.3. Integrated green extraction methods

The use of consecutive alternative extraction methods has shown synergistic effects on extracting phenolics from plant samples in recent studies. Techniques like EAE and MAE can be combined with each other or with other alternative extraction methods like ultrasound-assisted extraction to increase extraction efficiency while still consuming less energy than traditional Soxhlet methods (Barrera Vázquez et al., 2014). In one example, Wang et al. (2019) reported that microwave and ultrasonic-assisted consecutive extraction (MUAE) promoted the highest extraction yields and antioxidant activities across Merlot, Cabernet Sauvignon, and Cabernet Franc pomace, skin, and seed fractions compared to the use of these two strategies individually. Other novel applications of non-conventional phenolic extraction methods include enzyme and microwave co-assisted salting-out extraction (Jia et al., 2021), pressurized liquid extraction followed by integrated membrane filtration (Pereira et al., 2020), and the use of cyclodextrin extraction to assist ultrasound extraction (Alibante et al., 2021). In the latter example, the amphiphilic nature of β -cyclodextrin molecules, which are characterized by their external hydrophilic surface and the internal hydrophobic center, promoted the recovery and encapsulation of plant-derived compounds with varying degrees of polarities.

Despite the innovative approaches of the integrated strategies shown in Table 1.4, the use of ethanol as the extracting solvent is a persistent trend. In Chapter 3, an integrated microwave and enzyme-assisted extraction process will be designed using water as the only solvent under alkaline conditions. As a proof-of-concept experiment, this study will showcase the role of slurry pH while maximizing phenolic extractability with the addition of alkaline protease, which has not yet been extensively explored for its hydrolytic effects in grape pomace applications.

Table 1.4. Inte	grated green	extraction	methods and	phenolic y	yields from	grape	pomace
	U U					<u> </u>	

		Extraction parameters									Total			
Grape variety	Sample preparation	ety Sample preparation	Green extraction methods	Solvent	Solids-to- liquid ratio (SLR)	Additional solids and loading	рН	Time (min)	Temp. (°C)	Power (W)	Amplitude (%)	Filtration system	phenolic content (TPC)	Reference
Merlot, Cabernet Sauvignon, and Cabernet Franc pomace	Dried to moisture content of 10–11%. Milled to pass a 40- mesh screen	Microwave-assisted extraction (MAE) + ultrasound-assisted extraction (UAE)	Ethanol/water (70:30 v/v)	1:20	n.a.	n.a.	4 min for MAE + 56 min for UAE	85-90 °C for MAE + 60 °C for UAE	800 W for MAE + 150 W for UAE	n.a.	n.a.	4.05-11.02 mg GAE/g dry matter	Wang et al., 2019	
Agiorgitiko pomace	Dried to 8% moisture and milled to 0.3 mm	Microwave and enzyme- assisted extraction (MAE + EAE)	Ethanol, 42% v/v	MAE: 1:24	EAE: Cellulase pre- treatment, 4 % w/w, 240 min; 1:2 SLR	n.a.	EAE: 130 min	n.a.	MAE: 408	n.a.	n.a.	45.35 mg GAE/g dry pomace	Drevelegka and Goula, 2020	
Agiorgitiko pomace	Dried to 8% moisture and milled to 0.3 mm	Ultrasound and enzyme- assisted extraction (UAE + EAE)	Ethanol, 53% v/v	UAE: 1:8	EAE: Cellulase pre- treatment, 4 % w/w, 240 min; 1:2 SLR	n.a.	EAE: 240 min	56	UAE: 130	34	n.a.	48.76 GAE/g dry pomace	Drevelegka and Goula, 2020	
Cabernet Sauvignon pomace	Dried to moisture content of 7.83% and ground into powder to pass 120- mesh screen	Enzyme and microwave co-assisted salting-out extraction	Dipotassium hydrogen phosphate-citric buffer solution + 20% (w/w) ammonium sulfate and 25% (w/w) ethanol	1:12.5	Pectinase (450 U/g)	4.5	1.5 min for microwave + 60 min for salting- out	90 °C for microwave + 25 °C for salting out	270	n.a.	n.a.	125.32 mg GAE/g extract	Jia et al., 2021	
Syrah marc	Ground and stored at -18 °C	Pressurized liquid extraction (PLE) + microfiltration and nanofiltration system (FS)	Ethanol/water (50/50%)	1 kg marc to 217 kg solvent	n.a.	2.0	15 extractions at 54 min each	40 °C for PLE and 35 °C for FS	n.a.	n.a.	MV020- NP010: 4 MPa, 1000- 1200 g/mol pore size, 2.1 L feed volume	20.7 mg GAE/g dry weight with 71% phenolic retention using FS	Pereira et al., 2020	
Muscat grape pomace	Dried at 80 °C for 450 min and milled to 0.384 mm	Ultrasound-assisted pretreatment (UAE) + β- cyclodextrin extraction (CD)	Water with 1 g/L citric acid	1:10-1:90	0-1.5% w/w CD	2.0	0-20 min for UAE + 180 min for CD	27-80	550 for UAE	n.a.	n.a.	16.67-57.47 mg GAE/g dry matter	Albiante et al., 2021	

n.a.: parameter is not applicable to this study

1.5. Scaling up green extraction of grape pomace phenolics to produce value-added products

While there is an abundance of published literature on the success of green extraction methods for valorizing wine grape pomace at lab-scale, determining the effectiveness of these techniques at a larger scale is still an emerging field that requires further development of process optimization and process economics. Based on the results from small-scale experiments, phenolic extracts from winemaking waste streams have successfully served as bioactive ingredients in functional foods like bread, dairy, cookies, meat, pasta, and salad dressing (Coe & Ryan, 2016; Karnopp et al., 2015; Marinelli et al., 2015; Özvural & Vural, 2011; Santos et al., 2017; Tseng & Zhao, 2013); cosmetics like gels, creams, and sunscreens (Emmulo et al., 2021; Hübner et al., 2020; Surini et al., 2018); packaging materials (Cejudo-Bastante et al., 2021; Coelho et al., 2020; Ferri et al., 2020; Saurabh et al., 2018), and supplements (Manca et al., 2020; Martínez-Maqueda et al., 2018; Ramos-Romero et al., 2021).

Despite the diversity of potential industrial applications of grape pomace, there remain opportunities to improve the environmental footprint of extraction processes involved in these formulations and to optimize their feasibility at large-scale. There are few published reports of the scale-up of enzyme-assisted (EAE) and microwave-assisted (MAE) extraction methods using grape pomace. Kammerer et al. (2005) designed a pilot-scale enzyme-assisted extraction of polyphenols from 5 kg Cabernet Mitos pomace using 5,000 ppm pectinolytic enzyme and 2,500 ppm cellulolytic enzyme at 50 °C for 2 h. In a related study, Maier et al. (2008) also scaled the enzymatic extraction of Lemberger pomace pigments from 200 g (lab scale) to 5 kg (pilot scale), yielding 91.9% phenolic acids, 92.4% non-anthocyanin flavonoids, and 63.6% anthocyanins using a mixture of pectinolytic and cellulolytic enzymes (ratio 2:1 at 4,500 mg/kg dry matter) at pH 4.0 with constant stirring for 2 h at 40 °C. At commercial scale, however, the processing costs associated with the long extraction times, high enzyme loading, need for additional purification steps, or degradation of the enzyme at extreme conditions may hinder the economic feasibility of this method despite the use of benign solvents like water (Das et al., 2021). A promising technique for addressing the costs of enzyme-assisted extraction, in addition to combining it with other alternative extraction techniques, is enzyme immobilization. This strategy aims to adsorb or entrap the enzyme on a supporting material, like silica or agarose, which allows for the recycling of the enzyme while maintaining or extending its activity even after numerous processing cycles (Karav et al., 2016).

The large-scale feasibility of microwave-assisted extraction (MAE) is less explored in grape pomace feedstocks but has been explored for the extraction of phenolics and/or oils from 4

kg lettuce (Périno et al., 2016), 500 g orange peel (Angoy et al., 2020), and soybean and rice bran (Terigar et al., 2011) using a pilot-scale continuous microwave system. Compared to the conventional hydrodistillation method, the pilot-scale microwave-assisted centrifugation method designed by Angoy et al. (2020) required 25% less energy (16.4 vs. 20.9 MJ/kg fresh material) for the extraction of essential oils from 500 g orange peels. In another study, a life-cycle assessment of microwave-assisted pectin extraction at pilot-scale (20 L) reduced the environmental impact of orange peel processing by 25% compared to traditional hydrochloric acid-assisted thermal processing while also improving pectin yield by 2% (Garcia-Garcia et al., 2019). To prove the industrial feasibility of MAE, it will be crucial to design equipment that can maintain the power of the electromagnetic field with high sample throughput during a continuous process system while simultaneously meeting strict financial budgets.

In addition to the above technical and economic concerns, the transition from benchtop to pilot-scale to commercial-scale production of grape pomace-derived products will also require insight into the delivery mechanisms of the bioactive compounds. For example, to commercialize polyphenolic-enriched foods at large scale, it will be important to consider: the types of food matrix components included in the formulation; the interactions between components in the food; the interactions between food components and grape pomace phenolics; the desired sensory properties of the final food product; and the variety of technologies available to promote stability, bioaccessibility, and bioavailability of the phenolics.

Strategies for enhancing the bioaccessibility (i.e., the ability of phenolics to be released from the food matrix and modified through digestion) of phytonutrients include, but are not limited to, encapsulation, emulsification, roasting, extrusion, nanomilling, enzymatic pretreatment, microfluidization, and co-supplementation (Figure 1.4). Once the phytonutrients

are liberated from the matrix and solubilized within the digestive tract, the bioavailability of the compounds plays a role in ensuring that the compounds will enter the systemic circulation and reach the targeted organ for their intended bioactive role. The bioaccessibility and bioavailability of phenolics can be measured *in vitro* and *in vivo*.



Figure 1.4. Example of downstream processing strategies (e.g., encapsulation) to enhance the bioaccessibility and bioavailability of bioactive ingredients for the development of value-added products using wine grape pomace phenolics. Graphics created with BioRender.com.

Common *in vitro* methods for measuring bioaccessibility include ABTS, ORAC, DPPH, and FRAP assays for measuring antioxidant activity. Through the use of different reagents, chemical mechanisms (e.g., hydrogen atom transfer or electron transfer), and measurement techniques (e.g., absorbance or fluorescence curves), these antioxidant assays create different readouts of radical scavenging activity (Fernández-Fernández et al., 2020). Therefore, multiple antioxidant assays are typically used within one study to provide a more representative overview of the antioxidant capacity of the compounds. Stimulated gastric digestion is another strategy used to measure the permeability of the bioactives throughout an artificial digestive system that mimics the mouth with the use of salivary amylase, the stomach with the use of pepsin at pH 2, the small intestine at a more neutral environment with bile and pancreatin, and eventually the
large intestine where the digested fluid can be used as a substrate for colonic fermentation (Taladrid et al., 2021). To further support the health benefits of plant-derived compounds, *in vivo* animal models are also employed. Animal studies can help provide additional insight into the biological activity of plant secondary metabolites on animal cell viability, solubility, and permeability that can expand upon results from common *in vitro* methods like MTT and Caco-2 assays (Chedea et al., 2018).

To increase the intestinal residence time of grape pomace phenolics and xylooligosaccharides, Costa et al. (2021) successfully designed alginate and chitosan nanoparticles (400–1000 nm) to encapsulate the bioactive compounds for oral delivery systems. In another encapsulation approach, Rubio et al. (2020) used residual Saccharomyces cerevisiae cells to encapsulate Cabernet Sauvignon and Bordeaux grape pomace phenolic extracts. The microcapsules (<11.45 μ m) yielded low water activity (<0.29), low hygroscopicity (<13.7 g/100 g), and low moisture content (<7.10%) to support storage stability while improving the phenolic bioaccessibility by *in vitro* gastrointestinal simulation by 14.3–35.0% compared to the free extracts. The development of novel delivery mechanisms, like encapsulation, is an important step for ensuring the efficacy of grape pomace polyphenolic extracts in biological systems, but determining the exact mechanism of action, the proper dosage, and the price parity of plant-derived bioactives require further exploration.

1.6. Conclusions

Valorizing wine grape pomace has the potential to address critical challenges associated with escalating global supply-chain issues, the agricultural environmental footprint, and the persistence of human health concerns. While the winemaking industry already makes a conscious effort to utilize numerous diversion strategies for its byproducts, there remains an

opportunity for these efforts to: i) reduce the dependence on hazardous, flammable, or toxic materials for processing; ii) utilize the entirety of the waste stream through novel applications following the biorefinery concept; and iii) scale these efforts beyond local viticultural efforts to build widespread awareness of valorization techniques for all agricultural byproducts. This review highlighted the various fractions of winemaking waste streams that can pose functional benefits for food, beverage, packaging, cosmetic, and supplement industries while exploring the current landscape of promising non-conventional extraction techniques to develop feasible strategies capable of enhancing the extraction of grape pomace compounds with the desired composition and biological properties. However, this overarching goal requires a deeper understanding of the impact of these aforementioned strategies on structural composition and biological properties of these bioactive and the optimization strategies available for enhancing process feasibility. In the following Chapters, the development of lab-scale green extraction methods for releasing polyphenols from unfermented Cabernet Sauvignon pomace will be discussed, and the polyphenolic profiles and *in vitro* antioxidant activities will be analyzed to provide a preliminary proof of concept of the biological properties of extracts generated under different processing conditions. While these experiments showcase the positive results from enzyme- and microwave-assisted techniques, future considerations will have to address the pathway for transitioning these strategies away from the bench and towards industrial designs.

1.7. Acknowledgments

BioRender.com graphics were created on March 15, 2022, under license agreement numbers IQ23OH8KMQ (Figure 1.1), AH23OH9XAF (Figure 1.2), and SD23OH926X (Figure 1.4).

1.8. References

- Alibante, A., Lakka, A., Bozinou, E., Chatzilazarou, A., Lalas, S., & Makris, D. P. (2021). Integrated Green Process for the Extraction of Red Grape Pomace Antioxidant Polyphenols Using Ultrasound-Assisted Pretreatment and β-Cyclodextrin. Beverages 2021, Vol. 7, Page 59, 7(3), 59. https://doi.org/10.3390/BEVERAGES7030059
- Álvarez, A., Poejo, J., Matias, A. A., Duarte, C. M. M., Cocero, M. J., & Mato, R. B. (2017). Microwave pretreatment to improve extraction efficiency and polyphenol extract richness from grape pomace. Effect on antioxidant bioactivity. Food and Bioproducts Processing, 106, 162– 170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fbp.2017.09.007
- Alzaa, D. F. (2018). Evaluation of Chemical and Physical Changes in Different Commercial Oils during Heating. Acta Scientific Nutritional Health, 2.6, 02–11.
- Amendola, D., de Faveri, D. M., & Spigno, G. (2010). Grape marc phenolics: Extraction kinetics, quality and stability of extracts. Journal of Food Engineering, 97(3), 384–392. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2009.10.033
- Andreasen, M. F., Kroon, P. A., Williamson, G., & Garcia-Conesa, M. T. (2001). Intestinal release and uptake of phenolic antioxidant diferulic acids. Free Radical Biology and Medicine, 31(3), 304–314. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0891-5849(01)00585-8
- Angoy, A., Ginies, C., Goupy, P., Bornard, I., Ginisty, P., Sommier, A., Valat, M., & Chemat, F. (2020). Development of a green innovative semi-industrial scale pilot combined microwave heating and centrifugal force to extract essential oils and phenolic compounds from orange peels. Innovative Food Science & Emerging Technologies, 61, 102338. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IFSET.2020.102338
- Arnous, A., & Meyer, A. S. (2010). Discriminated release of phenolic substances from red wine grape skins (Vitis vinifera L.) by multicomponent enzymes treatment. Biochemical Engineering Journal, 49(1), 68–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BEJ.2009.11.012
- Arranz, S., Saura-Calixto, F., Shaha, S., & Kroon, P. A. (2009). High contents of nonextractable polyphenols in fruits suggest that polyphenol contents of plant foods have been underestimated. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 57(16), 7298–7303. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf9016652
- Azaroual, L., Liazid, A., el Mansouri, F., Brigui, J., Ruíz-Rodriguez, A., Barbero, G. F., & Palma, M. (2021). Optimization of the Microwave-Assisted Extraction of Simple Phenolic Compounds from Grape Skins and Seeds. Agronomy 2021, Vol. 11, Page 1527, 11(8), 1527. https://doi.org/10.3390/AGRONOMY11081527
- Barbanera, M., Cardarelli, A., Carota, E., Castellini, M., Giannoni, T., & Ubertini, S. (2021). Valorization of winery and distillery by-products by hydrothermal carbonization. Scientific Reports 2021 11:1, 11(1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-03501-7
- Barnavon, L., Doco, T., Terrier, N., Ageorges, A., Romieu, C., & Pellerin, P. (2000). Analysis of cell wall neutral sugar composition, β-galactosidase activity and a related cDNA clone throughout the development of Vitis vinifera grape berries. Plant Physiology and Biochemistry, 38(4), 289– 300. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0981-9428(00)00749-X
- Barrera Vázquez, M. F., Comini, L. R., Martini, R. E., Núñez Montoya, S. C., Bottini, S., & Cabrera, J. L. (2014). Comparisons between conventional, ultrasound-assisted and microwave-assisted methods for extraction of anthraquinones from Heterophyllaea pustulata Hook f. (Rubiaceae). Ultrasonics Sonochemistry, 21(2), 478–484. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ULTSONCH.2013.08.023

- Bharathiraja, B., Iyyappan, J., Jayamuthunagai, J., Kumar, R. P., Sirohi, R., Gnansounou, E., & Pandey, A. (2020). Critical review on bioconversion of winery wastes into value-added products. Industrial Crops and Products, 158, 112954. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.INDCROP.2020.112954
- Binaschi, M., Garrido, G. D., Cirelli, C., & Spigno, G. (2018). Biotechnological strategies to valorise grape pomace for food applications. Chemical Engineering Transactions, 64, 367–372. https://doi.org/10.3303/CET1864062
- Bittar, S. al, Perino-Issartier, S., Dangles, O., & Chemat, F. (2013). An innovative grape juice enriched in polyphenols by microwave-assisted extraction. Food Chemistry, 141(3), 3268–3272. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODCHEM.2013.05.134
- Blackford, M., Comby, M., Zeng, L., Dienes-Nagy, Á., Bourdin, G., Lorenzini, F., & Bach, B. (2021). A Review on Stems Composition and Their Impact on Wine Quality. Molecules, 26(5). https://doi.org/10.3390/MOLECULES26051240
- Brahim, M., Gambier, F., & Brosse, N. (2014). Optimization of polyphenols extraction from grape residues in water medium. Industrial Crops and Products, 52, 18–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.INDCROP.2013.10.030
- Caldas, T. W., Mazza, K. E. L., Teles, A. S. C., Mattos, G. N., Brígida, A. I. S., Conte-Junior, C. A., Borguini, R. G., Godoy, R. L. O., Cabral, L. M. C., & Tonon, R. v. (2018). Phenolic compounds recovery from grape skin using conventional and non-conventional extraction methods. Industrial Crops and Products, 111, 86–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2017.10.012
- Cascaes Teles, A. S., Hidalgo Chávez, D. W., Zarur Coelho, M. A., Rosenthal, A., Fortes Gottschalk, L. M., & Tonon, R. V. (2021). Combination of enzyme-assisted extraction and high hydrostatic pressure for phenolic compounds recovery from grape pomace. Journal of Food Engineering, 288, 110128. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JFOODENG.2020.110128
- Castro Sousa, E., Maria, A., Uchôa-Thomaz, A., Osvaldo, J., Carioca, B., Maia De Morais, S., Lima, A. de, Martins, C. G., Alexandrino, C. D., Augusto, P., Ferreira, T., Livya, A., Rodrigues, M., Rodrigues, S. P., Do, J., Silva, N., & Rodrigues, L. L. (n.d.). Chemical composition and bioactive compounds of grape pomace (Vitis vinifera L.), Benitaka variety, grown in the semiarid region of Northeast Brazil. Food Sci. Technol, Campinas, 34(1), 135–142.
- Cejudo-Bastante, C., Arjona-Mudarra, P., Fernández-Ponce, M. T., Casas, L., Mantell, C., Martínez de la Ossa, E. J., & Pereyra, C. (2021). Application of a Natural Antioxidant from Grape Pomace Extract in the Development of Bioactive Jute Fibers for Food Packaging. Antioxidants 2021, Vol. 10, Page 216, 10(2), 216. https://doi.org/10.3390/ANTIOX10020216
- Chamorro, S., Viveros, A., Alvarez, I., Vega, E., & Brenes, A. (2012). Changes in polyphenol and polysaccharide content of grape seed extract and grape pomace after enzymatic treatment. Food Chemistry, 133(2), 308–314. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODCHEM.2012.01.031
- Chañi-Paucar, L., Silva, J., Maciel, M., & de Lima, V. (2020). Simplified process of extraction of polyphenols from agroindustrial grape waste. Food Science and Technology. https://doi.org/10.1590/fst.31120
- Chedea, V. S., Palade, L. M., Marin, D. E., Pelmus, R. S., Habeanu, M., Rotar, M. C., Gras, M. A., Pistol, G. C., & Taranu, I. (2018). Intestinal Absorption and Antioxidant Activity of Grape Pomace Polyphenols. Nutrients 2018, Vol. 10, Page 588, 10(5), 588. https://doi.org/10.3390/NU10050588
- Christ, K. L., & Burritt, R. L. (2013). Critical environmental concerns in wine production: an integrative review. Journal of Cleaner Production, 53, 232–242. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JCLEPRO.2013.04.007

- Cisneros-Yupanqui, M., Zagotto, A., Alberton, A., Lante, A., Zagotto, G., Ribaudo, G., & Rizzi, C. (2020). Monitoring the antioxidant activity of an eco-friendly processed grape pomace along the storage. Natural Product Research. https://doi.org/10.1080/14786419.2020.1815741
- Coe, S., & Ryan, L. (2016). White bread enriched with polyphenol extracts shows no effect on glycemic response or satiety, yet may increase postprandial insulin economy in healthy participants. Nutrition Research, 36(2), 193–200. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NUTRES.2015.10.007
- Coelho, C. C. de S., Silva, R. B. S., Carvalho, C. W. P., Rossi, A. L., Teixeira, J. A., Freitas-Silva, O., & Cabral, L. M. C. (2020). Cellulose nanocrystals from grape pomace and their use for the development of starch-based nanocomposite films. International Journal of Biological Macromolecules, 159, 1048–1061. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJBIOMAC.2020.05.046
- Costa, J. R., Xavier, M., Amado, I. R., Gonçalves, C., Castro, P. M., Tonon, R. v., Cabral, L. M. C., Pastrana, L., & Pintado, M. E. (2021). Polymeric nanoparticles as oral delivery systems for a grape pomace extract towards the improvement of biological activities. Materials Science and Engineering: C, 119, 111551. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MSEC.2020.111551
- da Porto, C., & Natolino, A. (2018). Optimization of the extraction of phenolic compounds from red grape marc (Vitis vinifera L.) using response surface methodology. Journal of Wine Research, 29(1), 26–36. https://doi.org/10.1080/09571264.2018.1433136
- Dang, Y. Y., Zhang, H., & Xiu, Z. L. (2014). Microwave-assisted aqueous two-phase extraction of phenolics from grape (Vitis vinifera) seed. Journal of Chemical Technology and Biotechnology, 89(10), 1576–1581. https://doi.org/10.1002/jctb.4241
- Dani, C., Oliboni, L. S., Agostini, F., Funchal, C., Serafini, L., Henriques, J. A., & Salvador, M. (2010). Phenolic content of grapevine leaves (Vitis labrusca var. Bordo) and its neuroprotective effect against peroxide damage. Toxicology in Vitro, 24(1), 148–153. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TIV.2009.08.006
- Das, S., Nadar, S. S., & Rathod, V. K. (2021). Integrated strategies for enzyme assisted extraction of bioactive molecules: A review. International Journal of Biological Macromolecules, 191, 899– 917. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJBIOMAC.2021.09.060
- de Camargo, A. C., Regitano-D'Arce, M. A. B., Biasoto, A. C. T., & Shahidi, F. (2014). Low Molecular Weight Phenolics of Grape Juice and Winemaking Byproducts: Antioxidant Activities and Inhibition of Oxidation of Human Low-Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol and DNA Strand Breakage. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 62(50), 12159–12171. https://doi.org/10.1021/JF504185S
- de Campos, L. M. A. S., Leimann, F. v., Pedrosa, R. C., & Ferreira, S. R. S. (2008). Free radical scavenging of grape pomace extracts from Cabernet sauvingnon (Vitis vinifera). Bioresource Technology, 99(17), 8413–8420. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIORTECH.2008.02.058
- Deng, Q., Penner, M. H., & Zhao, Y. (2011). Chemical composition of dietary fiber and polyphenols of five different varieties of wine grape pomace skins. Food Research International, 44(9), 2712– 2720. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2011.05.026
- Drevelegka, I., & Goula, A. M. (2020). Recovery of grape pomace phenolic compounds through optimized extraction and adsorption processes. Chemical Engineering and Processing Process Intensification, 149, 107845. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CEP.2020.107845
- Drosou, C., Kyriakopoulou, K., Bimpilas, A., Tsimogiannis, D., & Krokida, M. (2015). A comparative study on different extraction techniques to recover red grape pomace polyphenols from vinification byproducts. Industrial Crops and Products, 75, 141–149. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.INDCROP.2015.05.063

- Dwyer, K., Hosseinian, F., & Rod, M. (2014). The Market Potential of Grape Waste Alternatives. Journal of Food Research, 3(2), 91. https://doi.org/10.5539/jfr.v3n2p91
- Emmulo, E., Ceccantoni, B., Bellincontro, A., & Mencarelli, F. (2021). Use of water and ethanol extracts from wine grape seed pomace to prepare an antioxidant toothpaste. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture, 101(14), 5813–5818. https://doi.org/10.1002/JSFA.11232
- Fernández-Fernández, A. M., Iriondo-DeHond, A., Nardin, T., Larcher, R., Dellacassa, E., Medrano-Fernandez, A., & Castillo, M. D. del. (2020). In Vitro Bioaccessibility of Extractable Compounds from Tannat Grape Skin Possessing Health Promoting Properties with Potential to Reduce the Risk of Diabetes. Foods 2020, Vol. 9, Page 1575, 9(11), 1575. https://doi.org/10.3390/FOODS9111575
- Ferri, M., Vannini, M., Ehrnell, M., Eliasson, L., Xanthakis, E., Monari, S., Sisti, L., Marchese, P., Celli, A., & Tassoni, A. (2020). From winery waste to bioactive compounds and new polymeric biocomposites: A contribution to the circular economy concept. Journal of Advanced Research, 24, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JARE.2020.02.015
- Ganeshkumar, V., Subashchandrabose, S. R., Dharmarajan, R., Venkateswarlu, K., Naidu, R., & Megharaj, M. (2018). Use of mixed wastewaters from piggery and winery for nutrient removal and lipid production by Chlorella sp. MM3. Bioresource Technology, 256, 254–258. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIORTECH.2018.02.025
- Gao, Y., Zietsman, A. J. J., Vivier, M. A., & Moore, J. P. (2019). Deconstructing Wine Grape Cell
 Walls with Enzymes During Winemaking: New Insights from Glycan Microarray Technology.
 Molecules 2019, Vol. 24, Page 165, 24(1), 165. https://doi.org/10.3390/MOLECULES24010165
- Garcia-Garcia, G., Rahimifard, S., Matharu, A. S., & Dugmore, T. I. J. (2019). Life-Cycle Assessment of Microwave-Assisted Pectin Extraction at Pilot Scale. ACS Sustainable Chemistry and Engineering, 7(5), 5167–5175.

https://doi.org/10.1021/ACSSUSCHEMENG.8B06052/SUPPL_FILE/SC8B06052_SI_001.PDF

- Garrido, T., Gizdavic-Nikolaidis, M., Leceta, I., Urdanpilleta, M., Guerrero, P., de la Caba, K., & Kilmartin, P. A. (2019). Optimizing the extraction process of natural antioxidants from chardonnay grape marc using microwave-assisted extraction. Waste Management, 88, 110–117. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.WASMAN.2019.03.031
- Gómez-Brandón, M., Lores, M., Insam, H., & Domínguez, J. (2019). Strategies for recycling and valorization of grape marc. Https://Doi.Org/10.1080/07388551.2018.1555514, 39(4), 437–450. https://doi.org/10.1080/07388551.2018.1555514
- Gómez-García, R., Martínez-Ávila, G. C. G., & Aguilar, C. N. (2012). Enzyme-assisted extraction of antioxidative phenolics from grape (Vitis vinifera L.) residues. 3 Biotech, 2(4), 297–300. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13205-012-0055-7
- Guendez, R., Kallithraka, S., Makris, D. P., & Kefalas, P. (2005). Determination of low molecular weight polyphenolic constituents in grape (Vitis vinifera sp.) seed extracts: Correlation with antiradical activity. Food Chemistry, 89(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODCHEM.2004.02.010
- Guerrero, M. S., Torres, J. S., & Nuñez, M. J. (2008). Extraction of polyphenols from white distilled grape pomace: Optimization and modelling. Bioresource Technology, 99(5), 1311–1318. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2007.02.009
- Gupta, M., Dey, S., Marbaniang, D., Pal, P., Ray, S., & Mazumder, B. (2020). Grape seed extract: having a potential health benefits. Journal of Food Science and Technology, 57(4), 1205. https://doi.org/10.1007/S13197-019-04113-W

- Hashizume, K., & Samuta, T. (1997). Green Odorants of Grape Cluster Stem and Their Ability To Cause a Wine Stemmy Flavor. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 45(4), 1333–1337. https://doi.org/10.1021/JF960635A
- Hong, N., Yaylayan, V. A., Vijaya Raghavan, G. S., Paré, J. R. J., & Bélanger, J. M. R. (2001). Microwave-assisted extraction of phenolic compounds from grape seed. Natural Product Letters, 15(3), 197–204. https://doi.org/10.1080/10575630108041280
- Hübner, A. A., Sarruf, F. D., Oliveira, C. A., Neto, A. v., Fischer, D. C. H., Kato, E. T. M., Lourenço, F. R., Baby, A. R., & Bacchi, E. M. (2020). Safety and Photoprotective Efficacy of a Sunscreen System Based on Grape Pomace (Vitis vinifera L.) Phenolics from Winemaking. Pharmaceutics 2020, Vol. 12, Page 1148, 12(12), 1148. https://doi.org/10.3390/PHARMACEUTICS12121148
- Ilyas, T., Chowdhary, P., Chaurasia, D., Gnansounou, E., Pandey, A., & Chaturvedi, P. (2021). Sustainable green processing of grape pomace for the production of value-added products: An overview. Environmental Technology & Innovation, 23, 101592. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ETI.2021.101592
- Jia, M. Z., Fu, X. Q., Deng, L., Li, Z. L., & Dang, Y. Y. (2021). Phenolic extraction from grape (Vitis vinifera) seed via enzyme and microwave co-assisted salting-out extraction. Food Bioscience, 40, 100919. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FBIO.2021.100919
- Jin, Q., O'Keefe, S. F., Stewart, A. C., Neilson, A. P., Kim, Y. T., & Huang, H. (2021). Technoeconomic analysis of a grape pomace biorefinery: Production of seed oil, polyphenols, and biochar. Food and Bioproducts Processing, 127, 139–151. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fbp.2021.02.002
- Kala, H. K., Mehta, R., Sen, K. K., Tandey, R., & Mandal, V. (2016). Critical analysis of research trends and issues in microwave assisted extraction of phenolics: Have we really done enough. TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry, 85, 140–152. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TRAC.2016.09.007
- Kammerer, D., Claus, A., Schieber, A., & Carle, R. (2005). A novel process for the recovery of polyphenols from grape (Vitis vinifera L.) pomace. Journal of Food Science, 70(2). https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1365-2621.2005.TB07077.X
- Karav, S., Cohen, J. L., Barile, D., Leite, J. M., & de Moura Bell, N. (2016). Recent Advances in Immobilization Strategies for Glycosidases. American Institute of Chemical Engineers Biotechnol. Prog, 33, 104–112. https://doi.org/10.1002/btpr.2385
- Karnopp, A. R., Figueroa, A. M., Los, P. R., Teles, J. C., Simões, D. R. S., Barana, A. C., Kubiaki, F. T., de Oliveira, J. G. B., & Granato, D. (2015). Effects of whole-wheat flour and bordeaux grape pomace (Vitis labrusca L.) on the sensory, physicochemical and functional properties of cookies. Food Science and Technology, 35(4), 750–756. https://doi.org/10.1590/1678-457X.0010
- Kosińska-Cagnazzo, A., Heeger, A., Udrisard, I., Mathieu, M., Bach, B., & Andlauer, W. (2020). Phenolic compounds of grape stems and their capacity to precipitate proteins from model wine. Journal of Food Science and Technology, 57(2), 435–443. https://doi.org/10.1007/S13197-019-04071-3/FIGURES/6
- Krishnaswamy, K., Orsat, V., Gariépy, Y., & Thangavel, K. (2013). Optimization of Microwave-Assisted Extraction of Phenolic Antioxidants from Grape Seeds (Vitis vinifera). Food and Bioprocess Technology, 6(2), 441–455. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11947-012-0800-2
- Kyzas, G. Z., Symeonidou, M. P., & Matis, K. A. (2014). Technologies of winery wastewater treatment: a critical approach. New Pub: Balaban, 57(8), 3372–3386. https://doi.org/10.1080/19443994.2014.986535

- Leal, C., Santos, R. A., Pinto, R., Queiroz, M., Rodrigues, M., José Saavedra, M., Barros, A., & Gouvinhas, I. (2020). Recovery of bioactive compounds from white grape (Vitis vinifera L.) stems as potential antimicrobial agents for human health. Saudi Journal of Biological Sciences, 27(4), 1009–1015. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SJBS.2020.02.013
- Maier, T., Göppert, A., Kammerer, D. R., Schieber, A., & Carle, R. (2008). Optimization of a process for enzyme-assisted pigment extraction from grape (Vitis vinifera L.) pomace. European Food Research and Technology, 227(1), 267–275. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00217-007-0720-Y/FIGURES/6
- Manca, M. L., Casula, E., Marongiu, F., Bacchetta, G., Sarais, G., Zaru, M., Escribano-Ferrer, E., Peris, J. E., Usach, I., Fais, S., Scano, A., Orrù, G., Maroun, R. G., Fadda, A. M., & Manconi, M. (2020). From waste to health: sustainable exploitation of grape pomace seed extract to manufacture antioxidant, regenerative and prebiotic nanovesicles within circular economy. Scientific Reports 2020 10:1, 10(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-71191-8
- Marinelli, V., Padalino, L., Nardiello, D., del Nobile, M. A., & Conte, A. (2015). New Approach to Enrich Pasta with Polyphenols from Grape Marc. Journal of Chemistry, 2015. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/734578
- Martínez-Maqueda, D., Zapatera, B., Gallego-Narbón, A., Vaquero, M. P., Saura-Calixto, F., & Pérez-Jiménez, J. (2018). A 6-week supplementation with grape pomace to subjects at cardiometabolic risk ameliorates insulin sensitivity, without affecting other metabolic syndrome markers. Food & Function, 9(11), 6010–6019. https://doi.org/10.1039/C8FO01323C
- Martins, I. M., Roberto, B. S., Blumberg, J. B., Chen, C. Y. O., & Macedo, G. A. (2016). Enzymatic biotransformation of polyphenolics increases antioxidant activity of red and white grape pomace. Food Research International, 89, 533–539. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODRES.2016.09.009
- Matos, M. S., Romero-Díez, R., Álvarez, A., Bronze, M. R., Rodríguez-Rojo, S., Mato, R. B., Cocero, M. J., & Matias, A. A. (2019). Polyphenol-Rich Extracts Obtained from Winemaking Waste Streams as Natural Ingredients with Cosmeceutical Potential. Antioxidants 2019, Vol. 8, Page 355, 8(9), 355. https://doi.org/10.3390/ANTIOX8090355
- Meini, M. R., Cabezudo, I., Boschetti, C. E., & Romanini, D. (2019). Recovery of phenolic antioxidants from Syrah grape pomace through the optimization of an enzymatic extraction process. Food Chemistry, 283, 257–264. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2019.01.037
- Minjares-Fuentes, R., Femenia, A., Garau, M. C., Meza-Velázquez, J. A., Simal, S., & Rosselló, C. (2014). Ultrasound-assisted extraction of pectins from grape pomace using citric acid: A response surface methodology approach. Carbohydrate Polymers, 106(1), 179–189. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CARBPOL.2014.02.013
- Moro, K. I. B., Bender, A. B. B., da Silva, L. P., & Penna, N. G. (2021). Green Extraction Methods and Microencapsulation Technologies of Phenolic Compounds From Grape Pomace: A Review. Food and Bioprocess Technology 2021 14:8, 14(8), 1407–1431. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11947-021-02665-4
- Mosse, K. P. M., Patti, A. F., Christen, E. W., & Cavagnaro, T. R. (2011). Review: Winery wastewater quality and treatment options in Australia. Australian Journal of Grape and Wine Research, 17(2), 111–122. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1755-0238.2011.00132.X
- OIV (International Organisation of Vine and Wine). (2021). State of the World Vitivinicultural Sector in 2020. https://www.oiv.int/public/medias/7909/oiv-state-of-the-world-vitivinicultural-sector-in-2020.pdf

- Özvural, E. B., & Vural, H. (2011). Grape seed flour is a viable ingredient to improve the nutritional profile and reduce lipid oxidation of frankfurters. Meat Science, 88(1), 179–183. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MEATSCI.2010.12.022
- Pedras, B. M., Regalin, G., Sá-Nogueira, I., Simões, P., Paiva, A., & Barreiros, S. (2020). Fractionation of red wine grape pomace by subcritical water extraction/hydrolysis. The Journal of Supercritical Fluids, 160, 104793. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.supflu.2020.104793
- Pereira, D. T. V., Vollet Marson, G., Fernández Barbero, G., Gadioli Tarone, A., Baú Betim Cazarin, C., Dupas Hubinger, M., & Martínez, J. (2020). Concentration of bioactive compounds from grape marc using pressurized liquid extraction followed by integrated membrane processes. Separation and Purification Technology, 250, 117206. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seppur.2020.117206
- Pérez-Serradilla, J. A., & de Castro, M. D. L. (2008). Role of lees in wine production: A review. Food Chemistry, 111(2), 447–456. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODCHEM.2008.04.019
- Périno, S., Pierson, J. T., Ruiz, K., Cravotto, G., & Chemat, F. (2016). Laboratory to pilot scale: Microwave extraction for polyphenols lettuce. Food Chemistry, 204, 108–114. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODCHEM.2016.02.088
- Pezzini, V., Agostini, F., Smiderle, F., Touguinha, L., Salvador, M., & Moura, S. (2019). Grape juice by-products extracted by ultrasound and microwave-assisted with different solvents: a rich chemical composition. Food Science and Biotechnology, 28(3), 691. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10068-018-0531-X
- Pinelo, M., Rubilar, M., Jerez, M., Sineiro, J., & Núñez, M. J. (2005). Effect of solvent, temperature, and solvent-to-solid ratio on the total phenolic content and antiradical activity of extracts from different components of grape pomace. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 53(6), 2111–2117. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf0488110
- Pintać, D., Majkić, T., Torović, L., Orčić, D., Beara, I., Simin, N., Mimica–Dukić, N., & Lesjak, M. (2018). Solvent selection for efficient extraction of bioactive compounds from grape pomace. Industrial Crops and Products, 111, 379–390. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.INDCROP.2017.10.038
- Ramos-Romero, S., Léniz, A., Martínez-Maqueda, D., Amézqueta, S., Fernández-Quintela, A., Hereu, M., Torres, J. L., Portillo, M. P., & Pérez-Jiménez, J. (2021). Inter-Individual Variability in Insulin Response after Grape Pomace Supplementation in Subjects at High Cardiometabolic Risk: Role of Microbiota and miRNA. Molecular Nutrition & Food Research, 65(2), 2000113. https://doi.org/10.1002/MNFR.202000113
- Ribeiro, T., Fernandes, C., Nunes, F. M., Filipe-Ribeiro, L., & Cosme, F. (2014). Influence of the structural features of commercial mannoproteins in white wine protein stabilization and chemical and sensory properties. Food Chemistry, 159, 47–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODCHEM.2014.02.149
- Romulo, A. (2020). Extraction of Phenolic Compounds using Subcritical Hot Water Extraction: A Review. IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science, 426(1). https://doi.org/10.1088/1755-1315/426/1/012173
- Rubio, F. T. V., Haminiuk, C. W. I., Martelli-Tosi, M., da Silva, M. P., Makimori, G. Y. F., & Favaro-Trindade, C. S. (2020). Utilization of grape pomaces and brewery waste Saccharomyces cerevisiae for the production of bio-based microencapsulated pigments. Food Research International, 136, 109470. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODRES.2020.109470
- Salgado, J. M., Abrunhosa, L., Venâncio, A., Domínguez, J. M., & Belo, I. (2016). Combined bioremediation and enzyme production by Aspergillus sp. in olive mill and winery wastewaters.

International Biodeterioration & Biodegradation, 110, 16–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IBIOD.2015.12.011

- Santos, K. M. dos, Oliveira, I. C. de, Lopes, M. A., Cruz, A. P. G., Buriti, F. C., & Cabral, L. M. (2017). Addition of grape pomace extract to probiotic fermented goat milk: the effect on phenolic content, probiotic viability and sensory acceptability. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture, 97(4), 1108–1115. https://doi.org/10.1002/JSFA.7836
- Saurabh, C. K., Gupta, S., & Variyar, P. S. (2018). Development of guar gum based active packaging films using grape pomace. Journal of Food Science and Technology, 55(6), 1982–1992. https://doi.org/10.1007/S13197-018-3112-3/FIGURES/2
- Saura-Calixto, F. (2011). Dietary fiber as a carrier of dietary antioxidants: an essential physiological function. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 59(1), 43–49. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf1036596
- Shahidi, F., & Yeo, J. (2016). Insoluble-Bound Phenolics in Food. Molecules 2016, Vol. 21, Page 1216, 21(9), 1216. https://doi.org/10.3390/MOLECULES21091216
- Shinagawa, F. B., de Santana, F. C., Torres, L. R. O., & Mancini-Filho, J. (2015). Grape seed oil: a potential functional food? Food Science and Technology, 35(3), 399–406. https://doi.org/10.1590/1678-457X.6826
- Spinei, M., & Oroian, M. (2021). The Potential of Grape Pomace Varieties as a Dietary Source of Pectic Substances. Foods 2021, Vol. 10, Page 867, 10(4), 867. https://doi.org/10.3390/FOODS10040867
- Štambuk, P., Tomaškovic, D., Tomaškovic'1, T., Tomaz, I., Maslov, Luna, Stupic'1, D., Stupic'1, S., Jasminka, •, Kontic'1, K., & Kontic'1, K. (2016). Application of pectinases for recovery of grape seeds phenolics. 3 Biotech, 6. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13205-016-0537-0
- Šuković, D., Knežević, B., Gašić, U., Sredojević, M., Ćirić, I., Todić, S., Mutić, J., & Tešić, Ž. (2020). Phenolic Profiles of Leaves, Grapes and Wine of Grapevine Variety Vranac (Vitis vinifera L.) from Montenegro. Foods 2020, Vol. 9, Page 138, 9(2), 138. https://doi.org/10.3390/FOODS9020138
- Surini, S., Mubarak, H., & Ramadon, D. (2018). Cosmetic Serum Containing Grape (Vitis vinifera L.) Seed Extract Phytosome: Formulation and In Vitro Penetration Study. Journal of Young Pharmacists, 10(2s), s51–s55. https://doi.org/10.5530/jyp.2018.2s.10
- Taladrid, D., de Llano, D. G., Zorraquín-Peña, I., Tamargo, A., Silva, M., Molinero, N., Moreno-Arribas, M. V., & Bartolomé, B. (2021). Gastrointestinal Digestion of a Grape Pomace Extract: Impact on Intestinal Barrier Permeability and Interaction with Gut Microbiome. Nutrients 2021, Vol. 13, Page 2467, 13(7), 2467. https://doi.org/10.3390/NU13072467
- Tena, M., Luque, B., Perez, M., & Solera, R. (2020). Enhanced hydrogen production from sewage sludge by cofermentation with wine vinasse. International Journal of Hydrogen Energy, 45(32), 15977–15984. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJHYDENE.2020.04.075
- Terigar, B. G., Balasubramanian, S., Sabliov, C. M., Lima, M., & Boldor, D. (2011). Soybean and rice bran oil extraction in a continuous microwave system: From laboratory- to pilot-scale. Journal of Food Engineering, 104(2), 208–217. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JFOODENG.2010.12.012
- Tseng, A., & Zhao, Y. (2013). Wine grape pomace as antioxidant dietary fibre for enhancing nutritional value and improving storability of yogurt and salad dressing. Food Chemistry, 138(1), 356–365. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODCHEM.2012.09.148
- United Nations. (2019). Responsible consumption and production. In The sustainable development goals report 2019 (pp. 46–47). UN. https://doi.org/10.18356/34cef9e3-en

- Vidal, S., Francis, L., Williams, P., Kwiatkowski, M., Gawel, R., Cheynier, V., & Waters, E. (2004). The mouth-feel properties of polysaccharides and anthocyanins in a wine like medium. Food Chemistry, 85(4), 519–525. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0308-8146(03)00084-0
- Wang, J., Zhang, Y., Wang, H., & Huo, S. (2019). Evaluation of extraction technologies and optimization of microwave and ultrasonic assisted consecutive extraction of phenolic antioxidants from winery byproducts. Journal of Food Process Engineering, 42(4). https://doi.org/10.1111/jfpe.13064
- Yildirim, H. K., Akçay, Y. D., Güvenc, U., Altindişli, A., & Sözmen, E. Y. (2005). Antioxidant activities of organic grape, pomace, juice, must, wine and their correlation with phenolic content. International Journal of Food Science & Technology, 40(2), 133–142. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1365-2621.2004.00921.X
- Yilmaz, Y., & Toledo, R. T. (2003). Major Flavonoids in Grape Seeds and Skins: Antioxidant Capacity of Catechin, Epicatechin, and Gallic Acid. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 52(2), 255–260. https://doi.org/10.1021/JF030117H
- Yu, M., Yang, L., Xue, Q., Yin, P., Sun, L., & Liu, Y. (2019). Comparison of Free, Esterified, and Insoluble-Bound Phenolics and Their Bioactivities in Three Organs of Lonicera japonica and L. macranthoides. Molecules, 24(5). https://doi.org/10.3390/MOLECULES24050970
- Žlabur, J., Voća, S., Brnčić, M., & Rimac-Brnčić, S. (2018). New Trends in Food Technology for Green Recovery of Bioactive Compounds From Plant Materials. Role of Materials Science in Food Bioengineering, 1–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-811448-3.00001-2

<u>Chapter 2:</u> Revitalizing unfermented Cabernet Sauvignon pomace using an eco-friendly, two-stage countercurrent process: Role of pH on extractability of bioactive phenolics



Graphical abstract

Abstract

Cabernet Sauvignon grape pomace, an underutilized byproduct of the winemaking industry, remains an untapped source of valuable phenolic compounds. The aqueous extraction process (AEP) is an environmentally-friendly strategy that enables the extraction of phenolics from the grape cell-matrix without the use of harsh conventional solvents. To explore the effects of single-stage AEP parameters on the total phenolic content (TPC) of unfermented Cabernet Sauvignon grape pomace extracts, the concurrent impact of pH (2.64–9.36), solids-to-liquid ratio [SLR, g pomace/mL water] (1:50–1:5), and temperature (41.6–58.4 °C) was evaluated by a central composite rotatable design paired with a kinetic study to identify the effect of extraction

time (15–90 min) for each experimental condition. At optimum extraction conditions (pH 9.36, 1:50 SLR, 50 °C, and 75 min), a maximum TPC of 42.9 ± 2.22 mg GAE/g dry pomace was achieved. To reduce water consumption in the single-stage AEP without compromising its extractability, a two-stage countercurrent extraction process was designed using a 1:10 SLR at optimized extraction conditions (pH 9.36, 50 °C, and 75 min). Compared to the single-stage extraction, the countercurrent process increased the TPC of the extracts by 18%, improved the in vitro antioxidant activity of the extracts from 332 to 1058 µmol Trolox/g dry pomace (ABTS) and from 547 to 930 µmol Trolox/g dry pomace (ORAC), while reducing water consumption by 80%. Untargeted metabolomics enabled the identification of a diverse pool of phenolics associated with unfermented Cabernet Sauvignon pomace including an increase in the relative contents of flavonol glycosides in the countercurrent extract compared to single-stage AEP extract. This study provides an efficient, eco-friendly processing strategy for improving the extraction of phenolics from unfermented Cabernet Sauvignon pomace while maintaining ingredient bioactivity for potential applications in food, beverage, nutraceutical, and cosmetic industries.

Highlights

- Simultaneous optimization of pH, SLR, temperature, and reaction time enhanced TPC of wine grape pomace extracts
- Alkaline extraction resulted in the greatest recovery of phenolics from the grape cellmatrix
- Countercurrent extraction reduced water consumption by 80% and improved phenolic extraction by 18%
- Antioxidant activities and phenolic profiles were influenced by extraction conditions

Keywords

Grape pomace; aqueous; alkaline; aqueous extraction; countercurrent extraction; phenolics

2.1. Introduction

The state of California is a major global producer of wine grapes and their derived products. In 2020, California crushed over 3.5 million tons of grapes with red wine varieties accounting for over half of the total crush (California Department of Food and Agriculture, 2021). Cabernet Sauvignon grapes accounted for 14.1% of the total grape crush and 27.4% of red wine varieties alone (California Department of Food and Agriculture, 2021). In addition to traditional red and white wines, other styles like rosé and sparkling wines like "blanc de noir" (white wines made from red grapes) diversify wine grape applications (Hidalgo et al., 2004). However, the overall winemaking process generates tremendous sources of agricultural residues: leaves and stems remain after grape harvesting and destemming; seeds, skins, and pulp (collectively termed grape pomace or grape marc) remain after pressing; and lees, a sediment of yeast cells, remains after fermentation (Chowdhary et al., 2021; Oliveira & Duarte, 2016).

It is estimated that the grape pomace fraction represents approximately 20-30% of the total mass of pressed grapes (Saura-Calixto, 2011), which corresponds to 60% of the total winery solid waste (Oliveira & Duarte, 2016). While grape pomace can be diverted for use as animal feed, compost, fertilizer, distilled spirits, or grape seed oil, the associated issues such as poor animal digestibility and low nutrition, environmental toxicity, and processing costs have limited the effectiveness of these applications (Saura-Calixto, 2011). However, even after any of these diversion strategies are employed, a wide variety of valuable components remain in the grape pomace such as dietary fiber, unsaturated fatty acids, proteins, carbohydrates, minerals, organic acids, enzymes, and polyphenols (Chowdhary et al., 2021), evidencing the low biodegradability of grape pomace. Of particular interest for food, beverage, pharmaceutical, nutraceutical, and cosmetic industries are polyphenolic compounds due to their associated antioxidant, anti-

inflammatory, antimicrobial, prebiotic, and anti-carcinogenic properties (Costa et al., 2019; Sinrod et al., 2021; Teixeira et al., 2014). Therefore, the underutilization of wine grape pomace continues to provide opportunities for the development of novel valorization strategies that support economic feasibility and environmental sustainability.

The development of sustainable and effective phenolic extraction methods requires knowledge about the structure, form (i.e., free, esterified, or bound), and location of the compounds in the matrix. Grape pomace phenolics can be chemically bonded to grape cell wall carbohydrates and proteins or physically entrapped within the cellular matrix and other cellular organelles (Pinelo et al., 2006), requiring cleavage of the phenolic-protein or phenolicpolysaccharide complexes formed by hydrogen bonding and hydrophobic interactions. Traditionally, grape pomace bioactive compounds are obtained by multi-step solid-liquid extraction processes using flammable or hazardous solvents like ethanol, methanol, acetone, hexane, ethyl acetate, or combinations of these solvents with water and/or organic acids (Naczk & Shahidi, 2004; Nayak et al., 2018). Acid and alkaline hydrolysis have been used individually and sequentially to target the ester, ether, and glycosidic linkages between polyphenols and cell matrices (Acosta-Estrada et al., 2014; Arranz & Saura Calixto, 2010; Ding et al., 2020). While the use of traditional solvents typically results in substantial polyphenol extraction yields, the long extraction times, high extraction temperatures, and subsequent removal of these solvents for applications in food and drug products can be costly and laborious. With global authorities urgently prompting industries to adopt sustainable practices, integrate upcycling processes, and reduce losses along the supply chain, it is crucial to explore greener extraction methods for utilizing agricultural wastes.

The aqueous extraction process (AEP) is a simple, eco-friendly strategy that can fractionate plant materials into protein-, oil-, and fiber-rich fractions using water as the only solvent (de Moura et al., 2011; Rosenthal et al., 1996). Like conventional solvent extraction, AEP is frequently preceded by mechanical pretreatments such as milling, grinding, and blending to increase the surface area-to-volume ratio and improve the diffusion of compounds into the water (Zhao et al., 2014). Although AEP avoids the use of hazardous solvents, the use of dilute aqueous slurries in single-stage extractions (e.g., 1:50–1:200 g sample/mL solvent) demands additional energy-intensive and expensive concentration steps such as freeze-drying or spray drying to recover the target compounds from the solution. To mitigate the high water consumption needed to achieve high extraction yields in single-stage extractions, multi-stage countercurrent extractions, which involve contacting fresh material with a more saturated solvent from a previous extraction and the almost depleted solids with fresh solvent in a second extraction stage, have been successfully employed to reduce water usage and further increase extractability in soybean and green coffee processing (de Moura & Johnson, 2009; Souza Almeida et al. 2021).

Since aqueous extraction conditions inevitably affect polyphenolic yields and characteristics, the interactive effects of key extraction parameters (e.g., slurry pH, solids-toliquid ratio, temperature, and time) should be further explored to enhance the recovery of grape pomace phenolics with desired structure-function attributes. Additionally, specific winemaking methods for special products, like white wines made from red grapes, can also impart effects on phenolic profiles and antioxidant activities of the grape pomace extracts by providing a unique composition of tannins, anthocyanins, sugars, proteins, and minerals. Studies evaluating the

aqueous extraction of phenolics from Cabernet Sauvignon pomace collected prior to fermentation have not yet been reported.

Therefore, this study was designed to assess the simultaneous impact of key processing parameters on the extractability of grape pomace phenolics using a single-stage AEP and multistage AEP to reduce water usage while minimizing losses. It was hypothesized that optimized extraction conditions of the single-stage AEP could be used as the basis for the development of a multi-stage countercurrent extraction process resulting in a higher concentration gradient to drive molecular diffusion of phenolics to the extraction medium. To accomplish this goal, the present work: i) evaluated the simultaneous effect of pH, solids-to-liquid ratio, temperature, and time on the extractability of total phenolics from unfermented Cabernet Sauvignon grape pomace using single-stage AEP; ii) developed a two-stage countercurrent extraction system to reduce water consumption while maintaining aqueous extraction efficiency; and iii) measured the impact of extraction conditions and processes (single- and multi-stage) on phenolic composition and *in vitro* antioxidant properties of the grape pomace extracts for future food and health applications. An untargeted metabolomics approach was used to characterize the diverse pool of polyphenols associated with unfermented Cabernet Sauvignon pomace.

2.2. Materials and methods

2.2.1. Chemicals and reagents

Folin–Ciocalteu phenol reagent, Trolox[®], K₂O₈S₂ (potassium persulfate), 2,2'-Azobis(2methylpropionamidine) dihydrochloride (AAPH radical), 2,2'-Azino-bis(3-ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulfonic acid) diammonium salt (ABTS radical), D(+)-glucose, sulfuric acid, phenol, and fluorescein were acquired from Sigma-Aldrich (Saint Louis, MO, USA). Anhydrous sodium carbonate was purchased from VWR Chemicals, BDH[®] (Solon, OH, USA), and anhydrous gallic

acid was purchased from Chem-Impex International (Wood Dale, IL, USA). The phosphate buffer solution was obtained from bioWORLD (Dublin, OH, USA). Ethanol (95% v/v) was obtained from Decon Labs (King of Prussia, PA, USA).

2.2.2. Raw material

Cabernet Sauvignon grape pomace (Vitis vinifera L. cv. Cabernet Sauvignon) was generously provided by the University of California, Davis student winery (Davis, California, USA; approximate latitude: 38.532, longitude: -121.753). Grapes were harvested from the student vineyard in October 2019 and stored at -16 °C until January 2020 when production of a white Cabernet Sauvignon wine began. The grapes were thawed, crushed, destemmed, and pressed (Bucher Xplus 22, Bucher Vaslin North America, Santa Rosa, CA, USA) up to 1.6 psi to avoid excessive color extraction. The juice was subsequently racked and fermented for white wine production and the remaining material-a mix of skins, seeds, pulp, and stems-was stored at -20 °C until July 2020. Then, aliquots of the frozen sample were gathered, and any residual grape stem debris that remained from the destemming process was manually separated from the seeds, skins, and pulp. The seeds, skins, and pulp ("pomace") were homogenized to conform to likely industrial processing conditions. The pomace was blended for 10 minutes in a Vitamix 5200 blender (Vitamix, Cleveland, Ohio, USA) in batches of approximately four cups at a time then stored in bulk at -20 °C until further use. Prior to extraction, aliquots of the bulk frozen pomace were defrosted for 20 minutes at room temperature then ground to a paste using a mortar and pestle for approximately 5 minutes until fully homogenized. The grape pomace material was used fresh, without the use of a drying step as a pre-treatment, to reduce overall energy consumption and prevent potential degradation of phenolics through additional heating.

Proximate composition of the grape pomace was determined using standard methods. Total solids content was determined using AOAC Method 925.09 (AOAC, 2015), total ash by AOCS Method Ba 5a-49 (AOCS, 2017), and total lipids by AOAC Method 922.06 (AOAC, 2012). Total protein content was determined using the Dumas combustion method (Vario MAX cube, Elementar Analysensysteme GmbH, Langenselbold, Germany) with a nitrogen conversion factor of 6.25. Overall, the grape pomace contained 57.80 \pm 0.09% moisture, 2.86 \pm 0.07% protein, 1.87 \pm 0.02% ash, 1.03 \pm 0.09% lipids, and 36.4% carbohydrates (measured by difference).

2.2.3. Initial evaluation of the effects of the extraction pH on the aqueous extraction process (AEP) of grape pomace

To aid in the selection of extraction parameters studied in the AEP optimization experiments, the effect of slurry pH on total phenolic content was initially evaluated in a univariate study with pH values varying from pH 2–8. Grape pomace samples were dispersed in deionized water and the slurry pH was adjusted to 2, 4, 6, and 8 with dropwise (< 2 mL) additions of 0.5 M HCl or 0.5–1.0 M NaOH. The solids-to-liquid ratio (SLR) was maintained at 1:10 g pomace/mL water. Triplicate extractions were performed at each pH condition in a 50 °C water bath for 90 minutes with constant stirring at 185 rpm on a magnetic stir plate (CimarecTM i Telesystem Multipoint Stirrers, Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). After extraction, the solids were separated by centrifugation at 4000 rpm for 10 min at 22 °C followed by filtration (Whatman Grade 1 filter papers, Sigma-Aldrich, Saint Louis, MO, USA). Extracts were stored at -20 °C until further analysis.

2.2.4. Effect of conventional solvent extraction on TPC

Solid-liquid extractions were performed to determine the effect of conventional hydroethanolic solvent extraction on the total phenolic content of the grape pomace extracts.

Several solvent ratios were prepared by mixing 95% (v/v) ethanol in deionized water at 0, 20, 40, 60, 80, and 100% ethanol concentrations (v/v). The pH of pure deionized water and 95% ethanol were 4.87 and 5.45, respectively, while the pH of the hydroethanolic slurries (20–80% ethanol, v/v) were 3.85, 4.28, 4.77, and 5.68, respectively. Extractions and separations were performed in triplicate as described for the AEP (Section 2.3) (1:10 SLR at 50 °C with 175 rpm agitation for 90 min), and the extracts were stored at -20 °C until further analysis. To better compare the effectiveness of the conventional solvent extraction with the AEP, triplicate hydroethanolic extractions were also performed as described above at the optimum extraction conditions identified in the single-stage AEP (1:10 SLR, 50 °C, 75 min) using the selected 60% ethanol.

2.2.5. Understanding the simultaneous effect of extraction parameters in the single-stage AEP of grape pomace

The results of the preliminary pH screening in the AEP (Section 2.3) guided the selection of the broader pH range explored in the AEP optimization design. The concurrent effects of pH (2.64, 4.00, 6.00, 8.00, and 9.36), SLR (1:50.0, 1:17.7, 1:9.1, 1:6.1, and 1:5.0), and temperature (41.6, 45.0, 50.0, 55.0, and 58.4 °C) (Supplementary Materials—Table S2.1) on total phenolic content of single-stage AEP grape pomace extracts were evaluated by a central composite rotatable design totaling 17 experimental conditions (2³, with three repetitions in the central points and six axial points).

A kinetic study was performed for each extraction condition to determine the role of reaction time on phenolic extractability. During extraction, aliquots were collected at 15, 30, 45, 60, 75, and 90 min and immediately placed in an ice bath to inhibit further extraction. The total phenolic content was measured at each time point to develop corresponding reaction curves.

Extractions were performed by dispersing the grape pomace sample in 10 mL nanopure water to achieve the SLR determined by the experimental design (Supplementary Materials—

Table S2.1) (Figure 2.1). Slurry pH and reaction temperature were also adjusted according to the experimental design. After extraction, the slurry was centrifuged to separate the grape pomace extract as described in the above sections.



Figure 2.1. Process flow diagram for the single-stage AEP experiments evaluating the effect of pH (2.64–9.36), SLR (1:50.0–1:5.0), and temperature (41.6–58.4 °C) on grape pomace phenolic extraction.

2.2.6. Two-stage countercurrent AEP of grape pomace

To circumvent one of the main challenges of aqueous extraction processes, which is the use of large volumes of water to drive extraction, a two-stage countercurrent extraction process was developed for grape pomace to achieve high extraction yields with reduced water consumption (Figure 2.1). In this approach, a saturated phenolic extract resulting from a previous extraction was mixed with the addition of fresh grape pomace, while in the second extraction, fresh water was used to slurry the nearly depleted solids (insoluble fraction) produced from the first extraction. Based on the optimum extraction conditions identified for phenolic extraction using the single-stage AEP (pH 9.36, 1:50 SLR, 50 °C, 75 min) and the expected improvement in extractability when using higher SLR in the countercurrent approach, an intermediate SLR (1:10) and a shorter extraction time (45 min) were selected for the first extraction of the countercurrent process.

Each two-stage AEP trial was composed of three two-stage sequential extractions to enable adequate recycling of the extracts coming from the previous extraction. The entire countercurrent process was completed in a single day to prevent freeze-thaw cycles of the grape pomace material. Briefly, 1 g of freshly ground grape pomace was dispersed in water to achieve a 1:10 SLR, and the slurry pH was adjusted to 9.36. The first extraction was performed at 50 °C under constant stirring at 300 rpm for 45 min. The slurry was then centrifuged at 4000 rpm for 10 min at 22 °C to separate the solids (insoluble fraction A) from the extract (Figure 2.2). Subsequently, the insoluble fraction A was then dispersed into fresh water to achieve a 1:10 SLR in the second extraction (pH 9.36, 50 °C, 75 min). After extraction, the slurry was centrifuged to obtain extract B, which was then recycled as the solvent for the next extraction with fresh grape pomace. This two-step extraction was repeated two more times to complete one two-stage countercurrent trial. AEP trials were replicated three times and only samples collected from the last extraction of each AEP trial were analyzed (extract A).



Figure 2.2. Process flow diagram for the two-stage countercurrent AEP

2.2.7. Chemical analysis of extracts

2.2.7.1. Total phenolic content (TPC)

The total phenolic content of the extracts was determined according to the Folin-

Ciocalteu spectrophotometric method as described by Singleton et al. (1999). An aliquot of 25

 μ L of the grape pomace extracts (diluted 1:10, v/v, or 1:25, v/v, in nanopure water) and 125 μ L

of Folin-Ciocalteu:water solution (1:10, v/v, in nanopure water) were transferred to a clear 96-

well microplate. The mixture was agitated at 300 rpm for 5 minutes at 37 °C. Next, 100 μ L of 7.5% (w/v) anhydrous sodium carbonate solution was added and the mixture was agitated (300 rpm, 30 min, 37 °C) then kept at rest for 90 min in the dark at 37 °C. The absorbance was read at 760 nm using a microplate reader (SpectraMax iD5, Molecular Devices, San Jose, CA) and results were calculated using a standard curve of anhydrous gallic acid (R² = 0.999) with known concentrations of 5–95 μ g/mL. Results were expressed as mg of gallic acid equivalent (GAE)/g dry grape pomace extract. For the preliminary tests, duplicate measurements of each triplicate extract were performed (n = 6). For the optimization and kinetics experiments, triplicate measurements of each triplicate sample were performed (n = 9).

2.2.7.2. ABTS and ORAC assays for antioxidant capacity of the extracts

The ABTS assay for radical cation scavenging activity was performed as described by Al-Duais et al. (2009) with some modification. The radical stock solution was produced by mixing 38.4 mg ABTS and 6.62 mg K₂O₈S₂ (potassium persulfate) in 10 mL deionized water. The radical solution was incubated overnight at room temperature in the dark. After incubation, the radical stock solution was diluted with 95% (v/v) ethanol to obtain an initial absorbance of 0.70 ± 0.20 at 730 nm. The analysis was performed by pipetting 20 µL of each grape extract sample (diluted 1:30, v/v, in ethanol) into a clear 96-well microplate followed by the addition of 200 µL of fresh diluted ABTS^{*+} solution. A 20 µL sample of ethanol with 200 µL ABTS^{*+} solution was used as the control. The mixtures were agitated at 300 rpm for 6 min, then the microplate was read at 730 nm using a spectrophotometer (SpectraMax iD5; Molecular Devices, San Jose, CA, USA). A calibration curve ($R^2 = 0.98$) using Trolox standard solutions (80–340 µM, diluted in ethanol) was used to calculate the results as µmol Trolox equivalent (TE)/g dry pomace. The ORAC assay was performed according to the method described by Zulueta et al.

(2009). Briefly, 50 μ L of the control (phosphate buffer solution, pH 7.0, 75 mM), grape pomace extract (diluted 1:2000, v/v, in PBS), or standard (Trolox, 20 μ M, diluted in PBS) were added to the wells of a black 96-well microplate. A sample of 50 μ L of fluorescein (78 nM, diluted in PBS) was added, and the plate was agitated at 300 rpm for 15 min at 37 °C followed by the addition of 25 μ L of 221 mM AAPH radical solution. The plate was read using a microplate reader (SpectraMax iD5; Molecular Devices, San Jose, CA, USA) warmed to 37 °C, and set at an excitation wavelength of 485 nm and an emission wavelength of 535 nm. The fluorescence measurements were read every 5 min for 1 h. The results were calculated using Equation 1.1 and were converted to μ mol Trolox equivalent (TE)/g dried pomace.

$$\mu M \operatorname{Trolox} = \frac{C_{\operatorname{Trolox}}(AUC_{\operatorname{sample}} - AUC_{\operatorname{blank}}) * DF}{AUC_{\operatorname{Trolox}} - AUC_{\operatorname{blank}}}$$
(Equation 1.1)

Where C_{Trolox} represents the concentration of the standard (20 μ M), DF is the sample dilution factor (2000) and AUC represents the areas below the fluorescence decay curve of the sample, blank, or Trolox standard.

2.2.7.3. Untargeted phenolic profiling of the grape pomace extracts

Identification of grape pomace extract phenolic compounds was performed by the West Coast Metabolomics Center Central Services Core (UC Davis, Davis, CA, https://metabolomics.ucdavis.edu/core-services/assays-and-services) using a Q ExactiveTM HF-X Hybrid Quadrupole-OrbitrapTM Mass Spectrometer (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). Polyphenol identification and data processing were performed as described by Fiehn et al. (2008). A series of internal standards were added to the samples: Caffeine-d9, CUDA, daidzeind4, genistein-d4, trans-cinnamic acid-d5, and hippuric acid-d5. A concentration of 0.5 µg/mL of hippuric acid-d5 was used with all other standards concentrated at 1 µg/mL in resuspension mix. Samples were resuspended to 100 μ L with 0.5 μ L injected for ESI positive mode and 5 μ L for ESI negative mode (Supplementary Materials—Table S2.6). The reported peak heights were determined by dividing each metabolite peak by the sum of all peak heights for all identified metabolites for each sample.

2.2.8. Statistical analysis

All extractions and biological assays were performed in at least triplicate with the results expressed as mean \pm standard deviation (SD) of the replicates. Analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by Tukey HSD test was performed to determine significant differences among experiments at p < 0.05 using the Astatsa (2016, Navendu Vasavada) online program. For the CCRD optimization experiments, the R² and F-value for regression model significance were generated using the Protimiza Experimental Design® Software (http://experimentaldesign.protimiza.com.br). Statistica® (Version 13.3, TIBCO Software Inc., Palo Alto, CA, USA) was used to generate the response surface plot (Figure 2.5) and to determine ANOVA significance testing at p < 0.05. JMP® (Trial 16.1.0, serial number T-TYPQDH0JJC, SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA) was also used for ANOVA significance testing at p < 0.05.

2.3. Results and discussion

2.3.1. Effect of extraction pH on TPC of AEP grape pomace extracts

The effect of aqueous solvent pH on phenolic extractability has been minimally explored with varying results depending on the type of solvent used. The effect of slurry pH in the AEP was evaluated using a 1:10 SLR at 50 °C for 90 min. Overall, TPC of the extracts significantly increased as the extraction pH increased from 2 to 8 (Figure 2.3A). The maximum TPC of 11.77 \pm 0.33 mg GAE/g dry pomace was achieved at pH 8 (Figure 2.3A) with no significant difference

(p > 0.05) between the TPC of extracts obtained at pH 2 (7.33 \pm 0.49 mg GAE/g dry pomace) and pH 4 (6.77 \pm 0.59 mg GAE/g dry pomace). However, both acidic extraction conditions resulted in extracts with significantly lower TPC than the ones obtained at pH 6 (8.57 \pm 0.09 mg GAE/g dry pomace) and pH 8 (11.77 \pm 0.33 mg GAE/g dry pomace). These results suggest that aqueous extraction at alkaline pH has a significant role in improving the phenolic extractability from grape pomace.

Our results are in agreement with the literature, where Librán et al. (2013) evaluated the effects of a range of extraction pH (2, 5.33, 8.66, and 12) and hydroethanolic concentrations (0, 25, 50, 75, and 100% ethanol, v/v) on the extraction of polyphenols from Tempranillo grape pomace at 25 °C and incubation time of 2 h. At 0% ethanol, a five-fold increase in TPC was observed when the pH of the extracting media (i.e., water) was adjusted from pH 2 (4.58 mg GAE/g dry sample) to pH 12 (28.06 mg GAE/g dry sample). However, at higher ethanol concentrations (50, 75, and 100%), alkaline conditions generated significantly (p < 0.01) lower TPC compared with acidic conditions. It is possible that the use of alkaline pH at high hydroethanolic concentrations may degrade phenolic acids due to the low solubility of the carboxylic acid groups in their anionic forms (Oreopoulou et al., 2019).

The phenolic extraction mechanism under alkaline conditions is believed to target the release of bound phenolics from the plant cell wall by cleaving ester and ether linkages to polysaccharides, fibers, lignin, and proteins (Arranz et al., 2009). On the other hand, acid hydrolysis targets glycosidic linkages to phenolics but typically leaves ester linkages intact (Acosta-Estrada et al., 2014). Because of the key role of pH on enhancing TPC in the AEP, the simultaneous effects of a wider pH range, SLR, and temperature was further evaluated for the single-stage AEP.

2.3.2. Effect of ethanol concentration on TPC of conventional solvent extracts

Hydroethanolic solvents (0, 20, 40, 60, 80, and 100% ethanol in water) were evaluated in parallel for their effect on the TPC of grape pomace to better understand the yields and trends of conventional solvent extraction compared to AEP. The use of mono-component solvents produced the lowest phenolic yields (Figure 2.3B), while increasing ethanol concentrations from 0 to 60% resulted in increasing TPC of the grape pomace extracts $(8.31 \pm 0.11 \text{ to } 27.48 \pm 0.96 \text{ mg GAE/g dry pomace})$ with no significant difference in TPC between 40 and 60% ethanol (Figure 2.3B). It is likely that increasing ethanol concentrations up to 60% promoted phenolic extraction by enhancing solvent permeability and solubility of the grape skin and seed phenolics with the addition of heat (50 °C). Compared to the AEP at pH 8, which resulted in an extract TPC of 11.77 \pm 0.33 mg GAE/g dry pomace, the use of 60% ethanol (v/v) at acidic pH conditions increased the TPC of the extract to 27.48 \pm 0.96 mg GAE/g dry pomace. However, at ethanolic concentrations beyond 60%, the TPC of the extracts declined with the decrease in solvent polarity to 12.98 \pm 0.32 mg GAE/g dry pomace at 100% ethanol (v/v).

A hydroethanolic mixture of 60% ethanol (v/v) was therefore selected as the representative conventional solvent for this study, which reflects findings in the literature that report improvements in phenolic extraction at hydroethanolic mixtures at or above 50% ethanol. In a previous study, a maximum TPC of 28 mg GAE/g dried Muscadine seed powder was achieved when using 50, 60, or 70% ethanol (1:10 SLR, 30 min, ambient temperature) (Yilmaz & Toledo, 2006).



Figure 2.3. Effects of extraction pH on the TPC of AEP extracts (A) and ethanol concentration on the TPC of extracts produced by conventional solvent extraction (B). Extractions were conducted using a 1:10 SLR at 50 °C for 90 min. Different letters represent significant differences in TPC (p < 0.05) across the extraction treatments. Data represent the mean \pm one standard deviation of triplicates.

2.3.3. Simultaneous effect of extraction parameters on TPC of single-stage AEP

The results of the preliminary aqueous extraction exploring the effect of slurry pH helped guide the selection of the pH range for the CCRD optimization study, while the SLR and temperature parameters were determined by a review of the literature. The CCRD evaluated the effects of extraction pH, solids-to-liquid ratio, and temperature while the kinetic study evaluated the role of the extraction time on phenolic extractability (Figure 2.4). Overall, the TPC of AEP extracts ranged from 5.10 ± 0.03 (Experiment #12 at 15 min) to 36.76 ± 0.55 mg GAE/g dry pomace (Experiment #10 at 90 min) (Figure 2.4).



Figure 2.4. Simultaneous impact of pH (2.64–9.36), SLR (1:5.0–1:50.0), and temperature (41.6 $^{\circ}C$ –58.4 $^{\circ}C$) on the TPC of grape pomace extracts from the single-stage AEP at different reaction times. Data represent mean ± SD of triplicate extractions.

Regardless of the extraction time from 15 to 90 min, three experimental conditions yielded high total phenolic contents: Experiment #10 (28.64–36.76 mg GAE/g dry pomace, pH 9.36, 1:9.1 SLR, 50 °C), Experiment #6 (25.47–32.09 mg GAE/g dry pomace, pH 8.00, 1:17.7 SLR, 55 °C), and Experiment #2 (21.51–23.27 mg GAE/g dry pomace, pH 8.00, 1:17.7 SLR, 45 °C) (Supplementary Materials—Table S2.2). Similarities between these experiments highlight the role of alkaline conditions in phenolic extraction, and as a result, may suggest that the use of alkaline pH can compensate for changes in the other processing conditions like lower temperatures. In another study evaluating grape marc phenolic extraction kinetics using 50%

ethanol, the equilibrium concentration was achieved after 60 min of extraction at 40 °C, 45 min at 50 °C, and 30 min at 60 °C using a 1:50 SLR (Sant'Anna et al., 2012). These results suggest that lower temperatures required longer extraction times to reach equilibrium, yet the results of the present study suggest that the pH parameter may play a stronger role than extraction time and temperature in increasing phenolic yields. Analysis of the extraction kinetics in Figure 2.4 and the TPC in Supplementary Materials—Table S2.2 shows a general upward trend in the TPC of grape pomace extracts up to 75 min with a limited change in phenolic extractability at 90 min. Therefore, it was concluded that the magnitude of any TPC increase from 75 min to 90 min was too small to warrant the additional 15 min of extraction time. Based on these results, 75 min was selected as the extraction time at which to develop the regression model and response surface plot.

The regression model at 75 min [TPC (mg GAE/g dry pomace) = $10.72 + 7.26x_1 + 4.33x_1^2 - 3.41x_2 + 0.95x_3 - 1.73x_1x_2$] was reparametrized to include only variables significant at p < 0.05 (Figure 2.5). The regression model [F_{calculated} (94.3) > F_{tabulated} (3.2)] and F-test [F_{calculated} (53.1) > F_{tabulated} (19.4)] were both statistically significant at p < 0.05 (Supplementary Materials—Table S2.3). The lack of fit in the model can be explained by the small variation in the replicates (central points), which causes a very low pure error. The regression model was able to explain 98% of the variation between the predicted and experimental TPC at 75 min, and experimental yields were relatively similar to the predicted values using the regression model (Supplementary Materials—Table S2.4). At extraction conditions resulting in higher phenolic yields, a low percent error (below |9%|) was observed, which supports the high predictability of the model within the range evaluated.



Figure 2.5. Response surface plot showing the effect of (A) SLR vs. pH, (B) Temperature (°C) vs. pH, and (C) Temperature (°C) vs. SLR on the TPC of grape pomace extracts in single-stage AEP after 75 min

The total phenolic content of the grape pomace extracts was largely influenced by pH, specifically at more alkaline pH, as observed by its large and positive coefficient (x_1) . The substantial impact of alkaline pH on TPC is also reflected by the quadratic term (x_1^2) . Previous literature exploring the use of alkaline hydrolysis for the extraction of grape pomace phenolics is scarce, although there are reports of using alkaline conditions paired with solvent purification to improve phenolic extraction from other agricultural byproducts like apple pomace and cranberry pomace (Li et al., 2020; White et al., 2010). Alkaline conditions have been shown to release bound phenolics by cleaving linkages between plant cell wall carbohydrates and structural proteins, which creates a more porous cell structure that aids in the solubilization of phenolics into the surrounding solvent (Shahidi & Yeo, 2016). Despite the benefits of using alkaline conditions to release bound phenolics, the time of extraction reported in previous studies is lengthy, which hinders the feasibility of this technique at the industrial scale. For this reason, the selected AEP extraction time of 75 min is advantageous compared to previous literature that recommends exposure of grape pomace to 0.01 M NaOH for 24 h at room temperature (Campos et al., 2021). In addition, although some polyphenols have shown degradation at elevated pH

conditions due to oxidation (Friedman & Jürgens, 2000), it is apparent that the benefits of alkaline hydrolysis at optimal conditions can compensate for potential losses in phenolic yields.

Since grape pomace polyphenols are heat-sensitive compounds that are vulnerable to oxidative degradation during extended extraction periods, the effect of extraction temperature was also explored. The role of extraction temperature seemed to be outweighed by the influence of pH and solids-to-liquid ratio based on the results from the regression analysis of the data. Its small coefficient (x₃) suggests a weaker influence of extraction temperature on TPC within the range evaluated. Higher temperatures are responsible for enhancing mass transfer, cell wall permeability, and solubility of target compounds, thus reducing solvent viscosity and in turn shortening extraction times (Oreopoulou et al., 2019). However, the extraction yields of certain polyphenols and their biological properties can begin to decline at mild temperatures around 60 °C (Liyanapathirana & Shahidi, 2005). Even extraction pre-treatments like drying have reduced total extractable polyphenols in grape pomace at temperatures of 100 and 140 °C (Larrauri et al., 1997). On the other hand, temperatures that are too low can hinder mass transfer, require lengthy extraction timelines, and increase the decomposition of polyphenols by oxidation (Spigno et al., 2007). Therefore, the selection of 50 °C is consistent with previous studies that support moderate heat applications for phenolic extraction.

Finally, our results support the use of low SLRs (reduced solids, more water), as evidenced by the moderately large and negative coefficient of X_2 (SLR), to improve phenolic extractability. The beneficial effect of reduced SLR on phenolic extraction has been attributed to the accelerated mass transfer caused by the large concentration gradient between solvent and solute (Oreopoulou et al., 2019). The results of the present study show that the grape pomace slurries that were more concentrated (i.e., 1:5 g pomace/mL water) produced extracts with lower

phenolic content in part due to a lower concentration gradient and slower diffusion of solutes to the solvent. The selection of the 1:50 SLR as the optimal condition agrees with previous literature (Nayak et al., 2018). Importantly, the interaction of both pH and SLR was significant at p < 0.05, which reinforces the positive influence of both dilute solutions and alkaline pH on TPC. The response surface plot (Figure 2.5) illustrates that a wide temperature range (e.g, 40–60 °C) is favorable for improving phenolic yields as long as the pH of the solution is strongly alkaline (pH > 9.0) and the SLR is small (SLR < 0.03, diluted solution). According to the regression model, the best conditions were identified as pH 9.36, 1:50 SLR, 50 °C, and 75 min (Figure 2.5). To validate the adequacy of the predictive model, the optimal single-stage AEP condition (pH 9.36, 1:50, 50 °C, 75 min) was validated in triplicate. Experimental validation yielded a TPC of 42.9 \pm 2.22 mg GAE/g dry pomace, which was similar to the TPC predicted by the regression model (45.8 mg GAE/g dry pomace).

In comparison to the maximum TPC from the CCRD ($36.76 \pm 0.55 \text{ mg GAE/g dry}$ pomace at pH 9.36, 1:9.1 SLR, 50 °C, and 90 min), the optimized extraction condition improved yields and reduced extraction time by approximately 17%. However, under optimum conditions, a more dilute solution was required to achieve high TPC with respect to the initial condition, requiring over a five-fold increase in the volume of water used. For this reason, a two-stage countercurrent extraction process was performed to determine the efficacy of reducing water consumption without diminishing the phenolic yields.

2.3.4. Selecting the SLR for the development of the multistage countercurrent AEP

Because increasing SLR led to reduced phenolic extraction in the single-stage AEP, the predictive model generated for the single-stage AEP was used to determine a theoretical TPC of extracts at additional SLRs within the range evaluated in the experimental design. Extraction pH

(9.36, coded variable = 1.68) and temperature (50 °C, coded variable = 0) were kept fixed, while

the SLR varied.

	Validated single-stage AEP conditions	Theoretical single-stage AEP at varying SLR conditions								
SLR (1:x)	1:50	1:45	1:40	1:35	1:30	1:25	1:20	1:15	1:10	1:5
Uncoded SLR	0.020	0.022	0.025	0.029	0.033	0.040	0.050	0.070	0.100	0.200
Coded SLR	-1.68	-1.64	-1.59	-1.52	-1.43	-1.31	-1.12	-0.802	-0.187	1.68
10.72	10.7	10.7	10.7	10.7	10.7	10.7	10.7	10.7	10.7	10.7
7.26x ₁	12.2	12.2	12.2	12.2	12.2	12.2	12.2	12.2	12.2	12.2
$4.33x_1^2$	12.3	12.3	12.3	12.3	12.3	12.3	12.3	12.3	12.3	12.3
-3.41x ₂	5.7	5.6	5.4	5.2	4.9	4.5	3.8	2.7	0.6	-5.7
0.95x ₃	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
$-1.73x_1x_2$	4.9	4.8	4.6	4.4	4.2	3.8	3.3	2.3	0.5	-4.9
Predicted TPC	45.8	45.6	45.2	44.8	44.2	43.5	42.3	40.3	36.4	24.6

Table 2.1. Effect of increasing the slurry SLR on the predicted TPC of aqueous extracts

 produced by the single-stage AEP

As observed in Table 2.1, the theoretical phenolic extraction decreases from 45.8 to 24.6 mg GAE/g dry pomace when the SLR increases from 1:50 to 1:5. Based on the predicted TPC of the nine theoretical scenarios, a SLR of 1:10 was selected for the two-stage countercurrent extraction process. The predicted TPC of a single-stage AEP using a 1:10 SLR was 36.4 mg GAE/g dry pomace, which offers an 80% reduction in water compared to the 1:50 SLR used in the optimized extraction condition while still maintaining impressive phenolic yields. It was predicted that the use of the lowest SLR, 1:5 g pomace/mL water, would generate a highly viscous slurry that could impede the diffusion of compounds into the solvent due to solvent saturation. Therefore, a 1:10 SLR was used in the development of the two-stage countercurrent extraction to determine whether this reduction in water usage would impact phenolic yields.

2.3.5. Two-stage countercurrent extraction of phenolics from grape pomace

For the two-stage countercurrent AEP, extractions were performed at pH 9.36, 1:10 SLR, 50 °C, and 45 min in the first extraction followed by 75 min in the second extraction. The total

phenolic content of the extracts from the two-stage countercurrent AEP are shown in Table 2.2 in comparison to the single-stage AEP and a conventional solvent control. The TPC of the two-stage countercurrent AEP ($50.5 \pm 1.16 \text{ mg GAE/g dry pomace}$) was significantly greater (p < 0.05) than the yield from the optimized single-stage AEP ($42.9 \pm 2.22 \text{ mg GAE/g dry pomace}$) but significantly lower than the TPC of the extract from conventional solvent extraction ($62.5 \pm 1.27 \text{ mg GAE/g dry pomace}$). Overall, the two-stage countercurrent AEP resulted in an 18% increase in TPC of the extracts, compared to the single-stage AEP, while simultaneously reducing water consumption by 80%.

Table 2.2. TPC and antioxidant activities of validated single-stage AEP, two-stage countercurrent AEP, and conventional solvent extraction

	TPC (mg GAE/g dry pomace)		ABTS (µmol TE/g dry pomace)	ORAC (µmol TE/g dry pomace)	
	Predicted*	Experimental**			
Validated single-stage AEP pH 9.36, 1:50 SLR, 50 °C, 75 min	45.8 ^a	42.9 ± 2.22^{bC}	$332\pm10.1^{\rm C}$	547 ± 44.5^B	
Two-stage countercurrent extraction pH 9.36, 1:10 SLR, 50 °C, 45/75 min	-	50.5 ± 1.16^B	1058 ± 13.9^B	930 ± 168.0^B	
Conventional solvent extraction 60% ethanol, 1:10 SLR, 50 °C, 75 min	-	62.5 ± 1.27^A	1112 ± 4.1^{A}	3005 ± 480.1^{A}	

*Predicted TPC from regression model. **Experimental TPC from triplicate extractions. Different lowercase letters in the same row indicate significant (p < 0.05) differences between the predicted and experimental TPC of the optimized single-stage AEP. Different uppercase letters in the same column indicate significant (p < 0.05) differences in TPC or antioxidant activities between extraction methods

In the countercurrent process, the nearly depleted insoluble fiber-rich fraction from the first extraction was re-extracted with fresh water, which increased the concentration gradient of the system and favored mass transfer and overall phenolic extractability even at a higher SLR. This strategy enriches the final extract with a concentrated solution of bioactive compounds while also reducing the volume of fresh water needed to propel diffusion.
2.3.6. Antioxidant activity of single-stage and two-stage countercurrent AEP grape pomace extracts

The *in vitro* antioxidant activities of the grape pomace extracts were explored to provide insight into their potential radical scavenging applications in food, pharmaceutical, or cosmetic applications. As shown in Table 2.2, grape pomace extracts with higher TPC also showed higher antioxidant activities by both ABTS and ORAC radical scavenging methods. Both antioxidant assays were evaluated in this study to provide a more representative characterization of the antioxidant activity of the grape pomace extracts since their mechanisms of action are different. The ABTS method is a spectrophotometric assay that measures the single-electron transfer (SET) from the polyphenolic compounds in the grape pomace extract to the ABTS free radical (Speisky et al., 2017). The ORAC method is a fluorometric assay that utilizes a hydrogen atom transfer (HAT) reaction to terminate free radical propagation. The ORAC method is also considered more biologically relevant than the ABTS method since it measures the decomposition of peroxyl radicals similar to those generated from protein and lipid oxidation (Speisky et al., 2017)

The extract from the two-stage countercurrent process was over three times more powerful at inhibiting the ABTS radical compared to the single-stage AEP extract and exhibited a similar magnitude compared to the conventional solvent extract. A similar trend was observed with the ORAC method, where a 70% increase in antioxidant potential was observed when moving from the single-stage AEP to the countercurrent AEP, although the conventional solvent extract presented a significantly higher antioxidant potential.

The positive correlation between TPC and antioxidant activity by ABTS and ORAC methods has been well reported for grape and other fruit extracts (Dudonné et al., 2019; Ky & Teissedre, 2015; Monagas et al., 2005), and our data agree with the magnitude of the antioxidant potential reported using both ABTS and ORAC methods. Ky & Teissedre (2015) compared the

antioxidant activity of red grape skin and seed extracts from aqueous and 70% ethanol extractions performed at 1:3.5 SLR, 50 °C, and 60 min. The antioxidant activity of the aqueous skin and seed extracts ranged from 668–2433 µmol Trolox/g dry weight using the ABTS method and from 1034–2231 µmol Trolox/g dry weight using the ORAC method. Ethanol extractions showed higher antioxidant capacities, similar to the present study, with an ABTS range of 1923– 3601 µmol Trolox/g dry weight and an ORAC range of 1239-2614 µmol Trolox/g dry weight.

Despite these similarities, direct comparisons between analyses are complicated, since the TPC and antioxidant activity of grape pomace extracts can differ due to grape cultivar, climate, soil type, winery scale, drying and storage conditions, type of pomace material tested (individual or mixed components: skins, seeds, stems, pulp), and extraction conditions used. Winemaking methods can also affect grape pomace composition, and subsequently, the phenolic profile and biological activity of the extracts. For example, the Cabernet Sauvignon pomace used in this study was collected prior to fermentation, so high residual sugars were expected, which influences the concentrations and forms of the insoluble-bound phenolics and their activities. In addition, the grapes were pressed at low pressure (1.6 psi), which contributes not only to residual moisture in the grape skins, but also to residual color (i.e., anthocyanins), which are strongly correlated to both *in vivo* and *in vitro* antioxidant capacity (Lingua et al., 2015; Valls et al., 2017).

2.3.7. Phenolic composition of Cabernet Sauvignon grape pomace extracts

An untargeted metabolomics approach was used to screen for phenolic compounds in the single-stage AEP, two-stage countercurrent AEP, and hydroethanolic extracts of the unfermented Cabernet Sauvignon pomace. The untargeted method allows for a broader screening and identification of a more diversified pool of phenolics associated with unfermented Cabernet

Sauvignon grape skins and seeds. Overall, the hydroethanolic extracts from conventional solvent extraction presented the most diverse polyphenolic profile with 33 identified and annotated compounds followed by the extracts from the two-stage countercurrent AEP (18 identified and annotated compounds) and the single-stage AEP (15 identified and annotated compounds) (Figure 2.6). Single-stage and two-stage AEP extracts showed similar phenolic compositions and were mainly composed of hydroxycinnamic acids, hydroxybenzoic acids, and flavonols. There were fewer identifications of these classes in the hydroethanolic extract, which was richer in anthocyanins and flavanols (Figure 2.6). Further improvements in aqueous extraction methods are warranted to target the recovery of anthocyanins and flavan-3-ols, which can improve the antioxidant activities of grape pomace extracts and provide various human health benefits (Monrad et al., 2014).

In the single-stage AEP extracts, the compounds with the highest relative contents were isomers of trans-melilotoside followed by gentisic acid 5-O-glucoside, isorhamnetin 3-galactoside, and myricitrin (Supplementary Materials—Table S2.5). These compounds were also the major constituents of the extracts from two-stage countercurrent extraction (Figure 2.6). Melilotoside is a precursor of coumarin and is stored as a glucoside of trans-2-coumaric acid in plant vacuoles (Liu et al., 2010). In wine grapes, melilotoside can undergo innate enzymatic or photochemical isomerization to form coumaric acid and coumarin (Hroboňová & Sádecká, 2020). As secondary plant metabolites, coumarins have exhibited antibacterial, antifungal, anti-inflammatory, and antioxidant activities (Borges et al., 2005). Gentisic acid is one of the most prominent hydroxybenzoic acids in wine grapes and is associated with anticholinesterase activity (Stój et al., 2019). The presence of its glycosidic form in all three extraction treatments reflects the abundance of sugars in the extracts due to the grape pomace being collected prior to

fermentation, and an increase in the relative content of gentisic acid in the two-stage countercurrent process is likely due to the enrichment of the extracting media driving further diffusion. Isorhamnetin 3-galactoside, a derivative of quercetin, was more abundant in the countercurrent sample compared to the samples from single-stage AEP or conventional solvent extraction. The presence of these flavonols in red wine grapes has been further explored by Castillo-Muñoz et al. (2007) and Marchante et al. (2018). Myricitrin is a rhamnose glycoside of myricetin that has been associated with the biosynthesis of anthocyanins in grapes (Niu et al., 2016).

Unique to the two-stage countercurrent process compared to the single-stage AEP were the identification and annotation of p-coumaric acid, vanillic acid glucoside, and astilbin (Supplementary Materials—Table S2.5), which increased the presence of hydroxycinnamic and hydroxybenzoic acids in the countercurrent sample (Figure 2.6). Astilbin has been identified and quantified in Cabernet Sauvignon wine by (Landrault et al., 2002). The two-stage countercurrent process may have enhanced the structural degradation of the grape matrix and aided phenolic release by improving the solubilization of these additional compounds.

Naringenin 7-O-glucoside, also known as prunin, was identified in the hydroethanolic extract, but not in the AEP extracts (Supplementary Materials—Table S2.5). Naringenin is a major citrus flavanone displaying antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties (Alam et al., 2014). It has been identified in Chardonnay white wines by Rocchetti et al. (2018) in a comprehensive study using untargeted metabolomics, and it was also reported in commercial dried Cabernet pomace (Ramirez-Lopez & DeWitt, 2014) and in Sercial and Tinta Negra grape skins (Perestrelo et al., 2012). Epicatechins, catechins, and procyanidins were also identified exclusively in the hydroethanolic extracts (Supplementary Materials—Table S2.5). The

identification of catechin isomers in the hydroethanolic extract may be due to the higher stability and better dissolution of these flavanols in ethanol compared to water due to the lower polarity and dielectric constant of ethanol (Cuevas-Valenzuela et al., 2014). While epicatechin gallate and catechin are more prominent in the grape skins, the procyanidin dimers and trimers are prevalent in grape seeds. The high relative content of procyanidin B2 in the hydroethanolic extract reflects previous results by Shi et al. (2003), where increasing ethanolic concentrations to 50% (v/v) improved extraction of procyanidin dimers from grape seed meal.

Other notable changes in phenolic composition across extraction treatments include the identification of malvidin 3,5-diglucoside in only the hydroethanolic extract, which may be due to better stability of anthocyanins at less alkaline conditions (Supplementary Materials—Table S2.5). Salviaflaside, a phenolic acid glycoside that is most notably recognized in Prunella vulgaris, was also identified in the grape pomace sample extracted with ethanol (Supplementary Materials—Table S2.5). This compound has not yet been widely reported in Cabernet Sauvignon grape pomace.

Trans-piceid, a glucoside of resveratrol, was found in all three treatments. Trans-piceid has been identified in red and white wines and can be converted to resveratrol by glucosidase activity in the intestine (Sato et al., 1997; Vian et al., 2005), which highlights the role of human digestion in transforming polyphenols into different functional forms. Secoisolariciresinol, the lignan commonly found in flaxseeds, was also identified in all three grape pomace extracts with an increase in its relative content in the countercurrent method. The presence of secoisolariciresinol in wine has also been reported by Dadáková et al. (2021). The liberation of this lignan from the grape cell-matrix in the present study is likely due to alkaline hydrolysis,

which has been widely used to release secoisolariciresinol from flaxseed complexes by breaking ester linkages (Fuentealba et al., 2015)

Overall, the use of untargeted profiling allowed for the discovery of compounds present in the unfermented Cabernet Sauvignon pomace that may have been otherwise overlooked by targeted approaches driven by a few select standard compounds. Notably, the use of red wine grape pomace sourced from a white winemaking process presents a unique scenario that allowed for the analysis of red wine abundant polyphenols (e.g., anthocyanins) alongside compounds that were not yet degraded by fermentation, as represented by the abundance of phenolic glycosides in the extracts like gentisic acid 5-O-glucoside and isorhamnetin 3-galactoside. The findings of this study support the valorization of red wine grape pomace for applications where diverse biological activity and functionality are desired, such as exploiting the antidiabetic properties of the phenolic-polysaccharide conjugates (Campos et al., 2021). While the current data highlights the impact of processing conditions on the extraction of selected phenolics, methods that provide absolute quantification of the major phenolic components must be employed to determine the exact concentrations in the sample.



Figure 2.6. Phenolic composition of validated single-stage AEP, two-stage countercurrent AEP, and conventional solvent extracts as identified by untargeted metabolomics

2.4. Conclusions

An environmentally-friendly, two-stage countercurrent method for extracting phenolics from unfermented red wine grape pomace was successfully designed using alkaline conditions while reducing overall water consumption by 80%. The countercurrent extraction process enabled the extraction of phenolic acids, flavonols, and flavones from the grape cell-matrix with unique identifications of compounds that have not yet been widely associated with red wine grape skins and seeds. Until this study, there existed limited evidence of the effect of alkaline hydrolysis on enhancing phenolic release from unfermented Cabernet Sauvignon grape pomace. Additionally, this report highlights the role of untargeted metabolomics in elucidating the polyphenolic profile of the red wine grape pomace feedstock resulting from a white winemaking process. Overall, this study serves as a proof-of-concept for the use of a multi-stage countercurrent extraction process at alkaline conditions to produce valuable, solvent-free, and antioxidant-rich extracts from underexplored winemaking waste streams. The benefits of alkaline conditions and the recirculation of processing streams in the countercurrent process were explicitly emphasized in this study, but the mechanism of phenolic release from the grape cell-matrix should be further explored to develop a deeper understanding of alkali-based extractions, the stability of the extracts, and the *in vivo* efficacy of products that incorporate the extracts as bioactive ingredients. Future research should also evaluate the economic feasibility of large-scale countercurrent designs at alkaline conditions to valorize winemaking byproducts and other agrifood waste streams for a variety of industrial applications.

2.5. Acknowledgments

Thank you to Leticia Chacon Rodriguez, Head Winemaker and Winery Manager at UC Davis Department of Viticulture and Enology, for her assistance in acquiring the grape pomace sample and detailing the processing history. The graphical abstract was created with BioRender.com under license agreement number MA23OHAGBD on March 15, 2022.

2.6. Supplementary Materials

Variablas			Levels		
v arrables	-1.68	-1	0	+1	+1.68
X ₁ : pH	2.64	4.00	6.00	8.00	9.36
X ₂ : SLR (g pomace/mL water)	1:50	1:17.7	1:9.1	1:6.1	1:5
X ₃ : Temperature (°C)	41.6	45.0	50.0	55.0	58.4

Table S2.1. Variables and levels of the central composite rotatable design (CCRD) for the optimization of total phenolic content from wine grape pomace extracts

Experiment	Variable	e levels: Uncode	d (Coded)			TPC (mg G	AE/g dry grape pomace)	
тураллан	X ₁ (pH)	X ₂ (SLR)	X ₃ (°C)	15 min	30 min	45 min	60 min	75 min
1	4.00 (-1)	1:17.7 (-1)	45.0 (-1)	$7.77\pm0.12^{\rm \ nopq}$	7.73 ± 0.15 mmopqr	8.01 ± 0.16 lmnop	8.67± 0.10 ^{jkl}	9.60 ± 0.37 ^{fghi}
2	8.00(1)	1:17.7 (-1)	45.0 (-1)	$21.51\pm0.43^{\mathrm{J}}$	19.81 ± 0.43 ^K	$22.13\pm0.48~^{\rm J}$	$22.06 \pm 0.10^{\mathrm{J}}$	$24.24\pm0.00^{\mathrm{H}}$
3	4.00 (-1)	1:6.1 (1)	45.0 (-1)	$5.90 \pm 0.02 \text{ xyzl}^{(0)}$	$5.83\pm0.04^{yzl@\#}$	$5.49 \pm 0.25^{(\!0\!)\#}$	5.56 ± 0.04 ¹⁰⁰⁰	$6.55\pm0.05~^{\rm tuvwxy}$
4	8.00(1)	1:6.1 (1)	45.0 (-1)	$12.34\pm0.13~^{\rm TU}$	12.41 ± 0.25 stu	$12.55\pm0.10~^{\rm ST}$	14.43 ± 0.02 $^{ m Q}$	$14.97\pm0.05~^{\rm PQ}$
U1	4.00 (-1)	1:17.7 (-1)	55.0 (1)	9.18 + 0.22 ^{ijk}	9.59 ± 0.14 ^{fghi}	10.68 ± 0.22 Yzabed	10.74 ± 0.09 Yzabed	$11.12\pm0.00~^{\rm XYZa}$
6	8.00(1)	1:17.7 (-1)	55.0 (1)	$25.47 \pm 0.24 {}^{\rm G}$	25.23 ± 0.05 ^G	26.82 ± 0.05 ^F	28.16 ± 0.09 ^E	29.84 ± 0.41 ^D
7	4.00 (-1)	1:6.1 (1)	55.0 (1)	$5.69 \pm 0.17^{ z! @\#}$	6.03 ± 0.32 vwxyzl@	$6.26 \pm 0.07 \text{ uvwxyzl@}$	$6.68\pm0.19~^{\rm stuwwx}$	$6.47\pm0.02~^{\rm uvwxyz}$
8	8.00(1)	1:6.1 (1)	55.0 (1)	$12.12\pm0.02~^{\rm TUV}$	13.21 ± 0.02^{RS}	14.48 ± 0.13 $^{\rm Q}$	$15.83\pm0.05^{\rm OP}$	17.54 ± 0.20 ^M
9	2.64 (-1.68)	1:9.1 (0)	50.0 (0)	$7.69\pm0.10^{\rm opqr}$	7.80 ± 0.03 ^{nopq}	8.01 ± 0.06 lmnop	$8.64\pm0.03~^{\rm jklm}$	9.21 + 0.14 ^{ijk}
10	9.36 (1.68)	1:9.1 (0)	50.0 (0)	$28.64\pm0.03~^{\rm E}$	29.91 ± 0.65 ^D	32.64 ± 1.37 ^c	$33.89 \pm 0.11 \ ^{\rm B}$	36.70 \pm 0.51 $^{\rm A}$
=	6.00 (0)	1:50.0 (-1.68)	50.0 (0)	13.40 ± 0.28 R	15.67 ± 0.48 ^P	17.66 ± 0.31 ^{LM}	16.53 ± 0.22 ^{NO}	$17.04\pm0.51~^{MN}$
12	6.00 (0)	1:5.0 (1.68)	50.0 (0)	5.10 ± 0.03 [#]	$5.96 \pm 0.03 \text{ wxyz!}$	$6.32 \pm 0.07 \text{ uvwxyzl}$	6.49 ± 0.02 turwayz	$6.77\pm0.03~{\rm stuvw}$
13	6.00 (0)	1:9.1 (0)	41.6 (-1.68)	$6.95\pm0.00~^{\rm rstuv}$	7.28 ± 0.08 Pq rst	$7.28\pm0.03~^{\rm pqrst}$	7.74 ± 0.05 ^{nopqr}	8.17 ± 0.03 lmno
14	6.00 (0)	1:9.1 (0)	58.4 (1.68)	$9.34\pm0.03~^{\rm hijk}$	10.08 ± 0.33 fghi	9.78 ± 0.17 fghi	9.98 ± 0.03 defighi	$10.18\pm0.16~^{bolefg}$
15	6.00 (0)	1:9.1 (0)	50.0 (0)	$9.87\pm0.13~^{\rm efghi}$	$10.72\pm0.03^{\rm\ Yzabcd}$	$11.05\pm0.09~^{\rm XYZa}$	$11.32 \pm 0.08 \text{ wxyz}$	$10.69\pm0.03~^{\rm Yzabed}$
16	6.00 (0)	1:9.1 (0)	50.0 (0)	$10.05\pm0.03~^{\rm cdefgh}$	$10.64\pm0.08^{\rm Zabcde}$	$10.86\pm0.00~^{\rm Yzabc}$	$10.92\pm0.03~^{\rm XYZab}$	$11.02\pm0.08~^{\rm XYZa}$
17	6.00 (0)	1:9.1 (0)	50.0 (0)	9.44 ± 0.06 ^{ghij}	11.27 ± 0.10 XYZ	$11.00 \pm 0.10 \ ^{ m XYZa}$	11.32 ± 0.16 ^{WXYZ}	11.15 ± 0.05 XYZa

 Table S2.2. Experimental variable levels and TPC responses of aqueous extractions from single-stage AEP optimization experiments

Data - qpr Ś way ANOVA

Source	SS	df	MS	F _{calc}	F _{tab}	<i>p</i> -value
Regression	1157.7	5	231.5	94.3	3.2	< 0.0001
Residuals	27.0	11	2.5			
Lack of fit	26.9	9	3.0	53.1	19.4	0.0186
Pure error	0.1	2	0.1			
Total	1184.8	16				

Table S2.3. ANOVA results of the regression model predicting TPC of single-stage AEP grape pomace extracts

Table S2.4. Predicted and experimental total phenolic content of optimization experiments at 75 min of extraction time

	V	ariable leve	ls	Extraction	ı time: 75 min	
Experiment	X ₁ (pH)	X ₂ (SLR)	X ₃ (°C)	Predicted TPC	Experimental TPC	% Error
1	4.00	17.7	45.0	8.52	9.60 ± 0.37	12.68
2	8.00	17.7	45.0	26.50	24.24 ± 0.00	-8.53
3	4.00	6.1	45.0	5.16	6.55 ± 0.05	26.94
4	8.00	6.1	45.0	16.22	14.97 ± 0.05	-7.71
5	4.00	17.7	55.0	10.42	11.12 ± 0.00	6.72
6	8.00	17.7	55.0	28.40	29.84 ± 0.41	5.07
7	4.00	6.1	55.0	7.06	6.47 ± 0.02	-8.36
8	8.00	6.1	55.0	18.12	17.54 + 0.20	-3.20
9	2.64	9.1	50.0	10.74	9.21 + 0.14	-14.28
10	9.36	9.1	50.0	35.14	36.70 ± 0.51	4.45
11	6.00	50.0	50.0	16.45	17.04 ± 0.51	3.59
12	6.00	5.0	50.0	4.99	6.77 ± 0.03	35.64
13	6.00	9.1	41.6	9.12	8.17 ± 0.03	-10.46
14	6.00	9.1	58.4	12.32	10.18 ± 0.16	-17.34
15	6.00	9.1	50.0	10.72	10.69 ± 0.03	-0.28
16	6.00	9.1	50.0	10.72	11.02 ± 0.08	2.80
17	6.00	9.1	50.0	10.72	11.15 ± 0.05	4.01

Table S2.5. Relative abundance of phenolics in grape pomace extracts using an untargeted metabolomics approach

Average peak heights are the result of triplicate samples

Polyphenol class Compound		Species	m/z	ESI mode	RT
Phenolic acids					
Hydroxycinnamic acids	<i>p</i> -Coumaric acid	[M+H]+	165.0546	positive	1.382
	Salviaflaside	[M-H]-	521.1303	negative	2.157
	trans-Melilotoside Isomer A	[M-H]-	325.0930	negative	0.526
	trans-Melilotoside Isomer B	[M-H]-	325.0931	negative	0.695
	trans-Melilotoside Isomer C	[M-H]-	325.0931	negative	1.184
Hydroxybenzoic acids	Gentisic acid 5-O-glucoside	[M-H]-	315.0724	negative	0.489
	Vanillic acid glucoside	[M-H]-	329.0880	negative	1.297
Flavanoids					
Flavonols	Kaempferol	[M+H]+	287.0551	positive	4.431
	Kaempferol 3-alpha-L-arabinopyranoside	[M+Na]+	441.0818	positive	2.535
	Quercitrin	[M+H]+	449.1079	positive	2.465
	Quercetin	[M-H]-	301.0356	negative	3.731
	Quercetin 3-O-glucuronide	[M+H]+	479.0823	positive	2.079
	Quercetin 3,4'-diglucoside	[M-H]-	625.1416	negative	1.503
	Isoquercitin	[M+H]+	465.1031	positive	2.111
	Isorhamnetin 3-galactoside	[M-H]-	477.1040	negative	2.563
	Myricetin	[M-H]-	317.0306	negative	2.893
	Myricitrin	[M+Cl][M-H]-	499.0652_463.0886	negative	2.051
	Rutoside	[M-H]-	609.1471	negative	1.950
	Syringetin 3-glucoside	[M+Na]+	531.1110	positive	2.671
Flavones	Luteolin 7-glucoside	[M-H]-	447.0936	negative	2.415
	Tricin	[M+H]+	331.0806	positive	1.897
	Jaceoside	[M+H]+	331.0837	positive	3.856
Isoflavones	Iridin	[M+FA-H]-	567.1361	negative	2.521
Flavanones	Naringenin 7-O-glucoside	[M-H]-	433.1144	negative	2.683
	Astilbin Isomer A	[M-H]-	449.1093	negative	2.069
Anthocyanins	Malvidin 3,5-diglucoside	[Cat-2H-C6H8O4]-	509.1302	negative	1.572
Flavanols	(-)-Epichatechin	[M+Cl]-	325.0484	negative	1.224
	Epicatechin monogallate	[M-H]-	441.0831	negative	1.912
	Catechin Isomer A	[M+CHO2]-	335.0774	negative	0.969
	Catechin Isomer B	[M+H]+	291.0863	positive	1.044
	Catechin Isomer C	[M+H]+	291.0864	positive	0.555
	Procyanidin B2 Isomer A	[M-H]-	577.1353	negative	0.468
	Procyanidin B2 Isomer B	[M-H]-	577.1354	negative	0.626
	Procyanidin C1	[M-H]-	865.1991	negative	1.058
Stilbenes	trans-Piceid	[M-H]-	389.1245	negative	1.982

Table S2.6. Method parameters for untargeted phenolic profiling

2.7. References

- Acosta-Estrada, B. A., Gutiérrez-Uribe, J. A., & Serna-Saldívar, S. O. (2014). Bound phenolics in foods, a review. Food Chemistry, 152, 46–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2013.11.093
- Alam, M. A., Subhan, N., Rahman, M. M., Uddin, S. J., Reza, H. M., & Sarker, S. D. (2014). Effect of Citrus Flavonoids, Naringin and Naringenin, on Metabolic Syndrome and Their Mechanisms of Action. Advances in Nutrition, 5(4), 404. https://doi.org/10.3945/AN.113.005603
- Al-Duais, M., Müller, L., Böhm, V., & Jetschke, G. (2009). Antioxidant capacity and total phenolics of Cyphostemma digitatum before and after processing: use of different assays. European Food Research and Technology 2008 228:5, 228(5), 813–821. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00217-008-0994-8
- AOAC. (2012). Official Method 922.06 Fat in Flour. Acid Hydrolysis Method. In Official Methods of Analysis of AOAC International. Association of Official Analytical Chemists.
- AOAC. (2015). Official Method 925.09-1925, Solids (total) and loss on drying (moisture). In Official Methods of Analysis of AOAC International.
- AOCS. (2017). Official Method Ba 5-49: Ash in Oilseed Cake and Meals. In Official Methods and Recommended Practices of the AOCS. American Oil Chemists' Society.
- Arranz, S., & Saura Calixto, F. (2010). Analysis of polyphenols in cereals may be improved performing acidic hydrolysis: A study in wheat flour and wheat bran and cereals of the diet. Journal of Cereal Science, 51(3), 313–318. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JCS.2010.01.006
- Arranz, S., Saura-Calixto, F., Shaha, S., & Kroon, P. A. (2009). High contents of nonextractable polyphenols in fruits suggest that polyphenol contents of plant foods have been underestimated. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 57(16), 7298–7303. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf9016652
- Azmir, J., Zaidul, I. S. M., Rahman, M. M., Sharif, K. M., Mohamed, A., Sahena, F., Jahurul, M. H. A., Ghafoor, K., Norulaini, N. A. N., & Omar, A. K. M. (2013). Techniques for extraction of bioactive compounds from plant materials: A review. Journal of Food Engineering, 117(4), 426– 436. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2013.01.014
- Borges, F., Roleira, F., Milhazes, N., Santana, L., & Uriarte, E. (2005). Simple coumarins and analogues in medicinal chemistry: occurrence, synthesis and biological activity. Current Medicinal Chemistry, 12(8), 887–916. https://doi.org/10.2174/0929867053507315
- California Department of Food and Agriculture. (2020). California Grape Crush Report Final 2019.
- Campos, F., Peixoto, A. F., Fernandes, P. A. R., Coimbra, M. A., Mateus, N., de Freitas, V., Fernandes, I., & Fernandes, A. (2021). The Antidiabetic Effect of Grape Pomace Polysaccharide-Polyphenol Complexes. Nutrients 2021, Vol. 13, Page 4495, 13(12), 4495. https://doi.org/10.3390/NU13124495
- Castillo-Muñoz, N., Gómez-Alonso, S., García-Romero, E., & Hermosín-Gutiérrez, I. (2007). Flavonol Profiles of Vitis vinifera Red Grapes and Their Single-Cultivar Wines. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 55(3), 992–1002. https://doi.org/10.1021/JF062800K
- Chow, P. S., & Landhäusser, S. M. (2004). A method for routine measurements of total sugar and starch content in woody plant tissues. Tree Physiology, 24(10), 1129–1136. https://doi.org/10.1093/TREEPHYS/24.10.1129
- Chowdhary, P., Gupta, A., Gnansounou, E., Pandey, A., & Chaturvedi, P. (2021). Current trends and possibilities for exploitation of Grape pomace as a potential source for value addition. Environmental Pollution, 278. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2021.116796

- Costa, J. R., Amorim, M., Vilas-Boas, A., Tonon, R. V., Cabral, L. M. C., Pastrana, L., & Pintado, M. (2019). Impact of in vitro gastrointestinal digestion on the chemical composition, bioactive properties, and cytotoxicity of Vitis vinifera L. cv. Syrah grape pomace extract. Food & Function, 10(4), 1856–1869. https://doi.org/10.1039/C8FO02534G
- Cuevas-Valenzuela, J., González-Rojas, Á., Wisniak, J., Apelblat, A., & Pérez-Correa, J. R. (2014). Solubility of (+)-catechin in water and water-ethanol mixtures within the temperature range 277.6–331.2 K: Fundamental data to design polyphenol extraction processes. Fluid Phase Equilibria, 382, 279–285. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FLUID.2014.09.013
- Dadáková, K., Jurasová, L., Tomáš Kašparovský, ·, Průšová, B., Mojmír Baroň, ·, & Sochor, · Jiří. (n.d.). Origin of Wine Lignans. 1, 3. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11130-021-00928-1
- de Moura, J. M. L. N., Campbell, K., Mahfuz, A., Jung, S., Glatz, C. E., & Johnson, L. (2008). Enzyme-assisted aqueous extraction of oil and protein from soybeans and cream deemulsification. JAOCS, Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society, 85(10), 985–995. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11746-008-1282-2
- Ding, Y., Morozova, K., Scampicchio, M., & Ferrentino, G. (2020). Non-Extractable polyphenols from food by-products: Current knowledge on recovery, characterisation, and potential applications. In Processes (Vol. 8, Issue 8). MDPI AG. https://doi.org/10.3390/PR8080925
- Dudonné, S., Vitrac, X., Couti, P., Woillez, M., de Bélis, R., Sen, L., des Substances Végétales, E., & Biologique, A. (2019). Comparative Study of Antioxidant Properties and Total Phenolic Content of 30 Plant Extracts of Industrial Interest Using DPPH, ABTS, FRAP, SOD, and ORAC Assays. J. Agric. Food Chem., 57(5), 1768–1774. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf803011r
- El Achkar, J. H., Lendormi, T., Salameh, D., Louka, N., Maroun, R. G., Lanoisellé, J. L., & Hobaika, Z. (2018). Influence of pretreatment conditions on lignocellulosic fractions and methane production from grape pomace. Bioresource Technology, 247, 881–889. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.09.182
- Fazary, A. E., & Ju, Y.-H. (2007). Feruloyl Esterases as Biotechnological Tools: Current and Future Perspectives. Acta Biochimica et Biophysica Sinica, 39(11), 811–828. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-7270.2007.00348.x
- Fiehn, O., Wohlgemuth, G., Scholz, M., Kind, T., Lee, D. Y., Lu, Y., Moon, S., & Nikolau, B. (2008). Quality control for plant metabolomics: reporting MSI-compliant studies. The Plant Journal, 53(4), 691–704. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1365-313X.2007.03387.X
- Fontana, A. R., Antoniolli, A., & Bottini, R. (2013). Grape pomace as a sustainable source of bioactive compounds: Extraction, characterization, and biotechnological applications of phenolics. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 61(38), 8987–9003. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf402586f
- Friedman, M., & Jürgens, H. S. (2000). Effect of pH on the stability of plant phenolic compounds. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 48(6), 2101–2110. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf990489j
- Fuentealba, C., Figuerola, F., Estévez, A. M., González-Munõz, A., & Munõz, O. (2015). Optimization of secoisolariciresinol diglucoside extraction from flaxseed (Linum usitatissimum L.) and isolation by a simple HPLC-UV method. Http://Mc.Manuscriptcentral.Com/Tcyt, 13(2), 273–281. https://doi.org/10.1080/19476337.2014.953209
- Hidalgo, P., Pueyo, E., Pozo-Bayón, M. A., Martínez-Rodríguez, A. J., Martín-Álvarez, P., & Polo, M. C. (2004). Sensory and Analytical Study of Rosé Sparkling Wines Manufactured by Second Fermentation in the Bottle. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 52(21), 6640–6645. https://doi.org/10.1021/JF040151B

- Honda, S., Ishida, R., Hidaka, K., & Masuda, T. (2019). Stability of Polyphenols under Alkaline Conditions and the Formation of a Xanthine Oxidase Inhibitor from Gallic Acid in a Solution at pH 7.4. Food Science and Technology Research, 25(1), 123–129. https://doi.org/10.3136/fstr.25.123
- Hroboňová, K., & Sádecká, J. (2020). Coumarins content in wine: application of HPLC, fluorescence spectrometry, and chemometric approach. Journal of Food Science and Technology, 57(1), 200–209. https://doi.org/10.1007/S13197-019-04048-2/FIGURES/3
- Kallithraka, S., Garcia-Viguera, C., Bridle, P., & Bakker, J. (1995). Survey of solvents for the extraction of grape seed phenolics. Phytochemical Analysis, 6(5), 265–267. https://doi.org/10.1002/pca.2800060509
- Kim, K. H., Tsao, R., Yang, R., & Cui, S. W. (2006). Phenolic acid profiles and antioxidant activities of wheat bran extracts and the effect of hydrolysis conditions. Food Chemistry, 95(3), 466–473. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODCHEM.2005.01.032
- Ky, I., & Teissedre, P. L. (2015). Characterisation of Mediterranean grape pomace seed and skin extracts: Polyphenolic content and antioxidant activity. Molecules, 20(2), 2190–2207. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules20022190
- Landrault, N., Larronde, F., Delaunay, J. C., Castagnino, C., Vercauteren, J., Merillon, J. M., Gasc, F., Cros, G., & Teissedre, P. L. (2002). Levels of Stilbene Oligomers and Astilbin in French Varietal Wines and in Grapes during Noble Rot Development. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 50(7), 2046–2052. https://doi.org/10.1021/JF010794G
- Larrauri, J. A., Rupérez, P., & Saura-Calixto, F. (1997). Effect of drying temperature on the stability of polyphenols and antioxidant activity of red grape pomace peels. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 45(4), 1390–1393. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf960282f
- Li, W., Yang, R., Ying, D., Yu, J., Sanguansri, L., & Augustin, M. A. (2020). Analysis of polyphenols in apple pomace: A comparative study of different extraction and hydrolysis procedures. Industrial Crops and Products, 147, 112250. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.INDCROP.2020.112250
- Lingua, M. S., Fabani, M. P., Wunderlin, D. A., & Baroni, M. v. (2015). In vivo antioxidant activity of grape, pomace and wine from three red varieties grown in Argentina: Its relationship to phenolic profile. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jff.2015.10.034
- Liu, B., Raeth, T., Beuerle, T., & Beerhues, L. (2010). A novel 4-hydroxycoumarin biosynthetic pathway. Plant Molecular Biology, 72(1–2), 17–25. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11103-009-9548-0/FIGURES/7
- Liyanapathirana, C., & Shahidi, F. (2005). Optimization of extraction of phenolic compounds from wheat using response surface methodology. Food Chemistry, 93(1), 47–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2004.08.050
- M. Librán, C., Mayor, L., M. Garcia-Castello, E., & Vidal-Brotons, D. (2013). Polyphenol extraction from grape wastes: Solvent and pH effect. Agricultural Sciences, 04(09), 56–62. https://doi.org/10.4236/as.2013.49b010
- Marchante, L., Gómez Alonso, S., Alañón, M. E., Pérez-Coello, M. S., & Díaz-Maroto, M. C. (2018). Natural extracts from fresh and oven-dried winemaking by-products as valuable source of antioxidant compounds. Food Science & Nutrition, 6(6), 1564–1574. https://doi.org/10.1002/FSN3.697
- Monagas, M., Hernandez-Ledesma, B., Garrido, I., Martin-Alvarez, P. J., Gomez-Cordoves, C., Bartolome, B., Monagas, M., Hernández-Ledesma, B., Martín-Álvarez, P. J., Gómez-Cordovés, C., & Bartolomé, B. (2005). Quality Assessment of Commercial Dietary Antioxidant Products

From Vitis vinifera L. Grape Seeds. Nutrition and Cancer, 53(2), 244–254. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327914nc5302 13

- Monrad, J. K., Suárez, M., Motilva, M. J., King, J. W., Srinivas, K., & Howard, L. R. (2014). Extraction of anthocyanins and flavan-3-ols from red grape pomace continuously by coupling hot water extraction with a modified expeller. Food Research International, 65(PA), 77–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODRES.2014.04.020
- Moura, J. M. L. N. de, Campbell, K., Almeida, N. M. de, Glatz, C. E., & Johnson, L. A. (2011). Protein Extraction and Membrane Recovery in Enzyme-Assisted Aqueous Extraction Processing of Soybeans. Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society, 88(6), 877–889. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11746-010-1737-0
- Naczk, M., & Shahidi, F. (2004). Extraction and analysis of phenolics in food. In Journal of Chromatography A (Vol. 1054, Issues 1–2, pp. 95–111). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2004.08.059
- Narita, Y., & Inouye, K. (2013). Degradation Kinetics of Chlorogenic Acid at Various pH Values and Effects of Ascorbic Acid and Epigallocatechin Gallate on Its Stability under Alkaline Conditions. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 61(4), 966–972. https://doi.org/10.1021/JF304105W
- Nayak, A., Bhushan, B., Rosales, A., Turienzo, L. R., & Cortina, J. L. (2018). Valorisation potential of Cabernet grape pomace for the recovery of polyphenols: Process intensification, optimisation and study of kinetics. Food and Bioproducts Processing, 109, 74–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fbp.2018.03.004
- Niu, S., Hao, F., Mo, H., Jiang, J., Wang, H., Liu, C., Fan, X., & Zhang, Y. (2016). Phenol profiles and antioxidant properties of white skinned grapes and their coloured genotypes during growth. Http://Mc.Manuscriptcentral.Com/Tbeq, 31(1), 58–67. https://doi.org/10.1080/13102818.2016.1258329
- Oliveira, M., & Duarte, E. (2016). Integrated approach to winery waste: waste generation and data consolidation. Frontiers of Environmental Science & Engineering, 10(1), 168–176. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11783-014-0693-6
- Oreopoulou, A., Tsimogiannis, D., & Oreopoulou, V. (2019). Extraction of polyphenols from aromatic and medicinal plants: an overview of the methods and the effect of extraction parameters. In Polyphenols in Plants (pp. 243–259). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-813768-0.00025-6
- Perestrelo, R., Lu, Y., Santos, S. A. O., Silvestre, A. J. D., Neto, C. P., Câmara, J. S., & Rocha, S. M. (2012). Phenolic profile of Sercial and Tinta Negra Vitis vinifera L. grape skins by HPLC– DAD–ESI-MSn: Novel phenolic compounds in Vitis vinifera L. grape. Food Chemistry, 135(1), 94–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODCHEM.2012.04.102
- Pérez-Serradilla, J. A., & de Castro, M. D. L. (2008). Role of lees in wine production: A review. In Food Chemistry (Vol. 111, Issue 2, pp. 447–456). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2008.04.019
- Pinelo, M., Arnous, A., & Meyer, A. S. (2006). Upgrading of grape skins: Significance of plant cellwall structural components and extraction techniques for phenol release. In Trends in Food Science and Technology (Vol. 17, Issue 11, pp. 579–590). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tifs.2006.05.003
- Rajha, H. N., Boussetta, N., Louka, N., Maroun, R. G., & Vorobiev, E. (2014). A comparative study of physical pretreatments for the extraction of polyphenols and proteins from vine shoots. Food Research International, 65(PC), 462–468. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2014.04.024

- Ramirez-Lopez, L. M., & DeWitt, C. A. M. (2014). Analysis of phenolic compounds in commercial dried grape pomace by high-performance liquid chromatography electrospray ionization mass spectrometry. Food Science & Nutrition, 2(5), 470. https://doi.org/10.1002/FSN3.136
- Rocchetti, G., Gatti, M., Bavaresco, L., & Lucini, L. (2018). Untargeted metabolomics to investigate the phenolic composition of Chardonnay wines from different origins. Journal of Food Composition and Analysis, 71, 87–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JFCA.2018.05.010
- Rosenthal, A., Pyle, D. L., & Niranjan, K. (1996). Aqueous and enzymatic processes for edible oil extraction. Enzyme and Microbial Technology, 19(6), 402–420. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0141-0229(96)80004-F
- Sant'Anna, V., Brandelli, A., Marczak, L. D. F., & Tessaro, I. C. (2012). Kinetic modeling of total polyphenol extraction from grape marc and characterization of the extracts. Separation and Purification Technology, 100, 82–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seppur.2012.09.004
- Sato, M., Suzuki, Y., Okuda, T., & Yokotsuka, K. (1997). Contents of Resveratrol, Piceid, and Their Isomers in Commercially Available Wines Made from Grapes Cultivated in Japan. Bioscience, Biotechnology, and Biochemistry, 61(11), 1800–1805. https://doi.org/10.1271/BBB.61.1800
- Saura-Calixto, F. (2011). Dietary fiber as a carrier of dietary antioxidants: an essential physiological function. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 59(1), 43–49. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf1036596
- Shahidi, F., & Yeo, J. (2016). Insoluble-Bound Phenolics in Food. Molecules 2016, Vol. 21, Page 1216, 21(9), 1216. https://doi.org/10.3390/MOLECULES21091216
- Shi, J., Yu, J., Pohorly, J., Young, J. C., Bryan, M., Wu, Y., & Canada, A. (2003). Optimization of the extraction of polyphenols from grape seed meal by aqueous ethanol solution.
- Singleton, V. L., Orthofer, R., & Lamuela-Raventós, R. M. (1999). [14] Analysis of total phenols and other oxidation substrates and antioxidants by means of folin-ciocalteu reagent. Methods in Enzymology, 299, 152–178. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0076-6879(99)99017-1
- Sinrod, A. J. G., Li, X., Bhattacharya, M., Paviani, B., Wang, S. C., & Barile, D. (2021). A second life for wine grapes: Discovering potentially bioactive oligosaccharides and phenolics in chardonnay marc and its processing fractions. LWT, 144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2021.111192
- Speisky, H., Fuentes, J., Dorta, E., & Lopez-Alarcón, C. (2017). Polyphenols: Sources and Main Characteristics in Advances in Technologies for Producing Food-relevant Polyphenols. CRC Press.
- Spigno, G., Tramelli, L., & de Faveri, D. M. (2007). Effects of extraction time, temperature and solvent on concentration and antioxidant activity of grape marc phenolics. Journal of Food Engineering, 81(1), 200–208. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2006.10.021
- Srinivas, K., King, J. W., Monrad, J. K., Howard, L. R., Zhang, D., & Martin, R. E. (2011). PreSSUrIZeD SOLVeNT eXTraCTION OF FLaVONOIDS FrOM GraPe POMaCe UTILIZING OrGaNIC aCID aDDITIVES. In Ital. J. Food Sci (Vol. 23).
- Stój, A., Szwajgier, D., Baranowska-Wójcik, E., & Domagała, D. (2019). Gentisic Acid, Salicylic Acid, Total Phenolic Content and Cholinesterase Inhibitory Activities of Red Wines Made from Various Grape Varieties. South African Journal of Enology and Viticulture, 40(1). https://doi.org/10.21548/40-1-2885
- Teixeira, A., Baenas, N., Dominguez-Perles, R., Barros, A., Rosa, E., Moreno, D. A., & Garcia-Viguera, C. (2014). Natural bioactive compounds from winery by-products as health promoters: a review. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 15(9), 15638–15678. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms150915638

- Valls, J., Agnolet, S., Haas, F., Struffi, I., Ciesa, F., Robatscher, P. & Oberhuber, Michael. (2017). Valorization of Lagrein grape pomace as a source of phenolic compounds: analysis of the contents of anthocyanins, flavanols and antioxidant activity. European Food Research and Technology, 243, 2211–2224. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00217-017-2923-1
- Vian, M. A., Tomao, V., Gallet, S., Coulomb, P. O., & Lacombe, J. M. (2005). Simple and rapid method for cis- and trans-resveratrol and piceid isomers determination in wine by highperformance liquid chromatography using Chromolith columns. Journal of Chromatography A, 1085(2), 224–229. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CHROMA.2005.05.083
- Wettasinghe, M., & Shahidi, F. (1999). Evening Primrose Meal: A Source of Natural Antioxidants and Scavenger of Hydrogen Peroxide and Oxygen-Derived Free Radicals. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 47(5), 1801–1812. https://doi.org/10.1021/JF9810416
- White, B. L., Howard, L. R., & Prior, R. L. (2010a). Release of bound procyanidins from cranberry pomace by alkaline hydrolysis. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 58(13), 7572–7579. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf100700p
- White, B. L., Howard, L. R., & Prior, R. L. (2010b). Release of bound procyanidins from cranberry pomace by alkaline hydrolysis. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 58(13), 7572–7579. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf100700p
- Yilmaz, Y., & Toledo, R. T. (2006). Oxygen radical absorbance capacities of grape/wine industry byproducts and effect of solvent type on extraction of grape seed polyphenols. Journal of Food Composition and Analysis, 19(1), 41–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfca.2004.10.009
- Yu, J., & Ahmedna, M. (2013). Functional components of grape pomace: Their composition, biological properties and potential applications. In International Journal of Food Science and Technology (Vol. 48, Issue 2, pp. 221–237). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2621.2012.03197.x
- Zulueta, A., Esteve, M. J., & Frígola, A. (2009). ORAC and TEAC assays comparison to measure the antioxidant capacity of food products. Food Chemistry, 114(1), 310–316. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODCHEM.2008.09.033

<u>Chapter 3:</u> Synergistic effects of proteolysis and microwave-assisted extraction on the recovery of bioactive phenolics from unfermented Cabernet Sauvignon pomace

Graphical abstract



Abstract

Enzyme-assisted (EAE), microwave-assisted (MAE), and microwave enzyme-assisted (MEAE) extractions were explored as greener alternatives to ethanol extraction methods (CSE, conventional solvent extraction, and MSE, microwave solvent extraction) for the extraction of phenolics from unfermented Cabernet Sauvignon grape pomace. To maximize the total phenolic content (TPC) of the extracts, the extraction time, temperature, slurry pH, solids-to-liquid ratio (SLR, g pomace/mL water), and type, combination, and concentration of enzymes(s) were selected by stepwise screening experiments. The overall TPC of the extracts were ranked as follows: MEAE (100.9 \pm 2.09 mg GAE/g dry pomace) > MAE (91.3 \pm 1.79 mg GAE/g dry pomace) > EAE (65.5 \pm 3.24 mg GAE/g dry pomace) > AEP (58.8 \pm 0.66 mg GAE/g dry pomace) > CSE (47.3 \pm 1.78 mg GAE/g dry pomace) > MSE (44.6 \pm 1.47 mg GAE/g dry

pomace). Overall, the addition of 0.1% FoodPro® alkaline protease in MEAE (1:10 SLR, initial pH of 11.5, 70 °C, 30 min) reduced the extraction time by 50% compared to AEP, EAE, and CSE methods and doubled the TPC of the extracts compared to CSE and MSE methods. The use of microwave processing, with or without enzymatic hydrolysis, also resulted in grape pomace extracts with in vitro antioxidant activities, as measured by ABTS and ORAC methods, that were similar to those of the hydroethanolic controls and greater than the AEP and EAE extracts. Untargeted metabolomics identified a higher relative content of catechins, procyanidins, transpiceid, and malvidin-3,5-diglucoside in MEAE, MAE, MSE, and CSE samples compared to AEP and EAE extracts, which provides insight into the relationship between the phenolic composition and antioxidant activity of grape pomace extracts. Further, scanning electron microscopy (SEM) illustrated the synergistic effects of heat, pressure, and proteolysis during microwave processing that facilitated the disruption of the grape pomace cell wall structure and aided in the release of the flavonoid glycosides. These results serve as a proof-of-concept for the MEAE process as an effective strategy for generating bioactive ingredients for potential food, beverage, cosmetic, and pharmaceutical applications while achieving environmental sustainability goals.

Highlights

- MAE and MEAE improved phenolic extraction from grape pomace while reducing reaction time.
- Antioxidant activities of MAE and MEAE were similar to CSE extracts.
- Alkaline pH aided in phenolic release from the grape pomace, as identified by SEM.
- Phenolic compositions were influenced by alkaline protease and microwave radiation.

Keywords

Grape pomace; microwave-assisted extraction; enzyme-assisted extraction; alkaline pH; protease; phenolics

3.1. Introduction

The valorization of agricultural byproducts plays a critical role in maintaining environmental and economic sustainability at global scales. Addressing food loss and waste has evolved as a key objective for food producers, distributors, consumers, and legislative authorities who are passionate about reducing their environmental footprint while maintaining the profitability and longevity of the food system (United Nations Environment Programme, 2021). Intrinsic to the agri-food industry is a variety of waste mitigation strategies such as composting residual biomass or diverting it to livestock feed, but the inadequacies of these alternatives still leave abundant valuable components (carbohydrates, fibers, oils, proteins, polyphenols, and other phytonutrients) underutilized (Costa et al., 2020). To support a more circular food system, bioactive compounds recovered from processing byproducts should be re-integrated into industry pipelines as functional ingredients in value-added products. The biorefinery concept outlines a variety of techniques—such as extraction, fermentation, and anaerobic digestion—that utilize the full potential of waste streams by maximizing the number of innovative products generated from each processing fraction (Clark & Deswarte, 2015; Jin et al., 2018). Furthermore, the processing mechanisms used to obtain these value-added products should emphasize environmentally conscious technologies to better support a greener approach to food and agricultural supply chain challenges.

As one of the most cultivated specialty fruit crops in the world, wine grapes and their associated waste streams provide an opportunity for further exploration of green valorization methods. In the winemaking industry, byproducts are generated upon grape harvesting, destemming, crushing, pressing, and sedimentation (Spigno et al., 2017). Wine grape skins, seeds, and pulp are collectively known as grape marc or pomace, and together they compose

approximately 25% of the original mass of the grape harvest (Gómez-Brandón et al., 2019). Grape pomace is especially rich in biologically relevant compounds such as polyphenols, dietary fibers, oligosaccharides, proteins, fatty acids, vitamins, and minerals (Deng et al., 2011) that could be used as health-promoting ingredients for food, beverage, pharmaceutical, and nutraceutical applications (Antonić et al., 2020; Kalli et al., 2018).

Conventional extraction methods for obtaining bioactive compounds from complex grape pomace matrices typically rely on harsh organic solvents like methanol or more benign flammable solvents like ethanol, both of which require subsequent processing for downstream applications in food-grade products (Azmir et al., 2013). Not only do hazardous solvents pose human and ecological health and safety concerns, but they also increase the operational costs associated with large-scale commercialization due to the need for additional evaporative unit operations. Therefore, emerging research on green technologies has provided a wide variety of alternative methods that reduce or entirely avoid the use of organic solvents for the extraction of bioactives from grape pomace (Moro et al., 2021; Sirohi et al., 2020). These methods have the capability of improving phenolic extraction yields, reducing solvent use, and minimizing overall reaction time by targeting the degradation of the plant cell wall integrity and thus increasing the solubility and diffusion of intracellular compounds into the solvent for further recovery.

Especially favorable in the extraction of thermolabile phytochemicals is the application of the relatively mild heating conditions used in aqueous-, enzyme-, and microwave-assisted extractions. Careful selection of moderate extraction temperatures in the aqueous extraction process (AEP) can simultaneously protect sensitive phenolics like catechin, epicatechin, and resveratrol (Esparza et al., 2020) while also providing an opportunity to promote optimal enzyme activity upon their addition in the enzyme-assisted extraction (EAE) methods. In Chapter 2, it

was shown that a maximum TPC of unfermented Cabernet Sauvignon pomace was achieved using the two-stage countercurrent AEP at pH 9.36 using a 1:10 solids-to-liquid ratio at 50 °C for 75 min. However, total phenolic extractability could be improved with the use of enzymes in the single-stage AEP or two-stage countercurrent methods. Since grape skin cell walls are estimated to contain about 30% neutral polysaccharides (cellulose, xyloglucan, arabinan, galactan, xylan, and mannan), 20% acidic pectin compounds, 15% insoluble proanthocyanidins, and 5% structural proteins (Chamorro et al., 2012; Lecas & Brillouet, 1994), enzymes like cellulase, hemicellulase, glucanase, pectinase, and protease are often employed to aid in phenolic release. Different classes of enzymes have also been applied in combination to evaluate the effect of various hydrolytic mechanisms on extraction yields (Shen et al., 2021).

Microwave-assisted extraction (MAE) can complement both aqueous- and enzymeassisted extractions to further degrade cell matrices and reduce extraction time through induced dipole rotation. Exposure of the polar aqueous solvent to microwave irradiation creates vibrations among water molecules as they are directed by the frequency of the microwave field. The resulting oscillation of water molecules within the grape cell matrix generates friction, which creates heat within the system and propels mass transfer (Bagade & Patil, 2019). This phenomenon enables rapid extraction of solutes as the surges in temperature and pressure eventually cause the plant cell to rupture.

In AEP, EAE, and MAE, phenolic extraction is influenced by solvent nature, sample composition and particle size, and reaction parameters like temperature and time. In green extractions using water as the only solvent, the pH of the slurry plays a key role in determining the type and stability of compounds extracted. Although some anthocyanins are typically more stable in acidic conditions, other compounds like ferulic acid, (-)-catechin, (-)-epigallocatechin,

rutin, and trans-cinnamic acid have shown stability in alkalinity up to pH 11 (Friedman & Jürgens, 2000). Exposure to alkaline treatments is effective at liberating bound phenolics from protein and carbohydrate complexes by cleaving both ether and ester bonds (Acosta-Estrada et al., 2014; Shahidi & Yeo, 2016), but few studies have evaluated the effect of a range of pH on phenolic extraction using water as the solvent. In Chapter 2, it was reported that increasing the aqueous slurry pH to 9.36 resulted in maximum phenolic yields from unfermented Cabernet Sauvignon pomace, but further opportunities are available to enhance phenolic extractability using enzymes. Similarly, Librán et al. (2013) reported significant increases in total flavonols, flavanols, phenolic acids, and anthocyanins at pH 12 compared to pH 2, 5.33, 8.66 in water-based grape pomace extracts. However, the effect of extraction parameters on phenolic recovery from grape pomace using an integrated microwave enzyme-assisted extraction process has yet to be thoroughly conceptualized.

Therefore, the overall goal of this study was to explore the effect of fundamental extraction parameters on the total phenolic content, antioxidant activity, and phenolic profile of unfermented Cabernet Sauvignon pomace during enzyme-assisted, microwave-assisted, and microwave enzyme-assisted extractions. Specifically, the extraction time, temperature, slurry pH, solids-to-liquid ratio, and type and concentration of enzyme(s) were examined to maximize phenolic extractability using the aforementioned green extraction treatments. Scanning electron microscopy was also used as a tool to provide a mechanistic understanding of the impact of the extraction methods evaluated, alone or in combination, on the overall phenolic extractability and structure, phenolic composition by untargeted metabolomics, and the *in vitro* biological activities of the extracts as evaluated by ABTS and ORAC. The results of this study will provide guidance

for developing and commercializing alternative extraction methods to promote flammable solvent-free solutions for the agri-food industry.

3.2. Materials and Methods

3.2.1. Chemicals and reagents

Folin–Ciocalteu phenol reagent, Trolox®, potassium persulfate, 2,2'-Azobis(2methylpropionamidine) dihydrochloride (AAPH radical), and 2,2'-Azino-bis(3ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulfonic acid) diammonium salt (ABTS radical), D(+)-glucose, sulfuric acid, phenol, and fluorescein were supplied by Sigma-Aldrich (Saint Louis, MO, USA). Anhydrous gallic acid was purchased from Chem-Impex International (Wood Dale, IL, USA). Phosphate buffer solution was obtained from bioWORLD (Dublin, OH, USA). Anhydrous sodium carbonate was purchased from VWR Chemicals, BDH® (Solon, OH, USA). Ethanol (95% v/v) was supplied by Decon Labs (King of Prussia, PA, USA).

The following commercial enzymes were used in the enzyme screening process: pectinase was supplied by TCI (Tokyo, Japan) as a powdered enzyme derived from Aspergillus niger, and FoodPro® BSL, CBL, and Alkaline Protease were provided by the Genecor Division of DuPont[™] Danisco® (Rochester, NY, USA). FoodPro® BSL is a liquid cellulase preparation derived from Trichoderma reesei. FoodPro® CBL is a liquid enzyme complex derived from Trichoderma reesei that hydrolyzes beta-glucans and non-starch polysaccharides like arabinoxylans. FoodPro® Alkaline Protease is a liquid endoprotease derived from Bacillus licheniformis.

3.2.2. Grape pomace preparation and composition

Red wine grapes (*Vitis vinifera* L. cv. Cabernet Sauvignon) were harvested from the student rotation block of the University of California, Davis Robert Mondavi Institute vineyard

(approximate latitude: 38.532 and longitude: -121.753) in October 2019. The grapes were stored at -16 °C until January 2020 when production of a white Cabernet Sauvignon wine began. The grapes were thawed, crushed, destemmed, and pressed (Bucher Xplus 22, Bucher Vaslin North America, Santa Rosa, CA, USA) up to 1.6 psi to avoid excessive color extraction. The juice was subsequently racked and fermented for white wine production, while the residual skins, seeds, pulp, and stems were stored at -20 °C. Aliquots of frozen sample were then gathered, and the grape stems were manually separated from the seeds, skins, and pulp. The seeds, skins, and pulp (called "pomace") was blended for 10 minutes in a Vitamix 5200 blender (Vitamix, Cleveland, Ohio, USA) in batches of approximately four cups at a time to homogenize the mixture. Prior to extraction, aliquots of the bulk frozen pomace were defrosted for 20 minutes at room temperature and ground to a fine paste using a mortar and pestle for approximately 5 minutes.

Proximate composition of the grape pomace was determined using standard AOAC and AOCS methods outlined in Chapter 2. The grape pomace contained $57.8 \pm 0.09\%$ moisture, 2.86 $\pm 0.07\%$ protein, $1.87 \pm 0.02\%$ ash, $1.03 \pm 0.09\%$ lipids, and 36.4% carbohydrates (measured by difference). The moisture content of the grape pomace was used to determine the dry weight representations of the chemical analyses (TPC, ABTS, and ORAC methods).

3.2.3. Extraction methods

3.2.3.1. Screening of enzyme type and combination for enzyme-assisted extraction (EAE)

The effect of enzymatic hydrolysis on the release of phenolic compounds was evaluated using a stepwise optimization approach. First, an enzyme screening was performed to evaluate the effect of enzymes with varied specificities on the total phenolic content of the extracts. The series of experiments for the enzyme screening procedure are outlined in Figure 3.1. Three carbohydrases (pectinase, FoodPro® BSL, and FoodPro® CBL) and an alkaline protease were

tested both individually and in tandem. For each experiment, the solids-to-liquid ratio and temperature were held constant at 1:50 SLR and 50 °C. Extractions using carbohydrases were performed at pH 5.0 based on conditions provided by the manufacturers for the optimal activity of the enzymes. Extractions using FoodPro® alkaline protease were performed at pH 9.36 based on the conditions provided by the manufacturer and from the results from the aqueous extraction optimization previously performed in Chapter 2. The slurry pH was adjusted using 0.5–1 M NaOH or 0.5 M HCl added dropwise (< 2 mL) and maintained throughout extraction every 10 min. The extraction time was dependent on whether a carbohydrase or protease was used individually (75 min) or if a carbohydrase pre-treatment was used prior to the protease-assisted extraction (30 min pre-treatment + 75 min extraction). The selection of the 30 min pre-treatment time was guided by previous research on enzyme-assisted extraction by Souza Almeida et al. (2021), and the preliminary 75 min extraction time was based on previous research (Chapter 2) that optimized the parameters of the AEP. The total extraction time will be further explored in this study at a later iteration.

All enzyme-assisted extractions (EAE) employed an enzyme dosage of 0.5% carbohydrase and/or 0.5% alkaline protease (weight of enzyme/weight of wet grape pomace sample). Each enzymatic extraction was performed in triplicate in a temperature-controlled water bath using a magnetic stir plate (Cimarec[™] i Telesystem Multipoint Stirrers, Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). After extraction, the extracts were separated by centrifugation and filtration (Whatman Grade 1 filter papers, Sigma-Aldrich, Saint Louis, MO, USA).

For each enzymatic extraction condition, three control extractions were performed at the same extraction conditions above described, except for the lack of enzyme use, to understand the

effect of the extraction parameters on phenolic extractability. All extracts were stored at -20 °C until further analysis.



Figure 3.1. Schematic detailing of the enzyme-assisted extraction (EAE) screening experiments for the extraction of phenolics from unfermented Cabernet Sauvignon grape pomace

3.2.3.2. Selection of enzyme-assisted extraction (EAE) parameters

Based on the TPC results from the enzyme screening step (Section 2.3.1), another iterative screening process was used to select the enzyme dosage, extraction time, solids-toliquid ratio (SLR), and slurry pH that best induced phenolic extraction from the grape pomace. Two separate investigations were performed: one to evaluate the effect of FoodPro® alkaline protease alone, and another to evaluate the use of a pectinase pre-treatment prior to the alkaline protease extraction. The use of 0.1, 0.5, 1.0, and 1.5% (w/w) alkaline protease was evaluated at pH 9.36, 1:50 SLR, 50 °C, and 75 min. Separately, the use of a 30-minute pectinase pretreatment was evaluated at an application of 0.5, 1.5, and 2.5% (w/w) followed by a 75-minute alkaline protease extraction at the selected protease concentration of 0.1% (w/w).

A kinetic study was then performed using the selected enzyme dosage at pH 9.36 with a 1:50 SLR (g pomace/mL water) at 50 °C. Aliquots were collected at 15, 30, 45, 60, and 75 min and immediately placed in an ice bath to prevent further extraction. Extraction kinetics were represented by the total phenolic content at each time point. Next, the SLR was evaluated at 1:10, 1:25, and 1:50 (g pomace/mL water) to determine the SLR leading to higher phenolic extraction yields. Extraction parameters were held constant at pH 9.36 with 0.1% alkaline protease (w/w) at 50 °C for the selected reaction time of 60 min. Lastly, since FoodPro® alkaline protease is stable up to pH 10.5, the pH of the grape pomace slurry was adjusted to pH 10.0 and pH 10.5 to explore how a solvent with greater alkalinity could affect phenolic extraction.

Each sequential extraction of the EAE stepwise screening process was performed in triplicate. Control experiments, at the optimal selected conditions, were also performed without including the enzyme. After extraction, all extracts were separated by centrifugation then filtered (Whatman Grade 1 filter papers, Sigma-Aldrich, Saint Louis, MO, USA) and stored at -20 °C until further analysis.

3.2.3.3. Selection of microwave-assisted extraction (MAE) parameters

The effects of extraction pH, SLR, temperature, and time were evaluated in the CEM MARS 6TM Microwave Digestion and Extraction System (CEM Corporation, Matthews, NC, USA) with 20 mL glass extraction vessels (GlassChem, CEM Corporation, Matthews, NC, USA) using a stepwise optimization approach. The microwave consists of a power system (0–1800 W), a magnetron (2450 MHz), and a Teflon[®]-coated microwave cavity holding the vessel turntable. The turntable fits up to 24 vessels, operates in alternating or continuous modes, and includes

magnetic stirring for each vessel with the addition of stir bars. The glass vessels were sealed with Teflon[®] PFA caps and nested in composite sleeves within the turntable. Sample temperatures were measured in real-time using a fiber optic temperature probe (MTS-300, CEM Corporation, Matthews, NC, USA) inserted in a control vessel filled with either water or ethanol depending on the treatment studied.

In the first step, the pH of the extraction slurry was adjusted to pH 9.36, 10.0, 10.5, 11.0, 11.5, and 12.0 while keeping the SLR, temperature, and time constant at 1:10 SLR (g pomace/mL water), 50 °C, and 60 min, respectively. An extraction time of 60 min was selected for the first round of MAE experiments based on the optimal results from the EAE. In the microwave, a 60-min extraction was accomplished by combining a ramp-up period of 5 min (time to reach the desired temperature) followed by a holding period of 55 min (time to held at desired temperature).

The pH range explored in MAE (pH 9.36–12.0) was selected based on observations from preliminary microwave-assisted extractions (preliminary data not shown). During MAE, the release of acidic compounds (e.g., phenolic acids) quickly decreases the slurry pH, but the target pH cannot be maintained due to the inaccessibility of the sample vessel while in the microwave system. Therefore, for screening experiments in the microwave, the pH was adjusted to alkaline conditions beyond the desired range to compensate for the drop in pH while still satisfying the conditions for stable activity of the FoodPro® alkaline protease. The pH of the extracts were measured before and after each extraction.

In the next step, various SLR (1:10, 1:25, and 1:50 g pomace/mL water) were evaluated with the volume of water held constant at 10 mL and the mass of grape pomace adjusted to achieve each targeted ratio. Each extraction was performed at pH 11.5 and 50 °C for 60 min.

Next, the extraction temperature was evaluated at 40, 50, 60, and 70 °C while the other extraction parameters were held constant at pH 11.5, 1:10 SLR, and 60 min. This temperature range includes conditions that are stable for both FoodPro® alkaline protease and many phenolic compounds. The microwave was programmed to fluctuate power as needed up to a maximum of 600 W to maintain the set temperature. Lastly, a kinetic study was performed to determine if extraction yields could be maintained while reducing total extraction time. The extraction times (5, 15, 30, 45, and 60 min) consisted of a 5 min ramp-up period with the remainder consisting of the holding time. All extracts in the microwave also completed a 10-min cooling cycle after each extraction, but this time was not included in calculating the total extraction time.

All extractions in each sequential step of the MAE screening process were performed in triplicate. After extraction, the extracts were separated by centrifugation and filtration (Whatman Grade 1 filter papers, Sigma-Aldrich, Saint Louis, MO, USA). All extracts were stored at -20 °C until further analysis.

3.2.3.4. Integrated microwave enzyme-assisted extraction (MEAE)

The integration of EAE and MAE was performed to determine if there were synergistic effects on the total phenolic content of grape pomace extracts. To optimize the integration, two variables were evaluated: i) the concentration (%) of alkaline protease, since the mechanism of enzyme activation may differ in the microwave and therefore may require a different dosage; and ii) the time of extraction, since enzyme kinetics and phenolic solubilization and diffusion to the extraction medium may differ when exposed to microwave irradiation in MEAE compared to conductive and convective heating in EAE.

To select the concentration of FoodPro® alkaline protease, extraction conditions were fixed at pH 11.5, 1:10 SLR, 70 °C, and 45 min (5 min ramp time + 40 min holding time). The

experiments were evaluated at 0.1, 0.5, 1.0, 1.5, 2.0, and 2.5% alkaline protease (weight of enzyme/weight of pomace) along with a control containing no enzyme. In the second step, total extraction time was tested at 5, 15, 30, 45, and 60 min using 0.1% alkaline protease (w/w) at pH 11.5, 1:10 SLR, and 70 °C. All MEAE extractions were performed in triplicate, and the final centrifuged and filtered extracts were stored at -20 °C until further analysis.

3.2.3.5. Conventional and microwave-assisted solvent extractions using ethanol

To compare the results of the EAE, MAE, and MEAE methods to their conventional solvent controls, a hydroethanolic mixture of 60% ethanol (v/v) was used as the solvent. Ethanol extractions were performed at a 1:10 SLR (g pomace/mL ethanol) without further pH adjustment. In the temperature-controlled water bath, as a control for EAE, the grape pomace slurry was agitated at 500 rpm for 60 min at 50 °C on a magnetic stir plate (CimarecTM i Telesystem Multipoint Stirrers, Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). Controls for MAE and MEAE were performed at 70 °C for 30 min (5 min ramp time + 25 min holding time) with agitation. All ethanol extractions were performed in triplicate followed by centrifugation, filtration, and storage at -20 °C.

3.2.4. Analysis of grape pomace extracts from EAE, MAE, and MEAE

1.1.1. Total phenolic content (TPC)

The total phenolic content of the extracts was determined according to the Folin-Ciocalteu spectrophotometric method as described by Singleton et al. (1999). Grape pomace extracts were diluted to read within the absorbance range of a gallic acid standard curve. In a clear 96-well microplate, 25 µL of the diluted sample was mixed with 125 µL of Folin-Ciocalteu:water solution (diluted 1:10, v/v, in nanopure water) at 300 rpm for 5 minutes at 37 °C. A sample of 100 uL of 7.5% (w/v) anhydrous sodium carbonate solution was added and agitated again for 30 min then kept at rest for 90 min. The absorbance was read at 760 nm using a microplate reader (SpectraMax iD5, Molecular Devices, San Jose, CA). Results for each treatment (n = 9) were calculated using a standard curve of anhydrous gallic acid ($R^2 = 0.999$) with known concentrations of 5–95 µg/mL. TPC was expressed as mg of gallic acid equivalent (GAE)/g dry grape pomace extract.

1.1.2. ABTS and ORAC assays for antioxidant capacity

The ABTS assay, also known as the Trolox equivalent antioxidant capacity (TEAC) assay, was performed using the method of Al-Duais et al. (2009). The radical stock solution was produced by mixing 38.4 mg ABTS and 6.62 mg potassium persulfate in 10 mL deionized water. After incubating overnight in the dark, the radical stock solution was diluted with 95% (v/v) ethanol to obtain an initial absorbance of 0.70 ± 0.20 at 730 nm. Into a clear 96-well microplate, 20 µL of each grape extract sample diluted in ethanol was mixed with 200 µL diluted ABTS⁺⁺ solution. The mixture was agitated at 300 rpm for 6 min followed by reading at 730 nm using a spectrophotometer (SpectraMax iD5; Molecular Devices, San Jose, CA, USA). A calibration curve ($R^2 = 0.98$) using Trolox standard solutions (80–340 µM, diluted in ethanol) was used to calculate the results as µmol Trolox equivalent (TE)/g dry pomace.

The ORAC assay was performed according to procedures described by Zulueta et al. (2009). Briefly, 50 μ L of fluorescein (78 nM) was mixed with 50 μ L of grape pomace sample (diluted 1:2000, v/v, in phosphate buffer solution), blank (phosphate buffer solution), or standard (Trolox, 20 μ M). An aliquot of 25 μ L of 221 mM AAPH radical solution was added, and the microplate was read at 37 °C with an excitation wavelength of 485 nm and an emission wavelength of 535 nm. The fluorescence measurements were read every 5 min until the relative fluorescence intensity was less than 5% of the value of the initial reading. The ORAC values

were expressed as μ mol Trolox equivalent (TE)/g dried pomace by determining μ M Trolox using Equation 3.1, where C_{Trolox} represents the concentration of the standard (20 μ M), DF is the sample dilution factor (2000), and AUC is the area below the fluorescence decay curve of the sample, blank, or Trolox.

$$\mu M \text{ Trolox} = \frac{C_{\text{Trolox}}(AUC_{\text{sample}} - AUC_{\text{blank}}) * DF}{AUC_{\text{Trolox}} - AUC_{\text{blank}}} \text{ (Equation 3.1)}$$

1.1.3. Phenolic profiling by untargeted metabolomics

Identification of phenolics in triplicate grape pomace extracts was performed by the West Coast Metabolomics Center Central Services Core (UC Davis, Davis, CA, https://metabolomics.ucdavis.edu/core-services/assays-and-services) using a Q Exactive™ HF-X Hybrid Quadrupole-Orbitrap[™] Mass Spectrometer (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) using a PFP column. Phenolic identification and data processing was performed as described by Fiehn et al. (2008). A series of internal standards were added to the samples: Caffeine-d9, CUDA, daidzein-d4, genistein-d4, trans-cinnamic acid-d5, and hippuric acid-d5. A concentration of 0.5 μ g/mL of hippuric acid-d5 was used with all other standards concentrated at 1 μ g/mL in resuspension mix. Samples were resuspended to 100 µL with 0.5 µL injection volume for ESI positive mode and 5 µL for ESI negative mode (Supplementary Materials—Table S3.2). Compounds were identified by retention time and mass spectrum by comparing to established libraries. From the set of all identified and annotated compounds, only the annotated phenolic compounds were selected, sorted into classes, and reported. The reported peak heights were determined by dividing each metabolite peak by the sum of all peak heights for all identified metabolites for each sample.

1.1.4. Grape cell structure by scanning electron microscopy (SEM)

To investigate the effects of the various green extraction treatments on the grape pomace surface morphology, the insoluble fractions (residue from each extraction) of EAE, MAE, MEAE, and their control samples were evaluated using SEM. A sample of untreated, ground grape pomace sample was also analyzed to represent the starting material. Grape pomace tissues were rinsed twice in 0.1 M NaH₂PO₄ for 15 min each then dehydrated in an increasing series of ethanol (30–100%) and subjected to critical point drying (931.GL Supercritical Autosamdri, Tousimis Research Corporation, Rockville, MD, USA). The samples were mounted onto aluminum stubs and sputter-coated with gold (Pelco Auto Sputter Coater SC-7, Ted Pella, Inc., Redding, CA, USA) before imaging at 5 kV with magnification between 1000–1500× (Quattro S Environmental SEM, Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA).

3.2.5. Statistical analysis

All extractions and biological assays were performed in at least triplicate with the results expressed as mean \pm standard deviation (SD) of the replicates. Analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by the Tukey HSD test was performed using the Astatsa (2016, Navendu Vasavada) online program and JMP® (Trial 16.1.0, serial number T-TYPQDH0JJC, SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA) to determine significant differences among treatments at p < 0.05.

3.3. Results and Discussion

3.3.1. Effect of different enzymes and their combinations on phenolic extractability from grape pomace

It is established that the use of carbohydrases can aid in the release of polyphenols from plant cell walls, while proteases can cleave bound phenolics from structural proteins within the cellular matrix (Puri et al., 2012). The effects of various enzymatic treatments : (i) carbohydraseassisted extraction (pectinase, FoodPro® BSL, or FoodPro® CBL); (ii) FoodPro® alkaline
protease-assisted extraction; (iii) carbohydrase pre-treatment followed by an alkaline aqueous extraction; and (iv) carbohydrase pre-treatment followed by alkaline protease-assisted extraction are shown in Figure 3.2A.

The phenolic yields across all enzyme screening experiments are shown in Figure 3.2A. Overall, the maximum TPC of 39.2 ± 1.66 mg GAE/g dry pomace resulted from the 30-min pretreatment using 0.5% (w/w) pectinase followed by a 75-min extraction using 0.5% (w/w) FoodPro® alkaline protease. This phenolic yield is within the range of previous reports of EAE using wine grape pomace, where the phenolic yields ranged from 19.3 to 25.5 mg GAE/g dry pomace for mixed grape samples, 40.5 to 45.4 mg GAE/g dry pomace for white wine samples, and 51.8 to 60.1 mg GAE/g dry pomace for red wine samples using combinations of tannase, pectinase, and cellulase at 5% (w/w) total loading (Martins et al., 2016).

The other carbohydrase pre-treatments (FoodPro® BSL and CBL) followed by protease extraction also achieved high phenolic extractability (38.4 ± 0.45 and 37.0 ± 0.60 mg GAE/g dry pomace, respectively), being significantly higher than the TPC of the respective control experiment without enzymes at same pH conditions (pH 5.0 followed by pH 9.36) (TPC of 31.6 ± 0.75 mg GAE/g dry pomace). These results emphasize the action of the carbohydrases in hydrolyzing grape cell wall components and improving accessibility of the protease to structural proteins within the cell wall for the release of bound phenolics. However, all experiments conducted only at pH 5.0, regardless of carbohydrase use, produced the lowest phenolic contents with a TPC between 15.6-17.6 mg GAE/g dry pomace (Figure 3.2A). This finding agrees with the results described in Chapter 2, which emphasize the limited effects of acidic pH on the aqueous extraction of phenolics from the unfermented Cabernet Sauvignon pomace. Notably, there was no difference in the TPC of the alkaline control extraction without enzymes at pH 9.36 (31.9 ± 1.14

mg GAE/g dry pomace) compared to any of the carbohydrase pre-treatments at pH 5.0 followed by the shift to pH 9.36 (30.6–32.7 mg GAE/g dry pomace). Overall, the exposure to alkaline conditions alone was the main driver of phenolic extraction (TPC of 31.9 ± 1.14 mg GAE/g dry pomace), which was further enhanced by the addition of protease alone at alkaline conditions (TPC of 36.3 ± 1.11 mg GAE/g dry pomace), or the use of carbohydrases followed by protease at alkaline pH (TPC of 37.0 ± 0.60 to 39.2 ± 1.66 mg GAE/g dry pomace).

Importantly, the use of 0.5% (w/w) FoodPro® alkaline protease at pH 9.36 produced a TPC of 36.3 ± 1.11 mg GAE/g dry pomace after 75 min, which is only 8% lower than the TPC of the extracts obtained with the additional 30-min pectinase pre-treatment (Figure 3.2A). Our results agree with the literature, where the influence of high pH and protease-assisted treatments on promoting phenolic extractability from raspberry pomace press-cake has been reported by Saad et al. (2019). The simultaneous recovery of polyphenols and oils from raspberry pomace press-cake was best induced at pH 9 using 1.2% thermostable alkaline protease for 2 h at 60 °C, while the combination of alkaline protease followed by either pectinase and cellulase or by xylanase did not enhance polyphenolic yields or antioxidant activity compared to the application of protease alone (Saad et al., 2019). It was hypothesized that interferences from lignin may have obstructed the accessibility of the carbohydrases to their substrates, resulting in negligible improvements in phenolic extraction (Saad et al., 2019). Therefore, the costs associated with the prolonged extraction time, additional enzyme use, and intensified energy requirements of a pectinase pretreatment process should be considered when evaluating the economic and environmental feasibility of EAE for industrial scale.

For this reason, the two best extraction scenarios (alkaline protease alone and alkaline protease preceded by pectinase pre-treatment) were more extensively evaluated to validate the

need for the pectinase pre-treatment and to explore the effect of their corresponding enzyme dosages on phenolic yields. As shown in Figure 3.2B, the use of 0.1% (w/w) FoodPro® alkaline protease significantly increased phenolic yields $(35.0 \pm 1.04 \text{ mg GAE/g dry pomace})$ compared to the aqueous control at pH 9.36 $(31.9 \pm 1.14 \text{ mg GAE/g dry pomace})$ and was not significantly different from the ones obtained when using 0.5% $(36.3 \pm 1.11 \text{ mg GAE/g dry pomace})$ and 1.0% $(35.0 \pm 1.32 \text{ mg GAE/g dry pomace})$ of protease. Although a slightly higher TPC $(37.1 \pm 0.42 \text{ mg GAE/g dry pomace})$ was produced using 1.5% (w/w) protease, the processing costs associated with the high enzyme application at a large scale would be counterproductive to justify the small increment in phenolic extraction. Therefore, 0.1% protease was selected as the fixed condition in the experiments exploring a pectinase pre-treatment loading of 0.5–2.5% (w/w).

Compared to the TPC of the extract obtained using only 0.1% (w/w) alkaline protease, no significant improvement was observed by the addition of an upstream 0.5% or 1.5% (w/w) pectinase pre-treatment (Figure 3.2B). Interestingly, the use of a 2.5% (w/w) pectinase pre-treatment did not increase phenolic extraction compared to the control without enzymes. This phenomenon is potentially due to an increase in slurry viscosity caused by an excessive addition of the powdered enzyme, which may have reduced mass transfer of phenolics into the saturated solvent (Kristensen et al., 2009; Macedo et al., 2021). The use of a pectinase pre-treatment before the 0.1% alkaline protease extraction was therefore regarded as unnecessary, thus saving time, energy, and resources to promote a more economically feasible extraction process.



Figure 3.2. Effect of enzyme-assisted extraction (EAE) screening experiments on the phenolic content of unfermented Cabernet Sauvignon grape pomace extracts. [A] Screening of FoodPro® alkaline protease, pectinase, FoodPro® BSL, and FoodPro® CBL individually and in combination at 0.5% (w/w) loading. [B] Effects of FoodPro® alkaline protease and pectinase pre-treatment concentrations. All experiments were performed using a 1:50 SLR (g pomace/mL water) at 50 °C for 75 min with a 30 min pre-treatment when applicable. Different letters indicate significant (p < 0.05) differences in TPC amongst all treatments as indicated by Tukey's HSD test.

3.3.2. Effect of reaction time, SLR, and pH on the phenolic extractability of alkaline protease-assisted extraction

Upon selection of the 0.1% (w/w) FoodPro® alkaline protease extraction for all EAE treatments, the optimal extraction time, SLR, and slurry pH were identified by stepwise optimization process. Extraction temperature was not examined in these experiments because 50 °C has been shown to provide an adequate compromise between promoting solute diffusion and enzymatic hydrolysis while preventing degradation of thermolabile phenolics (Oreopoulou et al., 2019). The results of the kinetic study (Figure 3.3A) indicate that the total extraction time could be reduced from the initial 75 min (control, AEP) to 60 min while still maintaining high phenolic yields. Reduced extraction time when using alkaline protease to aid the extraction is likely the result of more rapid degradation of the grape cell components by catalyzing selective hydrolysis of structural proteins, thus aiding in a quicker release of phenolics (Gómez-García et al., 2012; Xu et al., 2014).

Next, the SLR of the extraction slurry was re-evaluated at 60 min to determine if water consumption could be reduced without negatively impacting TPC. Phenolic yields were reduced from 34.8 ± 0.99 mg GAE/g dry pomace (Figure 3.3B) to 31.6 ± 0.37 mg GAE/g dry pomace when SLR increased from 1:50 to 1:10 in the EAE. It is well understood that more dilute solutions will promote mass transfer of compounds due to the larger concentration gradient between the substrate and the solvent (Nayak et al., 2018; Pinelo et al., 2005). At the same time, larger volumes of solvent will require higher energy inputs during downstream processing to concentrate the bioactive compounds for further applications. Therefore, the 1:10 SLR, which generated a substantial TPC of 31.6 ± 0.37 mg GAE/g dry pomace at reduced water usage, was selected for continued optimization to explore a more cost-effective option for potential future commercialization efforts.

As previously shown in Chapter 2, increasing the slurry pH resulted in higher TPC in the extracts from unfermented Cabernet Sauvignon pomace. Since the FoodPro® alkaline protease maintains stable activity up to pH 10.5, a higher range of alkaline conditions was evaluated to elucidate the synergistic effects of pH and enzymatic activity on total phenolic yields. Compared to the aqueous control at pH 9.36, the addition of 0.1% (w/w) alkaline protease to the grape pomace slurry adjusted to pH 10.5 produced a two-fold increase in phenolic yield to a maximum TPC of 65.5 ± 3.24 mg GAE/g dry pomace (Figure 3.3C). Furthermore, the integration of both alkaline hydrolysis and protease-assisted extraction improved phenolic extraction by over 38% compared to the conventional hydroethanolic extraction using 60% ethanol (v/v). This phenomenon highlights the potential for EAE to serve as an alternative to conventional solvent extraction by releasing polyphenols, especially bound phenolics, from the grape cell matrix. While some enzyme-assisted extraction investigations have focused on the use of cellulases, tannases, and pectinases to hydrolyze residual sugars and structural carbohydrates for the release of phenolics (Chamorro et al., 2012; Martins et al., 2016), in this study, phenolic recovery was best induced using 0.1% (w/w) FoodPro® alkaline protease at pH 10.5 with a 1:10 SLR at 50 °C for 60 min. The SLR, temperature, and time parameters identified for EAE were used as the foundation for the MAE screening experiments.

While the use of alkaline extraction to recover phenolics from grape pomace is not yet widely reported, it is important to recognize that alkali is traditionally used as a pretreatment when cooking corn to produce masa, tortillas, and tortilla chips at commercial scales (de La Parra et al., 2007; Kasote et al., 2021). The nixtamalization process occurs at pH 9–13 using 0.5-1.5% (w/w) calcium hydroxide solution (also known as lime), which dissolves hemicellulose to improve digestibility, reduce antinutrients and mycotoxins, enhance calcium uptake, and increase

the bioaccessibility of phenolics. Additionally, the nixtamalization effluent can be recycled as a calcium- and phenolic-rich filtrate for the concentration of valuable compounds. Castro-Muñoz et al. (2016) reported that the retentate from ultrafiltration of nixtamalization wastewater contained 986 mg/L polyphenols and 3155 mg/L calcium at pH 13.28. This example emphasizes that alkaline conditions alone, even without the use of protease to hydrolyze cell wall structures, can still produce rich phenolic extracts. Further investigation of the production and mitigation of sodium and calcium salts during large scale extractions is required.



Figure 3.3. Selection of enzyme-assisted extraction (EAE) parameters: [A] Effect of extraction time using 0.1% protease (w/w), pH 9.36, 1:50 SLR, 50 °C (\bullet) compared to the aqueous control at 75 min (\blacktriangle); [B] Effect of solids-to-liquid ratio at pH 9.36, 50 °C, 60 min on TPC compared to the aqueous control; [C] Effect of increased pH on aqueous and enzyme-assisted extractions compared to conventional solvent extraction at 1:10 SLR, 50 °C, 60 min. Different letters indicate significant (p < 0.05) differences in TPC within each figure as indicated by Tukey's HSD test. AEP (control): aqueous extraction process. CSE: conventional solvent extraction (60% ethanol).

3.3.3. Effect of microwave-assisted extraction parameters on phenolic extraction

Microwave-assisted extraction parameters such as slurry pH, SLR, temperature, and time were first evaluated without the use of alkaline protease to better understand the unique impact of microwave radiation on releasing phenolics from the grape pomace matrix. Although similar extraction parameters were explored with EAE, they were re-examined with MAE due to the different mechanisms of action induced by the different heating techniques. First, the grape pomace samples were adjusted to pH 9.36–12.0 at the start of the extraction to determine the best alkaline condition for MAE. Since the slurry pH could not be maintained while the sample was in the microwave, the final pH values ranged from 7.11–11.6, respectively. Significant increases in TPC were observed with each increase in pH up to a maximum TPC of 79.7 ± 2.17 mg GAE/g dry pomace at pH 12.0 (Figure 3.4A). The positive linear trend with the use of alkaline conditions, also observed by Librán et al. (2013), is likely caused by the cleavage of ester- and ether-linked phenolics from proteins within the grape matrix.

Other reports of the use of MAE have shown positive effects on phenolic extraction from grape pomace (Álvarez et al., 2017; Brahim et al., 2014; Drosou et al., 2015; Li et al., 2011), but a direct comparison of data is challenging due to the lack of studies specifically employing alkaline conditions with unfermented Cabernet Sauvignon pomace samples. Drevelegka & Goula (2020) optimized MAE of phenolics from Agiorgitiko pomace using 42% ethanol at 408 W microwave power, 1:24 SLR, and 5 min, yielding a TPC of 36.44 ± 0.96 mg GAE/g dry pomace. Additionally, the use of alkaline extraction in MAE has shown improvements in phenolic yields from other plant materials, such as cocoa bean shell waste (Mellinas et al., 2020) (pH 12, 1:25 SLR, 97 °C, 5 min, 35.9 \pm 0.9 mg GAE/g DW) and cranberry pomace (Davis et al., 2021), but alkaline methods have not yet been employed for Cabernet Sauvignon pomace during microwave processing.

Since the goal of this study was to integrate both MAE and FoodPro® alkaline protease, which begins to lose activity at pH values beyond 10.5, all further microwave-assisted screening experiments were adjusted to pH 11.5 to allow for a drop in pH to approximately pH 10.4 during

microwave extraction, thus encouraging maximum phenolic yields while maintaining enzymatic stability.

The SLRs of 1:10, 1:25, and 1:50 g pomace/mL water were evaluated at pH 11.5 and 50 °C for 60 min. Since no significant enhancement in phenolic extractability was observed when decreasing the SLR from 1:10 to 1:50, the 1:10 SLR was selected for subsequent experiments to reduce water usage (Figure 3.4B). The different trends observed with respect to the impact of SLR on phenolic extractability between MAE and EAE may be due to the different heating mechanisms and pH conditions of each treatment. In EAE, although the 1:10 SLR was selected to conserve water, the more dilute 1:50 SLR increased TPC in accordance with mass transfer principles. In MAE, however, phenolic extractability at higher SLR (i.e., 1:10 SLR) may have been enhanced by microwave radiation, which improved heating, cell wall disruption, and phenolic extraction despite the lower concentration gradient.

Increasing microwave temperature from 40 to 70 °C resulted in a maximum TPC (91.9 \pm 0.94 mg GAE/g dry pomace) at 70 °C using pH 11.5, 1:10 SLR, and 60 min of extraction (Figure 3.4C). Interestingly, although the pH was initially adjusted to pH 11.5 prior to extraction, the final extract pH upon removal from the microwave was 7.8. This result suggests that elevated MAE temperatures may compensate for the decline in pH due to the release of phenolic acids into the solvent. Microwave heating causes localized pressure and temperature increases within the grape cells until the cells eventually burst, and this rupturing allows for the diffusion of intracellular solutes into the surrounding environment. Although there are concerns related to the degradation of thermolabile compounds, microwave-assisted extraction was found to maintain the stability of benzoic acids, benzoic aldehydes, cinnamic acids, catechins, coumarins, stilbenes, and flavonols at temperatures from 50 °C up to 100 °C for 20 min (Liazid et al., 2007). The selection of 70 °C

provides adequate thermal energy to drive mass transfer while also conserving resources to promote economic feasibility and environmental sustainability.

To evaluate MAE kinetics, samples were evaluated after 5, 15, 30, 45, and 60 min of extraction. Each condition used a 5 min ramp-up to achieve the set temperature of 70 °C with the remaining extraction time consisting of the time held at 70 °C. Figure 3.4D shows no significant difference in TPC at any time point, emphasizing the role of MAE in substantially reducing required extraction time to just 5 min of microwave exposure. After only 5 min in the microwave using pH 11.5 and 1:10 SLR at 70 °C, the TPC of the extract was 87.8 ± 0.38 mg GAE/g dry pomace. Compared to the 60-minute EAE control (pH 10.5, 1:10 SLR, 50 °C water bath), which resulted in a TPC of 58.8 ± 0.66 mg GAE/g dry pomace, the use of a 5-min MAE improved yields by nearly 50%. Constant extraction yields from 5 to 60 min suggests that, at the selected extraction parameters, phenolic extraction was exhaustive and further diffusion of the solute into the solvent could not occur. The rapid heat treatment in MAE is caused by the exposure of polar water molecules in the grape cells and surrounding solvent to the oscillating electromagnetic field. As water molecules begin to absorb microwave energy, their random motion generates friction and targeted heating within the sample (Chaturvedi, 2018). This mechanism encourages faster reaction times than conventional conductive heating.



Figure 3.4. Effect of microwave-assisted extraction (MAE) parameters on TPC: [A] increasing alkaline pH at 1:10 SLR, 50°C, 60 min (5 min ramp + 55 min hold); [B] decreasing solids-to-liquid ratio at pH 11.5, 50 °C, 60 min (5 min ramp + 55 min hold); [C] increasing temperature at pH 11.5, 1:10 SLR, 60 min (5 min ramp + 55 min hold); and [D] increasing extraction time at pH 11.5, 1:10 SLR, 70 °C. Different letters indicate significant (p < 0.05) differences in TPC within each figure as indicated by Tukey's HSD test.

3.3.4. Integrated microwave enzyme-assisted extraction (MEAE)

Although 5 min was an adequate extraction time to achieve impressive phenolic yields using MAE, the extraction time was ultimately extended to 45 min to perform a preliminary evaluation of the role of enzyme application in the MEAE process. The hypothesis was that 5 min could not provide enough time to observe the full effects caused by both enzymatic and microwave activities, whereas 45 min could provide ample time to evaluate enzymatic extraction kinetics while still minimizing total extraction time. The specific extraction time for MEAE was optimized in later screenings.

While 0.1% (w/w) protease was satisfactory for EAE, it was important to consider the potential need for a different enzyme dosage in MEAE due to the changes in heating mechanisms and vessel properties between the two techniques. Specifically, a higher enzyme dosage was explored from 0.1–2.5% (w/w) at pH 11.5, 1:10 SLR, and 70 °C for 45 min (5 min ramp + 40 min hold). As shown in Figure 3.5A, the use of 0.1–2.0% (w/w) protease resulted in no change in the TPC of the MEAE extracts compared to the MAE control. In fact, the highest protease concentration of 2.5% (w/w) resulted in a slight decrease in TPC, which was similarly observed by Cheng et al. (2015) with a high loading (2.0–3.0%) of cellulase, papain, and pectinase for carbohydrate extraction. Although there was no increase in TPC using any of the protease concentrations during this MEAE screening trial, the minimum enzyme concentration of 0.1% (w/w) was selected for further optimization of MEAE to provide an opportunity to explore enzyme extraction kinetics while also being conscious of the associated costs.



Figure 3.5. Effect of alkaline protease concentration (w/w) on TPC of microwave enzymeassisted (MEAE) extracts at pH 11.5, 1:10 SLR, 70 °C, 45 min (5 min ramp + 40 min hold) [A]. Comparison of kinetic studies from MAE and MEAE experiments at pH 11.5, 1:10 SLR, 70 °C [B]. Different letters indicate significant differences (p < 0.05) in each figure as indicated by Tukey's HSD test. MAE: Microwave-assisted extraction. MSE: Microwave solvent extraction using 60% ethanol.

Because the initial reaction time selection of 45 min may have not been long enough to demonstrate the potential benefits of the protease in MEAE, a wider range of extraction times (5, 15, 30, 45, and 60 min) was evaluated for TPC using 0.1% (w/w) FoodPro® alkaline protease. Maximum TPC occurred after 60 min of extraction (105.1 ± 3.83 mg GAE/g dry pomace) but was not statistically different from the TPC at 30 min of extraction (100.9 ± 2.09 mg GAE/g dry pomace) (Figure 3.5B). Although the phenolic yield after just 5 min of MEAE exposure was impressive (92.4 ± 1.58 mg GAE/g dry pomace), a 30-min MEAE treatment provided higher TPC, so this sample was selected for further analysis of antioxidant properties and phenolic profiling. It is important to highlight that despite the small improvements in the TPC of the extracts produced by MEAE compared with MAE, a different phenolic profile could be expected for both extracts due to the role of the enzyme during the extraction. These results indicate that the combined effects

of microwave processing and enzyme-assisted extraction enabled a reduction in the total processing time and increased phenolic extractability compared to the results from the techniques when applied individually. The synergy of microwave enzyme-assisted extraction has also been studied by Görgüç et al. (2020) and Macedo et al. (2021) in the extraction of phenolics from sesame bran and olive pomace, respectively, but not thoroughly detailed for wine grape pomace. In one study, Jia et al. (2021) optimized the phenolic extraction (125.32 mg GAE/g dry weight) from Cabernet Sauvignon seeds using enzyme and microwave co-assisted salting-out extraction, but this method still relied on the use of 25% (w/w) ethanol and explored the activity of pectinase under acidic conditions (pectinase amount of 540 U/g at pH 4.5). Additionally, Jia et al. (2021) only focused on extracting phenolics from grape seeds, while the present study also included Cabernet Sauvignon grape skins to explore the additional valuable polyphenolic components that this fraction contributes. The results of the present study, therefore, provide a new approach to MEAE at alkaline conditions using the unfermented Cabernet Sauvignon grape pomace feedstock.

Since the highest TPC across all experiments was produced using MEAE at 70 °C with a 1:10 SLR for 30 min, this extraction condition was also performed with 60% ethanol to provide a comparison to conventional solvent techniques. As shown in Figure 3.5B, microwave solvent extraction (MSE) was less effective than all MAE and MEAE treatments. In fact, the use of 60% ethanol in the microwave generated a TPC over two-times lower than the TPC generated using water at the same microwave extraction conditions. The low phenolic yields from MSE could be explained by the lower polarity and dielectric constant of ethanol compared to water. The use of 60% ethanol slightly decreased the polarity of the solvent, which reduced the extraction of polar phenolic compounds since microwave radiation is better absorbed by highly polar solvents. These

results reinforce the opportunity for substituting ethanol with pure water under optimized microwave conditions for the recovery of bioactive plant compounds.

3.3.5. Antioxidant activities of grape pomace extracts

The antioxidant capacities of the extracts resulting from the optimal EAE, MAE, MEAE, and control samples were determined using ABTS and ORAC assays. Both analyses were performed to provide a more holistic perspective of the *in vitro* biological properties of grape pomace extracts. The use of multiple antioxidant capacity tests is commonly encouraged due to the different radical scavenging mechanisms involved in each test: ABTS measures antioxidant activity by the single-electron transfer (SET) method while ORAC uses the hydrogen atom transfer (HAT) reaction to measure peroxyl radical decomposition (Huang et al., 2005; Speisky et al., 2017).

Overall, similar trends were observed between the radical scavenging activities from ABTS and ORAC assays across all treatments. Notably, there was no significant difference between the antioxidant power obtained from ABTS or ORAC assays for CSE, MSE, MAE, and MEAE extracts (Table 3.1). However, AEP and EAE extracts showed slightly lower chemical antioxidant activities despite their relatively high phenolic yields, which highlights the importance of understanding the phenolic composition of the extracts. The use of 60% ethanol likely improved the antioxidant activity in CSE and MSE extracts due to a shift in their associated phenolic profiles. The results of the untargeted metabolomics profiling (Supplementary Materials—Table S3.1) show that the hydroethanolic extracts were richer in the anthocyanin malvidin-3,5diglucoside, which has been associated with driving antioxidant activity in grape extracts (Jiménez-Moreno et al., 2019; Rivero-Pérez et al., 2008). The higher relative content of malvidin-3,5-diglucoside in the hydroethanolic extracts is likely due to the stability of anthocyanins in acidic

environments, where the flavylium ion of anthocyanins is in its dominant protonated form (Seeram et al., 2001). Therefore, it is likely that the solvent specificity of some phenolics in CSE and MSE extracts may have improved their antioxidant activity in 60% ethanol. It is also possible that the slurry exposure to air and light during AEP and EAE, which were performed in open vessels compared to sealed vessels for MSE, MAE, and MEAE extracts within the microwave, might have reduced the antioxidant power of the grape pomace phenolics due to oxidation (Lafka et al., 2007)

Despite this phenomenon, it is evident that the use of microwave-assisted extraction in the presence or absence of enzymes maintained the bioactivity of the grape pomace extracts to values similar to those of CSE (not statistically different at p < 0.05) while using the alkaline slurry as the solvent at moderate extraction conditions. Kumar et al. (2020) also observed the cumulative effects of integrating MAE and EAE on improving the antioxidant power (FRAP) of pomegranate peel extracts compared to the use of either method or CSE alone. The promising bioactivity of both MAE and MEAE extracts, which can be produced at much shorter reaction times compared with AEP and EAP and without the use of flammable solvents in MSE and CSE, supports the use of this strategy in developing functional ingredients for food, beverage, cosmetic, or pharmaceutical applications. Further research should evaluate the efficacy of the grape pomace extracts in cell culture studies and *in vivo* trials to determine the bioavailability and bioaccessibility of the phenolics for biological radical scavenging.

Treatment	Extraction conditions	TPC mg GAE/g dry pomace	ABTS μmol TE/g dry pomace	ORAC μmol TE/g dry pomace
CSE	60% ethanol, 1:10 SLR, 60 min, 50 °C	47.3 ± 1.78^{e}	298 ± 0.99^a	788 ± 34.8^{a}
AEP	pH 10.5, 1:10 SLR, 60 min, 50 °C	58.8 ± 0.66^d	$211\pm17.7^{\rm c}$	396 ± 19.5^{c}
EAE	0.1% protease, pH 10.5, 1:10 SLR, 60 min, 50 °C	$65.5\pm3.24^{\text{c}}$	261 ± 4.86^{b}	522 ± 43.6^{b}
MSE	60% ethanol, 1:10 SLR, 30 min, 70 °C	44.6 ± 1.47^e	293 ± 1.85^a	747 ± 97.0^{a}
MAE	pH 11.5, 1:10 SLR, 30 min, 70 °C	91.3 ± 1.79^{b}	297 ± 0.66^a	710 ± 44.7^{a}
MEAE	0.1% protease, pH 11.5, 1:10 SLR, 30 min, 70 °C	100.9 ± 2.09^{a}	297 ± 0.59^{a}	793 ± 88.5^{a}

Table 3.1. Total phenolic content and antioxidant activities of grape pomace extracts from optimal conditions for each treatment

Different lowercase letters in the same column indicate significant differences (p < 0.05) within that column. Values represent mean \pm SD (n = 9).

3.3.6. Phenolic profiling by untargeted metabolomics approach

The phenolic compositions of the six selected grape pomace extracts shown in Table 3.1 were also investigated by an untargeted metabolomics approach to better identify the pool of secondary metabolites associated with unfermented Cabernet Sauvignon grape pomace. This strategy aimed to highlight similarities and differences among the phenolic compounds identified across the conventional and alternative extraction methods. Overall, 37 phenolic compounds were identified from the 263 total annotated grape compounds, which were part of the 1,950 total identified metabolites including sugars, amino acids, and lipids. The average (n = 3) peak heights reported for each sample (Supplementary Materials—Table S3.1) were determined by dividing each metabolite peak by the sum of all peak heights for all identified metabolites for each sample. The reported relative content of each identified and annotated phenolic compound was then normalized as a fraction (%) of the total peak heights from all phenolics in the sample. It is important to note that the sum of the total phenolic peak heights varied greatly across extraction treatments with the ethanol extractions yielding total peak heights that were ten-times greater than the aqueous extractions.

The phenolic subclass with the greatest constituents across all extracts was flavonoid glycosides. The phenolic compositions from each treatment are illustrated in Figure 3.6 with

similar compositional trends between CSE and MSE, AEP and EAE, and MAE and MEAE. The extracts of CSE and MSE were rich in flavanols, anthocyanins (i.e, malvidin 3,5-diglucoside), and flavonols. The alternative green extraction methods (AEP, EAE, MAE, and MEAE) contained a higher proportion of hydroxycinnamic and hydroxybenzoic acids compared to the hydroethanolic extractions, and the MAE and MEAE methods also showed increases in the relative content of the stilbene trans-piceid.

Malvidin 3,5-diglucoside and procyanidin B2 isomers were the most abundant compounds identified in the extracts from CSE and MSE (Supplementary Materials—Table S3.1). This finding suggests that the hydroethanolic solvent promoted dissolution of these flavanols and anthocyanins. Other phenolic identifications that were unique to the hydroethanolic extractions include kaempferol and kaempferol 3-alpha-L-arabinopyranoside (flavonols), tricin and jaceoside (flavones), and iridin (isoflavone). Tricin, jaceoside, and iridin have not been widely reported in the literature as being associated with Cabernet Sauvignon skins and seeds.

The AEP and EAE extracts contained a higher relative content of the following compounds, which in total represented over 85% of the total peak height for each treatment (Supplementary Materials—Table S3.1): trans-melilotoside isomers (hydroxycinnamic acids), gentisic acid-5-O-glucoside (hydroxybenzoic acid), and isorhamnetin 3-galactoside and myricitrin (flavonols). The AEP and EAE extracts contained a lower proportion of flavanols (e.g., catechin, epicatechin, and procyanidins) and anthocyanins (e.g., malvidin 3,5-diglucoside) compared to the relative contents of these compounds in the other extraction treatments. Since these compounds are strongly associated with providing antioxidant activity (Iacopini et al., 2008; Lachman et al., 2009; Yilmaz & Toledo, 2003), this likely explains the lower ABTS and ORAC antioxidant activities of AEP and EAE extracts as shown in Table 3.1.

Compared to AEP and EAE, the composition of the MAE and MEAE extracts shifted towards flavanols, specifically procyanidin B2 isomers (Supplementary Materials—Table S3.1), which relates these extracts to those obtained using the hydroethanolic solvents. In addition to flavanols, MAE and MEAE extracts also contained high relative contents of trans-melilotoside and gentisic acid-5-O-glucoside. Compared to the MSE samples, MAE and MEAE techniques also increased the relative contents of p-coumaric acid, epicatechin monogallate, catechins, and transpiceid. Trans-piceid is a resveratrol glucoside considered to be the most abundant form of resveratrol in nature with physiological importance in inhibiting platelet aggregation (Romero-Pérez et al., 1999).

The phenolic profiles in Figure 3.6 highlight the capability of untargeted approaches to illuminate a wider variety of phenolics that may be otherwise overlooked through targeted methods. For example, an abundance of glycosidic forms of phenolic acids and flavonoids were identified in the grape pomace extracts that may not be typically included as standards in targeted methods. The pervasiveness of these flavonoid glycosides throughout the grape pomace extracts may be explained by the steric hindrance created by sugar moieties and the protection that this acylation may offer against polyphenolic degradation at alkaline conditions (Fleschhut et al., 2006). This result also emphasizes the role of the starting material composition, which was high in residual sugars due to the pomace being collected prior to fermentation. Notably, this study highlights the effect that upstream winemaking methods can have on the downstream chemical and biological properties of the grape pomace extracts. Further, polyphenols like naringenin-7-O-glucoside, salviaflaside, and secoisolariciresinol that are commonly associated with citrus, self-heal herb (Prunella vulgaris), and flaxseed, respectively, were identified in the grape extracts (Supplementary Materials—Table S3.1). These findings elucidate potential relationships between

the phytochemistry of various plant species and offer insight into shared metabolic pathways and mechanisms of action of these bioactives. However, since the data shown in Figure 3.6 was normalized based on the sum of all phenolic peak heights within the sample, further quantitation is required to understand how extraction treatments can affect the resulting phenolic contents of the extracts.



Figure 3.6. Phenolic compositions of the grape pomace extracts identified using an untargeted metabolomics approach.

3.3.7. Effects of extraction treatments on the microstructure of grape cell matrix

Images of the grape pomace insoluble fractions were captured using scanning electron microscopy (SEM) to illustrate the effect of the various extraction treatments on the microstructure of the grape cell matrix. As shown in Figure 3.7B-G, different combinations of ethanol, alkali, protease, and microwave radiation degraded the grape cell wall and altered the surface morphology of the grape pomace samples compared to the untreated control (Figure 3.7A).

The freshly ground grape pomace in the untreated control sample shows a smooth, tightly packed surface (Figure 3.7A). Although this material was exposed to a short mechanical pretreatment using mortar and pestle to reduce the sample particle size to a finer paste, the surface structure of the particles remained relatively continuous and intact. The use of 60% ethanol in CSE (Figure 3.7B) did not cause significant morphological differences to the cell structure as compared to the untreated control (Figure 3.7A), which reflects the low phenolic extraction trend shown in Table 3.1. It is possible that during the alkaline extractions at pH 10.5 (Figure 3.7C-D), fragmentation and disintegration of the structural proteins and fibrous carbohydrates revealed a honeycomb appearance with a highly porous matrix. The addition of alkaline protease (Figure 3.7D) in EAE shows the enhanced permeability of the cell matrix caused by enzymatic hydrolysis and the large pores produced by the diffusion of compounds across the grape cell wall. These results are also in agreement with the improvement in phenolic extractability of EAE compared to AEP (Table 3.1).

More pronounced rupturing effects were evident with the use of microwave-assisted extraction (Figure 3.7E-G). The combination of higher temperatures and pressure within the grape cell matrix using microwave heating resulted in the bursting of the cell structure. This cellular damage is reflective of the high phenolic extraction yields recovered by MAE and MEAE. In addition, disruption of the grape cell matrix via microwave radiation provided more surface area and better accessibility of the material to enzymatic attack, thus improving overall phenolic extraction with the addition of FoodPro® alkaline protease in MEAE (Figure 3.7G). The SEM image of the MEAE process illustrates the severe loss in the structural integrity of the

grape pomace and shows the mechanism for liberating bound phenolics from the sample. Similar effects using combined alkaline and microwave extraction systems were observed by Görgüç et al. (2020) in the extraction of proteins and phenolics from sesame bran.

When comparing the use of 60% ethanol as the extraction solvent, the MSE sample (Figure 3.7E) shows more intense fragmentation of the grape cell matrix compared to the CSE sample (Figure 3.7B). This may be caused by a more intense heating process in the microwave at 70 °C and the higher dissipation factor of ethanol (Mandal et al., 2006). While ethanol absorbs microwave energy less efficiently than water due to its lower dielectric constant, it disperses the heat to surrounding molecules much faster, which resulted in severe cellular damage to the MSE sample and may have degraded some heat-sensitive phenolics, as suggested by its low phenolic content (Table 3.1). Xue et al. (2018) also observed intensified structural changes in blueberry powder using 60% ethanol as the solvent with increasing microwave power (100-400 W). Similarly, Özbek et al. (2019) evaluated the use of hydroethanolic solvents with and without microwave irradiation to extract phenolics from pistachio hulls, and a more extensive cellular rupture was reported with the aid of a 4.5-min, 140 W microwave treatment. The MSE method also proved to be less effective in phenolic extraction than the other microwave extractions (MAE and MEAE), which emphasizes the role of alkaline conditions in releasing and solubilizing phenolics from cell wall structural components. Overall, SEM provided visual representations of the morphological changes to the grape pomace microstructures across the various extraction treatments. The mechanism of phenolic liberation was best exemplified using MEAE, where the effects of cellular rupture by microwave energy were also supported by the structural damage caused by proteolytic activity.



Figure 3.7. SEM images of grape pomace insoluble fractions obtained from various treatments at optimal conditions: [A] untreated control at 1200x, [B] CSE at 1000x, [C] AEP at 1000x, [D] EAEP at 1200x, [E] MSE at 1200x, [F] MAE at 1500x, and [G] MEAE at 1000x.

3.4. Conclusion

Wine grape pomace is an underutilized waste stream of the winemaking process that offers an abundant source of bioactive components, especially phenolics, for food and health applications. Green extraction technologies using water as the only solvent were successfully applied as promising, eco-friendly alternatives to conventional ethanol extraction. In this study, an integrated design including alkaline conditions, protease-assisted extraction, and microwave radiation was developed to extract phenolics from Cabernet Sauvignon pomace collected prior to fermentation as a byproduct of a special white winemaking process. Microwave processing, in the presence or absence of enzymes, was an effective and rapid strategy to disrupt the grape pomace cell wall using water as the only solvent, which was reflected by higher phenolic extraction at reduced extraction times and intensified cellular damage as illustrated by SEM imaging. While AEP and EAE achieved phenolic contents of 58.8 ± 0.66 and 65.5 ± 3.24 mg GAE/g dry pomace, respectively, after 60 min of extraction at 50° C, MAE and MEAE increased phenolic extractability to 91.3 ± 1.79 and 100.9 ± 2.09 mg GAE/g dry pomace, respectively, after 30 min at 70 °C, yielding over two times the TPC of the ethanol extracts.

Importantly, while the *in vitro* antioxidant activities (by ABTS and ORAC methods) of AEP and EAP extracts were lower than the ones from CSE, which is considered the standard technique for phenolic extraction, MAE and MEAE extracts had similar activities to the CSE extract. These results highlight the impact of the different extraction methods on the selective extraction of phenolic compounds, which was elucidated using an untargeted metabolomics approach. The combined use of alkaline water, enzyme, and microwave processing shifted the phenolic profile of the MEAE extracts towards a higher proportion of hydroxycinnamic acids, hydroxybenzoic acids, stilbenes, and lignans but a lower proportion of flavanols, anthocyanins, and flavonols compared to the ethanol extracts. Future evaluation of *in vivo* antioxidant tests and delivery mechanisms for improving the bioaccessibility and bioavailability of these compounds for large-scale food, cosmetic, and pharmaceutical industries is warranted.

3.5. Acknowledgements

Thank you to Leticia Chacon Rodriguez, Head Winemaker and Winery Manager at UC Davis Department of Viticulture and Enology, for her assistance in acquiring the grape pomace samples and detailing their processing history. We appreciate the use of the SEM at the UC Davis Advanced Materials Characterization and Testing (AMCaT) laboratory and recognize NSF award DMR-1725618 for this instrument. Thank you to Bradley Shibata at the UC Davis Biological Electron Microscopy Facility for his sample preparation and imaging services. The graphical abstract was created with BioRender.com on March 15, 2022, under license agreement number TQ23OHAT5L.

	Flavanols	Anthocyanins	Flavanones	Isoflavones	Flavones		Flavanoids Flavonois	Hydroxybenzoic acids	Phenolic acids Hydroxychnamic acids	Polyphenol class	
Caechin komer C Procyanidin B2 Isomer A Procyanidin B2 Isomer B Procyanidin B2 Isomer C Procyanidin C1	(-)-Epichatechin Epicatechin monogallate Catechin Isomer A Catechin Isomer B	Malvidin 3,5-diglucoside	Naringenin-7- <i>O</i> -glucoside Astilbin Isomer A	Iridin	Luteolin-7-glucoside Tricin Jaceoside	Is oquerentin Myricetin Myricitrin Rutoside (rutin) Syringetin 3-glucoside	Kaempferol 3-alpha-L-arabinopyranoside Queretin Queretin Queretin 3-C-glucuronide Queretin 3-4-diglucoside Isorhammetin 3-galactoside	Gentisic acid-5- <i>O</i> -glucoside Vanillic acid glucoside	<i>p</i> -Commaric acid Salviaflaside <i>trans</i> -Melilotoside Isomer A <i>trans</i> -Melilotoside Isomer B <i>trans</i> -Melilotoside Isomer C	Compound	
12274020 15708053 6736328	87005 346604 1508554	12622735	150334 144514		2081955 740380 155620	1154733 56853 6171672 159446 550136	109206 197766 1078919 423476 2244399 348890 5703567	2566548 566054	313652 2020144 862045 39089	Avg. peak height*	
101 79 89 146 59 09 101 36 14	9391 32032 160400	163 1047	10783 24311		177915 146731 45011	259241 6397 658602 13767 155828	23475 36937 27159 62065 424604 41110 217315	264641 78944	42693 121652 109817 8513	SD	CSI
8 9	9 11	13	7 17		9 20 29	222 9 28	21 19 3 15 19 19	10 14	14 6 22	CV (%)	
15.87 20.31 8.71	0.11 0.45 1.95	16.32	0.19 0.19		2.69 0.96 0.20	1.49 0.07 7.98 0.21 0.71	0.14 0.26 1.40 0.55 2.90 0.45 7.37	3.32 0.73	0.41 2.61 1.11 0.05	Rel. content (%)	
2630					561618	72725 1604208 33516 142712	56305 433704 99370 1862646	1280779	129856 2053339 35 50268 229013	Avg. peak height*	
340					87839	9038 236388 1509 7488	5976 71211 20496 222948	159188	18089 323501 521834 33468	SD	AE
13					16	5 S	11 16	12	16 15	(%)	P
0.02					4.58	0.59 13.09 0.27 1.16	0.46 3.54 15.20	10.45	1.06 16.75 28.96 1.87	Rel. content (%)	
192973	3998		8106		508975	66477 1288 1422443 28752 147256	40176 393689 85381 1640648	1116194	146400 1861943 3815586 246798	Avg. peak height*	
44556	41		644		50967	8438 61 10573 <i>9</i> 4938 17761	3970 24901 5854 64148	68318	8856 145499 291077 25242	SD	EA
23	Ξ		8		10	13 7 12	4 7 6 IO	6	7 8 6 10	CV (%	E
1.63	0.03		0.07		4.29	0.56 0.01 11.98 1.24	0.34 3.32 0.72	9.40	1.23 15.68 32.14 2.08	Rel.) content (%)	
2632163 10323849 12232329 4875965	204862 630848 2792666 4021027	7585091	122113 117322	482282	1435897 509152 113350	860044 4493196 122480 488099	113058 237351 324787 1616234 234966 4309919	1838023 450381	13923 195834 1432143 1701465 110279	Avg. peak height*	
442677 1267598 1948088 651683	30942 51239 371052 601359	1343802	19518 12556	79462	158105 35479 20022	97722 430736 26696 95249	13164 36528 27799 229080 10175 604753	275902 47127	2855 4900 276519 250119 19358	SD	MS
17 12 16	15 15	18	16 11	16	111 7 18	10 22 20	14 14 9 15 12	15 10	21 3 19 15	(%)	
3.94 15.46 18.31 7.30	$ \begin{array}{c} 0.31 \\ 0.94 \\ 4.18 \\ 6.02 \end{array} $	11.36	0.18 0.18	0.72	2.15 0.76 0.17	6.73 0.18 0.73	0.17 0.36 0.49 2.42 0.35	2.75 0.67	0.02 0.29 2.14 2.55 0.17	Rel. content (%)	
377072 111025 1677220 179822	24274 302417 16646	3053	64930 27032		187957	545422 29171 33509	18297 234427 27863 419883	1434404	489263 1480399 1230587 128422	Avg. peak height*	
59277 8281 235471 30078	6527 24707 1746	672	14089 2883		31865	94355 1862 5990	3228 39093 3924 75294	90905	57154 195233 242892 11970	SD	MAI
16 7 14	27 8	22	22 11		17	17 6 18	18 117 114	6	12 13 20	(%)	
4.03 1.19 17.93 1.92	0.26 3.23 0.18	0.03	0.69 0.29		2.01	5.83 0.31 0.36	0.20 2.51 4.49	15.33	5.23 15.83 13.15 1.37	Rel. content (%)	
385528 1702788 174864	269514		43455 17288		152349	1600 470606 31743 25213	20075 3 25 99 3	1118785 4805	439842 1185451 94827	Avg. peak height*	
112373 95255 45144	43955		6771 2392		38975	470 112033 4374 5599	3223 71716	142623 230	54489 226405 22005	SD	MEA
29 6 26	16		16 14		26	24 14 22	16 22	13 5	12 19 23	(%) (%)	E
5.76 25.43 2.61	4.03		0.65 0.26		2.28	0.02 7.03 0.47 0.38	0.30	16.71 0.07	6.57 17.71 1.42	Rel. vontent (%)	

metabolomics Table S3.1. Average peak heights and relative contents of phenolic compounds in grape pomace extracts as identified by untargeted **3.6.** Supplementary Materials

*Average peak heights are the result of triplicate samples

Sum of peak heights: Lignans Stilbenes

> Secoisolariciresinol trans-Piceid

77338619 115459 100465

12257706 28994

11872031 28578 116369

66790058

9354564

6695005 38456 182812

86119

16900 20

12289 5601

12 S

0.13 0.15

0.95 0.24

82841 13724 17

0.12 0.13

231590 79878

17705 6674

8 ~ 0.85 2.48

26911 15 6584

17

0.57 2.73

Table S3.2. Method parameters for untargeted phenolic profiling by Q Exactive[™] HF-X Hybrid Quadrupole-Orbitrap[™] MS

Polyphenol class	Compound	Species	m/z	ESI mode	RT
Phenolic acids					
Hydroxycinnamic acids	<i>p</i> -Coumaric acid	[M+H]+	165.0546	positive	1.38
	Salviaflaside	[M-H]-	521.1303	negative	2.15
	Melilotoside Isomer A	[M-H]-	325.0930	negative	0.52
	Melilotoside Isomer B	[M-H]-	325.0931	negative	0.69
	Melilotoside Isomer C	[M-H]-	325.0931	negative	1.18
Hydroxybenzoic acids	Gentisic acid 5-O-glucoside	[M-H]-	315.0724	negative	0.48
	Vanillic acid glucoside	[M-H]-	329.0880	negative	1.29
Flavanoids					
Flavonols	Kaempferol	[M+H]+	287.0551	positive	4.43
	Kaempferol 3-alpha-L-arabinopyranoside	[M+Na]+	441.0818	positive	2.53
	Quercetin	[M-H]-	301.0356	negative	3.73
	Quercitrin	[M+H]+	449.1079	positive	2.46
	Quercetin 3-O-glucuronide	[M+H]+	479.0823	positive	2.07
	Quercetin 3,4'-diglucoside	[M-H]-	625.1416	negative	1.50
	Isorhamnetin 3-galactoside	[M-H]-	477.1040	negative	2.56
	Isoquercitin	[M+H]+	465.1031	positive	2.11
	Myricetin	[M-H]-	317.0306	negative	2.89
	Myricitrin	[M+Cl][M-H]-	499.0652_463.0886	negative	2.05
	Rutoside (rutin)	[M-H]-	609.1471	negative	1.95
	Syringetin 3-glucoside	[M+Na]+	531.1110	positive	2.67
Flavones	Luteolin-7-glucoside	[M-H]-	447.0936	negative	2.41
	Tricin	[M+H]+	331.0806	positive	1.89
	Jaceoside	[M+H]+	331.0837	positive	3.85
Isoflavones	Iridin	[M+FA-H]-	567.1361	negative	2.52
Flavanones	Naringenin-7-O-glucoside	[M-H]-	433.1144	negative	2.68
	Astilbin Isomer A	[M-H]-	449.1093	negative	2.06
Anthocyanins	Malvidin 3,5-diglucoside	[Cat-2H-C6H8O4]-	509.1302	negative	1.57
Flavanols	(-)-Epichatechin	[M+Cl]-	325.0484	negative	1.22
	Epicatechin monogallate	[M-H]-	441.0831	negative	1.91
	Catechin Isomer A	[M+CHO2]-	335.0774	negative	0.96
	Catechin Isomer B	[M+H]+	291.0863	positive	1.04
	Catechin Isomer C	[M+H]+	291.0864	positive	0.55
	Procyanidin B2 Isomer A	[M+H]+	579.1498	positive	0.49
	Procyanidin B2 Isomer B	[M-H]-	577.1353	negative	0.46
	Procyanidin B2 Isomer C	[M-H]-	577.1354	negative	0.62
	Procyanidin Cl	[M-H]-	865.1991	negative	1.05
Stilbenes	trans-Piceid	[M-H]-	389.1245	negative	1.98
Lignans	Secoisolariciresinol	[M+FA-H]-	407.1713	negative	2.66

3.7. References

- Acosta-Estrada, B. A., Gutiérrez-Uribe, J. A., & Serna-Saldívar, S. O. (2014). Bound phenolics in foods, a review. Food Chemistry, 152, 46–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2013.11.093
- Al-Duais, M., Müller, L., Böhm, V., & Jetschke, G. (2009). Antioxidant capacity and total phenolics of Cyphostemma digitatum before and after processing: use of different assays. European Food Research and Technology 2008 228:5, 228(5), 813–821. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00217-008-0994-8
- Álvarez, A., Poejo, J., Matias, A. A., Duarte, C. M. M., Cocero, M. J., & Mato, R. B. (2017). Microwave pretreatment to improve extraction efficiency and polyphenol extract richness from grape pomace. Effect on antioxidant bioactivity. Food and Bioproducts Processing, 106, 162– 170. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FBP.2017.09.007
- Antonić, B., Jančíková, S., Dordević, D., & Tremlová, B. (2020). Grape Pomace Valorization: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Foods, 9(11). https://doi.org/10.3390/foods9111627
- Azmir, J., Zaidul, I. S. M., Rahman, M. M., Sharif, K. M., Mohamed, A., Sahena, F., Jahurul, M. H. A., Ghafoor, K., Norulaini, N. A. N., & Omar, A. K. M. (2013). Techniques for extraction of bioactive compounds from plant materials: A review. Journal of Food Engineering, 117(4), 426– 436. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2013.01.014
- Bagade, S. B., & Patil, M. (2019). Recent Advances in Microwave Assisted Extraction of Bioactive Compounds from Complex Herbal Samples: A Review. Https://Doi.Org/10.1080/10408347.2019.1686966, 51(2), 138–149. https://doi.org/10.1080/10408347.2019.1686966
- Brahim, M., Gambier, F., & Brosse, N. (2014). Optimization of polyphenols extraction from grape residues in water medium. Industrial Crops and Products, 52, 18–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2013.10.030
- Chamorro, S., Viveros, A., Alvarez, I., Vega, E., & Brenes, A. (2012). Changes in polyphenol and polysaccharide content of grape seed extract and grape pomace after enzymatic treatment. Food Chemistry, 133(2), 308–314. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2012.01.031
- Cheng, Z., Song, H., Yang, Y., Liu, Y., Liu, Z., Hu, H., & Zhang, Y. (2015). Optimization of microwave-assisted enzymatic extraction of polysaccharides from the fruit of Schisandra chinensis Baill. International Journal of Biological Macromolecules, 76, 161–168. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJBIOMAC.2015.01.048
- Clark, J., & Deswarte, F. (2015). The Biorefinery Concept. Introduction to Chemicals from Biomass: Second Edition, 9781118714485, 1–29. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118714478.CH1
- Costa, J. R., Tonon, R. v., Cabral, L., Gottschalk, L., Pastrana, L., & Pintado, M. E. (2020).
 Valorization of Agricultural Lignocellulosic Plant Byproducts through Enzymatic and Enzyme-Assisted Extraction of High-Value-Added Compounds: A Review. ACS Sustainable Chemistry & Engineering, 8(35), 13112–13125. https://doi.org/10.1021/ACSSUSCHEMENG.0C02087
- Davis, E. J., Spadoni Andreani, E., & Karboune, S. (2021). Production of Extracts Composed of Pectic Oligo/Polysaccharides and Polyphenolic Compounds from Cranberry Pomace by Microwave-Assisted Extraction Process. Food and Bioprocess Technology, 14(4), 634–649. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11947-021-02593-3/FIGURES/4
- de La Parra, C., Serna Saldivar, S. O., & Liu, R. H. (2007). Effect of Processing on the Phytochemical Profiles and Antioxidant Activity of Corn for Production of Masa, Tortillas, and Tortilla Chips. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 55(10), 4177–4183. https://doi.org/10.1021/JF063487P

- Deng, Q., Penner, M. H., & Zhao, Y. (2011). Chemical composition of dietary fiber and polyphenols of five different varieties of wine grape pomace skins. Food Research International, 44(9), 2712–2720. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2011.05.026
- Drevelegka, I., & Goula, A. M. (2020). Recovery of grape pomace phenolic compounds through optimized extraction and adsorption processes. Chemical Engineering and Processing Process Intensification, 149, 107845. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CEP.2020.107845
- Drosou, C., Kyriakopoulou, K., Bimpilas, A., Tsimogiannis, D., & Krokida, M. (2015). A comparative study on different extraction techniques to recover red grape pomace polyphenols from vinification byproducts. Industrial Crops and Products, 75, 141–149. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2015.05.063
- Esparza, I., Cimminelli, M. J., Moler, J. A., Jiménez-Moreno, N., & Ancín-Azpilicueta, C. (2020). Stability of Phenolic Compounds in Grape Stem Extracts. Antioxidants, 9(8), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.3390/ANTIOX9080720
- Fleschhut, J., Kratzer, F., Rechkemmer, G., & Kulling, S. E. (2006). Stability and biotransformation of various dietary anthocyanins in vitro. European Journal of Nutrition, 45(1), 7–18. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00394-005-0557-8
- Friedman, M., & Jürgens, H. S. (2000). Effect of pH on the stability of plant phenolic compounds. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 48(6), 2101–2110. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf990489j
- Gómez-Brandón, M., Lores, M., Insam, H., & Domínguez, J. (2019). Strategies for recycling and valorization of grape marc. Https://Doi.Org/10.1080/07388551.2018.1555514, 39(4), 437–450. https://doi.org/10.1080/07388551.2018.1555514
- Görgüç, A., Özer, P., Fatih, |, & Yılmaz, M. (2020). Microwave-assisted enzymatic extraction of plant protein with antioxidant compounds from the food waste sesame bran: Comparative optimization study and identification of metabolomics using LC/Q-TOF/MS. J Food Process Preserv, 44. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfpp.14304
- Iacopini, P., Baldi, M., Storchi, P., & Sebastiani, L. (2008). Catechin, epicatechin, quercetin, rutin and resveratrol in red grape: Content, in vitro antioxidant activity and interactions. Journal of Food Composition and Analysis, 21(8), 589–598. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JFCA.2008.03.011
- Jia, M. Z., Fu, X. Q., Deng, L., Li, Z. L., & Dang, Y. Y. (2021). Phenolic extraction from grape (Vitis vinifera) seed via enzyme and microwave co-assisted salting-out extraction. Food Bioscience, 40, 100919. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FBIO.2021.100919
- Jiménez-Moreno, N., Volpe, F., Moler, J. A., Esparza, I., & Ancín-Azpilicueta, C. (2019). Impact of Extraction Conditions on the Phenolic Composition and Antioxidant Capacity of Grape Stem Extracts. Antioxidants 2019, Vol. 8, Page 597, 8(12), 597. https://doi.org/10.3390/ANTIOX8120597
- Jin, Q., Yang, L., Poe, N., & Huang, H. (2018). Integrated processing of plant-derived waste to produce value-added products based on the biorefinery concept. Trends in Food Science & Technology, 74, 119–131. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TIFS.2018.02.014
- Kalli, E., Lappa, I., Bouchagier, P., Tarantilis, P. A., & Skotti, E. (2018). Novel application and industrial exploitation of winery by-products. Bioresources and Bioprocessing, 5(1), 46. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40643-018-0232-6
- Kasote, D., Tiozon, R. N., Sartagoda, K. J. D., Itagi, H., Roy, P., Kohli, A., Regina, A., & Sreenivasulu, N. (2021). Food Processing Technologies to Develop Functional Foods With Enriched Bioactive Phenolic Compounds in Cereals. Frontiers in Plant Science, 12, 2660. https://doi.org/10.3389/FPLS.2021.771276/BIBTEX

- Kumar Chaturvedi, A. (2018). Extraction of Neutraceuticals from Plants by Microwave Assisted Extraction. Systematic Reviews in Pharmacy, 9(1), 31–35. https://doi.org/10.5530/srp.2018.1.6
- Kumar, M., Tomar, M., Punia, S., Amarowicz, R., & Kaur, C. (2020). Evaluation of Cellulolytic Enzyme-Assisted Microwave Extraction of Punica granatum Peel Phenolics and Antioxidant Activity. Plant Foods for Human Nutrition, 75(4), 614–620. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11130-020-00859-3/TABLES/1
- Lachman, J., Šulc, M., Faitová, K., & Pivec, V. (2009). Major factors infl uencing antioxidant contents and antioxidant activity in grapes and wines. International Journal of Wine Research, 1–101. https://www.dovepress.com/
- Lafka, T. I., Sinanoglou, V., & Lazos, E. S. (2007). On the extraction and antioxidant activity of phenolic compounds from winery wastes. Food Chemistry, 104(3), 1206–1214. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODCHEM.2007.01.068
- Lecas, M., & Brillouet, J. M. (1994). Cell wall composition of grape berry skins. Phytochemistry, 35(5), 1241–1243. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0031-9422(00)94828-3
- Li, Y., Skouroumounis, G. K., Elsey, G. M., & Taylor, D. K. (2011). Microwave-assistance provides very rapid and efficient extraction of grape seed polyphenols. Food Chemistry, 129(2), 570–576. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODCHEM.2011.04.068
- Liazid, A., Palma, M., Brigui, J., & Barroso, C. G. (2007). Investigation on phenolic compounds stability during microwave-assisted extraction. Journal of Chromatography A, 1140(1–2), 29–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2006.11.040
- M. Librán, C., Mayor, L., M. Garcia-Castello, E., & Vidal-Brotons, D. (2013a). Polyphenol extraction from grape wastes: Solvent and pH effect. Anthropological Science, 04(09), 56–62. https://doi.org/10.4236/as.2013.49B010
- M. Librán, C., Mayor, L., M. Garcia-Castello, E., & Vidal-Brotons, D. (2013b). Polyphenol extraction from grape wastes: Solvent and pH effect. Agricultural Sciences, 04(09), 56–62. https://doi.org/10.4236/as.2013.49b010
- Macedo, G. A., Santana, Á. L., Crawford, L. M., Wang, S. C., Dias, F. F. G., & de Mour Bell, J. M. L. N. (2021). Integrated microwave- and enzyme-assisted extraction of phenolic compounds from olive pomace. LWT, 138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2020.110621
- Mandal, V., Mohan, Y., & Hemalatha, S. (2006). Microwave Assisted Extraction An Innovative and Promising Extraction Tool for Medicinal Plant Research. Pharmacognosy Reviews, 1.
- Martins, I. M., Roberto, B. S., Blumberg, J. B., Chen, C. Y. O., & Macedo, G. A. (2016). Enzymatic biotransformation of polyphenolics increases antioxidant activity of red and white grape pomace. Food Research International, 89, 533–539. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODRES.2016.09.009
- Mellinas, A. C., Jiménez, A., & Garrigós, M. C. (2020). Optimization of microwave-assisted extraction of cocoa bean shell waste and evaluation of its antioxidant, physicochemical and functional properties. LWT, 127, 109361. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.LWT.2020.109361
- Moro, K. I. B., Bender, A. B. B., da Silva, L. P., & Penna, N. G. (2021). Green Extraction Methods and Microencapsulation Technologies of Phenolic Compounds From Grape Pomace: A Review. Food and Bioprocess Technology 2021 14:8, 14(8), 1407–1431. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11947-021-02665-4
- Oreopoulou, A., Tsimogiannis, D., & Oreopoulou, V. (2019). Extraction of polyphenols from aromatic and medicinal plants: an overview of the methods and the effect of extraction parameters. In Polyphenols in Plants (pp. 243–259). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-813768-0.00025-6

- Özbek, H. N., Yanık, D. K., Fadıloğlu, S., & Göğüş, F. (2019). Optimization of microwave-assisted extraction of bioactive compounds from pistachio (Pistacia vera L.) hull. Https://Doi.Org/10.1080/01496395.2019.1577444, 55(2), 289–299. https://doi.org/10.1080/01496395.2019.1577444
- Pinelo, M., Rubilar, M., Jerez, M., Sineiro, J., & Núñez, M. J. (2005). Effect of solvent, temperature, and solvent-to-solid ratio on the total phenolic content and antiradical activity of extracts from different components of grape pomace. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 53(6), 2111–2117. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf0488110
- Puri, M., Sharma, D., & Barrow, C. J. (2012). Enzyme-assisted extraction of bioactives from plants. Trends in Biotechnology, 30(1), 37–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TIBTECH.2011.06.014
- Romero-Pérez, A. I., Ibern-Gómez, M., Lamuela-Raventós, R. M., & de La Torre-Boronat, M. C. (1999). Piceid, the Major Resveratrol Derivative in Grape Juices. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 47(4), 1533–1536. https://doi.org/10.1021/JF981024G
- Saad, N., Louvet, F., Tarrade, S., Meudec, E., Grenier, K., Landolt, C., Ouk, T. S., & Bressollier, P. (2019). Enzyme-Assisted Extraction of Bioactive Compounds from Raspberry (Rubus idaeus L.) Pomace. Journal of Food Science, 84(6), 1371–1381. https://doi.org/10.1111/1750-3841.14625
- Seeram, N. P., Bourquin, L. D., & Nair, M. G. (2001). Degradation Products of Cyanidin Glycosides from Tart Cherries and Their Bioactivities. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf0107508
- Shahidi, F., & Yeo, J. (2016). Insoluble-Bound Phenolics in Food. Molecules 2016, Vol. 21, Page 1216, 21(9), 1216. https://doi.org/10.3390/MOLECULES21091216
- Shen, D., Kou, X., Wu, C., Fan, G., Li, T., Dou, J., Wang, H., & Zhu, J. (2021). Cocktail enzymeassisted alkaline extraction and identification of jujube peel pigments. Food Chemistry, 357, 129747. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODCHEM.2021.129747
- Singleton, V. L., Orthofer, R., & Lamuela-Raventós, R. M. (1999). [14] Analysis of total phenols and other oxidation substrates and antioxidants by means of folin-ciocalteu reagent. Methods in Enzymology, 299, 152–178. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0076-6879(99)99017-1
- Sirohi, R., Tarafdar, A., Singh, S., Negi, T., Gaur, V. K., Gnansounou, E., & Bharathiraja, B. (2020). Green processing and biotechnological potential of grape pomace: Current trends and opportunities for sustainable biorefinery. Bioresource Technology, 314, 123771. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIORTECH.2020.123771
- Souza Almeida, F., Furlan Goncalves Dias, F., Kawazoe Sato, A. C., & Leite Nobrega de Moura Bell, J. M. (2021). From solvent extraction to the concurrent extraction of lipids and proteins from green coffee: An eco-friendly approach to improve process feasibility. Food and Bioproducts Processing, 129, 144–156. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fbp.2021.08.004
- Speisky, H., Fuentes, J., Dorta, E., & Lopez-Alarcón, C. (2017). Polyphenols: Sources and Main Characteristics in Advances in Technologies for Producing Food-relevant Polyphenols. CRC Press.
- Spigno, G., Marinoni, L., & Garrido, G. D. (2017). State of the Art in Grape Processing By-Products. Handbook of Grape Processing By-Products: Sustainable Solutions, 1–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-809870-7.00001-6
- United Nations Environment Programme. (2021). Food Waste Index Report 2021.
- Xu, C., Yagiz, Y., Borejsza-Wysocki, W., Lu, J., Gu, L., Ramírez-Rodrigues, M. M., & Marshall, M.
 R. (2014). Enzyme release of phenolics from muscadine grape (Vitis rotundifolia Michx.) skins and seeds. Food Chemistry, 157, 20–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODCHEM.2014.01.128

- Xue, H., Xu, H., Wang, X., Shen, L., Liu, H., Liu, C., Qin, Q., Zheng, X., & Li, Q. (2018). Effects of Microwave Power on Extraction Kinetic of Anthocyanin from Blueberry Powder considering Absorption of Microwave Energy. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/9680184
- Yilmaz, Y., & Toledo, R. T. (2003). Major Flavonoids in Grape Seeds and Skins: Antioxidant Capacity of Catechin, Epicatechin, and Gallic Acid. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 52(2), 255–260. https://doi.org/10.1021/JF030117H
- Zulueta, A., Esteve, M. J., & Frígola, A. (2009). ORAC and TEAC assays comparison to measure the antioxidant capacity of food products. Food Chemistry, 114(1), 310–316. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODCHEM.2008.09.033